Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

This announcement is for information purposes only and does not constitute an invitation or offer to acquire,
purchase or subscribe for securities. This announcement does not constitute or form a part of any offer or
solicitation to purchase or subscribe for securities in the United States. The securities have not been and will
not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the securities
laws of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction, and may not be offered or sold within the United
States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of
the Securities Act. Accordingly, the Additional Bonds are being offered and sold only outside the United States
in offshore transactions in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. This announcement and the
information contained herein are not for distribution, directly or indirectly, in or into the United States. No
public offer of the securities referred to herein is being or will be made in the United States.

This announcement and the listing document referred to herein have been published for information purposes
only as required by the the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and do not constitute an offer to sell nor a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities. Neither
this announcement nor anything referred to herein (including the listing document) forms the basis for any
contract or commitment whatsoever. For the avoidance of doubt, the publication of this announcement and the
listing document referred to herein shall not be deemed to be an offer of securities made pursuant to a prospectus
issued by or on behalf of the issuer for the purposes of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong nor shall it constitute an advertisement, invitation or document
containing an invitation to the public to enter into or offer to enter into an agreement to acquire, dispose of,
subscribe for or underwrite securities for the purposes of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of
Hong Kong.

FUYUAN WORLDWIDE LIMITED
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(Incorporated with limited liability in the British Virgin Islands)

U.S.$140,000,000 7.0 per cent. Guaranteed Bonds due 2023
Unconditionally and Irrevocably Guaranteed by

LUSHANG

TR
(consolidated and form a single series with the existing U.S.$180,000,000 7.0 per cent.
Guaranteed Bonds due 2023 issued on 28 August 2020 after the Registration Conditions
with respect to both the Original Bonds and the Additional Bonds are complied with)

SHANDONG COMMERCIAL GROUP CO., LTD.
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(Incorporated with limited liability in the People’s Republic of China)
(Stock Code: 40363)

PUBLICATION OF THE OFFERING CIRCULAR

This announcement is issued pursuant to Rule 37.39A of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”).



Please refer to the offering circular dated 8 June 2021 (the “Offering Circular”) appended
herein in relation to the issuance of the Additional Bonds. As disclosed in the Offering
Circular, the Additional Bonds are intended for purchase by professional investors only (as
defined in Chapter 37 of the Listing Rules) (“Professional Investors”) and have been listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis.

Notice to Hong Kong Investors: Each of Fuyuan Worldwide Limited 7 Ui B[54 FR A ]
the “Issuer”) and Shandong Commercial Group Co., Ltd. (IR & FiEE B A RAF]) (the
“Guarantor”) confirms that the Additional Bonds are intended for purchase by Professional
Investors only and have been listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis.
Accordingly, each of the Issuer and the Guarantor confirms that the Bonds are not appropriate
as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the
risks involved.

The Offering Circular does not constitute a prospectus, notice, circular, brochure or
advertisement offering to sell any securities to the public in any jurisdiction, nor is it an
invitation to the public to make offers to subscribe for or purchase any securities, nor is it
circulated to invite offers by the public to subscribe for or purchase any securities.

The Offering Circular must not be regarded as an inducement to subscribe for or purchase any
securities of the Issuer and the Guarantor, and no such inducement is intended. No investment

decision should be made based on the information contained in the Offering Circular.

Unless otherwise defined, capitalised terms used in this announcement shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Offering Circular.

Hong Kong, 5 August 2021
As at the date of this announcement, the sole director of the Issuer is Mr. XU Feng (1R1&).
As at the date of this announcement, the directors of the Guarantor are Mr. GAO Honglei (15

HE), Mr. LIU Shouliang (¥15F5E), Mr. LI Lin (Z5#K), Mr. LIU Dehua (2115%E), Mr. WANG
Yuanliang (E#£ ), Mr. LI Yuming (% W) and Ms. LI Xue (%),



IMPORTANT NOTICE
NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION INTO THE UNITED STATES

IMPORTANT: You must read the following disclaimer before continuing. The following disclaimer applies to the
offering circular (the “Offering Circular”) following this page, and you are therefore advised to read this disclaimer
carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the Offering Circular. In accessing the Offering Circular,
you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them any time you receive
any information from the Issuer (as defined in the Offering Circular) as a result of such access. You acknowledge that
the access to the Offering Circular is intended for use by you only and you agree you will not forward or otherwise
provide access to any other person.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN
THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE SECURITIES
AND THE GUARANTEE DESCRIBED HEREIN HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER
THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS
OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER JURISDICTION AND THE SECURITIES AND THE
GUARANTEE MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES, EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN
EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF
THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS. THE OFFERING IS MADE
SOLELY IN OFFSHORE TRANSACTIONS PURSUANT TO REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT
(“REGULATION §").

THE FOLLOWING OFFERING CIRCULAR MAY NOT BE FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED TO ANY OTHER
PERSON AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER, AND IN PARTICULAR, MAY
NOT BE FORWARDED TO ANY U.S. ADDRESS. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF
THE OFFERING CIRCULAR IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS
DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF
OTHER JURISDICTIONS. IF YOU HAVE GAINED ACCESS TO THIS TRANSMISSION CONTRARY TO ANY OF
THE FOREGOING RESTRICTIONS, YOU ARE NOT AUTHORISED AND WILL NOT BE ABLE TO PURCHASE
ANY OF THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED THEREIN.

Confirmation of your Representation: In order to be eligible to view the Offering Circular or make an investment
decision with respect to the securities, investors must be purchasing the securities outside the United States in an
offshore transaction in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. By accepting the e-mail and accessing the
attached Offering Circular, you shall be deemed to have represented to the Managers (as defined in the Offering
Circular), the Issuer and the Guarantor that: (1) you and any customers you represent are not in the United States, and
that the electronic mail address that you gave the Managers and to which this e-mail has been delivered is not located
in the United States, and (2) you consent to delivery of the attached Offering Circular and any amendments or
supplements thereto by electronic transmission.

You are reminded that the Offering Circular has been delivered to you on the basis that you are a person into whose
possession the Offering Circular may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of jurisdiction in which you are
located and you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver the Offering Circular to any other person.

The materials relating to any offering of securities described in the Offering Circular do not constitute, and may not be
used in connection with, an offer or solicitation by or on behalf of any of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Managers in
any place where offers or solicitations are not permitted by law. If ajurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a
licensed broker or dealer and any Manager or any affiliate of a Manager is a licensed broker or dealer in that
jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by such Manager or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such
jurisdiction.

The Offering Circular has been sent to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this
medium may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and consequently neither the
Managers or any person who controls the Managers nor any director, officer, employee nor agent of the Managers or
affiliate of any such person accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any difference between the
Offering Circular distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version available to you on request from the
Managers.

You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. Your use of this e-mail is at your
own risk and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a
destructive nature.

The Offering Circular is being furnished in connection with an offering in offshore transactions outside the United
States in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act solely for the purpose of enabling a prospective
investor to consider the purchase of the securities described in the Offering Circular.

Actions that you may not take: If you receive the Offering Circular by e-mail, you should not reply by e-mail to the
Offering Circular, and you may not purchase any securities by doing so. Any reply e-mail communications, including
those you generate by using the “Reply” function on your e-mail software, will be ignored or rejected.



OFFERING CIRCULAR STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL

FUYUAN WORLDWIDE LIMITED
i U I o A BR 23 ]

(Incorporated with limited liability in the British Virgin Islands)

U.S.$140,000,000 7.0 per cent. Guaranteed Bonds due 2023
Unconditionally and Irrevocably Guaranteed by

(to be consolidated and form a single series with the existing U.S.$180,000,000 7.0 per cent.
Guaranteed Bonds due 2023 issued on 28 August 2020 after the Registration Conditions with
respect to both the Original Bonds and the Additional Bonds are complied with)

SHANDONG COMMERCIAL GROUP CO., LTD.
L5 4 e 5 4 A PR 4 W
(Incorporated with limited liability in the People’s Republic of China)
Issue Price: 99.985 per cent.
plus accrued interest from (and including) 28 February 2021 to (but excluding) 11 June 2021

The U.S.$140,000,000 7.0 per cent. guaranteed bonds due 2023 (the “Additional Bonds") will be issued by Fuyuan Worldwide Limited & U5 547 FR A 7 (the “Issuer”) and will be
unconditionally and irrevocabl jy guaranteed (collectively with the guarantee given for the Original Bonds (as defined below), the “Guarantee”) by Shandong Commercial Group Co.,
Ltd. (L #f 2E4E [ 47 FR 22 AT) (the “Guarantor” or “Company”), a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) with limited liability. The Additional Bonds
shall constitute a further issuance of, and be consolidated and form a single series with, the existing U.S.$180,000,000 7.0 per cent. guaranteed bonds due 2023 (the “Original Bonds”,
and together with the Additional Bonds, the “Bonds”) issued on 28 August 2020 (the “Original Bonds Issue Date”) after the Registration Conditions with respect to both the Original
Bonds and the Additional Bonds are complied with. The Additional Bonds have the same terms and conditions as the Original Bonds in all respects except for the issue date, the first
payment of interest on them and the timing for compliance with the requirements set out in these Conditions in relation to the NDRC Post-issue Filing and the Cross-Border Security
Registration or for the exercise of a redemption for a No Registration Event. The total principal amount of the Additional Bonds to be issued is US$140,000,000. Upon the issue of the
Additional Bonds, the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Additional Bonds and Original Bonds will be US$320,000,000.

The Original Bonds bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and including the Original Bonds Issue Date and the Additional Bonds will bear interest on their
outstanding principal amount from and including 28 February 2021, in each case at the rate of 7.0 per cent. per annum. Interest on the Bonds is payable semi-annually in arrear on 28
February and 28 August in each year, commencing on 28 February 2021 in the case of the Original Bonds and 28 August 2021 in the case of the Additional Bonds. All payments of
principal, premium (if any) and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor in respect of the Bonds or under the Guarantee shall be made free and clear of, and without
withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or
assessed by or within the British Virgin Islands or the PRC, or any political subdivision or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, to the extent described under “Terms
and Conditions of the Bonds — Taxation”.

The Bonds will constitute direct, unsubordinated, unconditional and (subject to Condition 4(a) (Negative Pledge) of the terms and conditions of the Bonds (the “Terms and
Conditions”)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the
Bonds shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation and subject to Condition 4(a) (Negative Pledge) of the Terms and Conditions, at all times rank at
least equally with all its other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.

The Guarantor entered into a deed of guarantee with respect to the Original Bonds on 28 August 2020 and will enter into a deed of guarantee (each deed of guarantee, as amended
and/or supplemented from time to time, a “Deed of Guarantee”) with respect to the Additional Bonds on or around 11 June 2021 (the “Additional Bonds Issue Date"). The Guarantor
is required to file with the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC or its local counterparts (“SAFE”") each Deed of Guarantee within 15 Registration Business Days (as
defined in the Terms and Conditions) after execution of such Deed of Guarantee in accordance with the Provisions on the Foreign Exchange Administration of Cross-Border Guarantees
(B RO HESS BB 52 ) (RE 5[ 2014] 29%%)) promulgated by SAFE on 12 May 2014 which came into effect on 1 June 2014 (each, a “Cross-Border Security Registration”). The
Guarantor shall use its best endeavours to complete each Cross-Border Security Registration and obtain a registration certificate from SAFE (or any other document evidencing the
completion of registration issued by SAFE) on or before each Registration Deadline (being 120 Registration Business Days after the Original Bonds Issue Date in the case of the
Original Bonds and the day falling 120 Registration Business Days after the Additional Bonds Issue Date) and shall comply with all applicable PRC laws and regulations in relation to
the Guarantee.

Pursuant to the Circular on Promoting the Reform of the Administrative System on the Issuance by Enterprises of Foreign Debt Filings and Registrations (Fa Gai Wai Zi [2015] No.
2044) (I 52 % Ji& oI5 2 I A 2 SR AT AT 5 K8 T A B I Y 7 (8 i 8) [ 2015]  2044%F)) (the “NDRC Circular”) issued by the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC or its local counterparts (“NDRC”) on 14 September 2015 which came into effect on the same day, the Guarantor has registered the issuance of the Bonds with
the NDRC and obtained a certificate from NDRC on 2 March 2020 evidencing such registration of the Original Bonds and on 13 April 2021 evidencing such registration of the
Additional Bonds. The Guarantor is required to file the requisite information and documents with the NDRC within 10 Registration Business Days after the Original Bonds Issue Date in
the case of the Original Bonds and within 10 Registration Business Days after the Additional Bonds Issue Date in the case of the Additional Bonds in accordance with the NDRC
Circular and comply with all applicable PRC laws and regulations in connection with the Bonds. For consequences of non-registration under SAFE and failure to complete the relevant
filings under the NDRC Circular, see “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to the Bonds and the Guarantee — Any failure to complete the relevant filings under the NDRC Circular and the
relevant registration under SAFE within the prescribed time frame following the completion of the issue of the Bonds may have adverse consequences for the Issuer, the Guarantor
and/or the investors of the Bonds”.

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at their principal amount on 28 August 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). The Bonds are subject to
redemption, in whole but not in part, at their principal amount, together with accrued interest, at the option of the Issuer at any time in the event of certain changes affecting taxes of the
British Virgin Islands or the PRC. See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for Taxation Reasons’. Furthermore, at any time following the
occurrence of a Relevant Event (as defined in the Terms and Conditions), the holder of any Original Bond or Additional Bonds (as the case may be) will have the right, at such holder’s
option, to require the Issuer to redeem all but not some only of that holder’s Original Bonds or Additional Bonds (as the case may be) on the Put Settlement Date (as defined in the
Terms and Conditions) at 101 per cent. (in the case of a redemption for a Change of Control (as defined in the Terms and Conditions)) or 100 per cent. (in the case of a redemption for
a No Registration Event (as defined in the Terms and Conditions)) of their principal amount, together in each case with any accrued interest up to but excluding such Put Settlement
Date. See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for Relevant Event”.

For a more detailed description of the Bonds, see “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds” beginning on page 49.
The Bonds will be issued in the registered form in the specified denomination of U.S.$200,000 and integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof.

Investing in the Bonds involves risks. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 15 for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in connection with an investment in the
Bonds.

The Bonds and the Guarantee have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and, may not be
offered or sold within the United States, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The
Bonds and the Guarantee are being offered in offshore transactions outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. For a description of these
and certain further restrictions on offers and sales of the Bonds and the distribution of this Offering Circular, see “Subscription and Sale”.

The Original Bonds are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”), effective from 31 August 2020, and represented by the stock code
40363. Application will be made to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the listing of the Additional Bonds by way of debt issues to professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (“Professional Investors”) only and such permissions is expected to become effective on
or about three business days in Hong Kong after the Consolidation Date (as defined in the Supplemental Trust Deed) and the whole series of the Bonds will be represented by the stock
code 40363 after such permission has become effective. This Offering Circular is for distribution to Professional Investors only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor confirms that the Additional Bonds are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis. Accordingly, each of the Issuer and the Guarantor confirms that the Bonds are not appropriate as an investment for
retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has not reviewed the contents of this Offering Circular, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements,
and a statement limiting distribution of this Offering Circular to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this Offering Circular. Listing of the Bonds on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Bonds or the Issuer and the Guarantor or quality of disclosure in
this Offering Circular. Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this Offering Circular.

The Original Bonds are represented initially by interests in a global certificate (the “Original Global Certificate”) and the Additional Bonds will be represented initially by interests in
a global certificate (the “Additional Global Certificate” and together with the Original Global Certificate, the “Global Certlflcate”) in each case in registered form which will be
registered in the name of a nominee of, and shall be deposited with, a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”).
Interests in the Global Certificate will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through, records maintained by Euroclear and Clearstream. Except as described in the
relevant Global Certificate, definitive certificates for Bonds will not be issued in exchange for interests in the Global Certificate.

Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Lead Managers and Joint Bookrunners
Zhongtai International Shenwan Hongyuan Securities (H.K.) Limited Guosen Securities (HK)
Joint Lead Manager and Joint Bookrunner
SDG Securities (HK)
Offering Circular dated 8 June 2021



NOTICE TO INVESTORS

THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO SELL, OR A
SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY, ANY SECURITIES IN ANY JURISDICTION TO ANY
PERSON TO WHOM IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE THE OFFER OR SOLICITATION IN SUCH
JURISDICTION. NEITHER THE DELIVERY OF THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR NOR ANY SALE
MADE HEREUNDER SHALL UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES IMPLY THAT THERE HAS BEEN
NO CHANGE IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER, THE GUARANTOR OR ANY OF THE
GUARANTOR’S SUBSIDIARIES OR THAT THE INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THIS
OFFERING CIRCULAR IS CORRECT AS AT ANY DATE SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE HEREOF.

This Offering Circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Issuer and the Guarantor. Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor accepts full responsibility for the
accuracy of the information contained in this Offering Circular and confirms, having made all
reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission
of which would make any statement herein misleading.

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information
contained in this Offering Circular and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that (i) this
Offering Circular contains all information with respect to the Issuer, the Guarantor and the
Guarantor’s subsidiaries taken as a whole (collectively, the “Group”) and the Guarantee and the
Bonds which is material in the context of the issue, offering, sale and distribution of the Additional
Bonds (including all information which is required by applicable laws and which, according to the
particular nature of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Bonds and the Guarantee, is necessary to enable
investors and their investment advisers to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities,
financial position, profits and losses, and prospects of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Group and
the rights attaching to the Guarantee and the Bonds); (ii) the statements contained in this Offering
Circular, are true and accurate in all material respects and not misleading; (iii) the opinions and
intentions expressed in this Offering Circular with regard to the Issuer, the Guarantor and to the
Group, honestly and reasonably held, have been reached after considering all relevant circumstances
and are based on reasonable assumptions; (iv) there are no other facts in relation to the Issuer, the
Guarantor, the Group, the Bonds or the Guarantee, the omission of which would, in the context of the
issue and offering of the Bonds make any statement, opinion or intention expressed in this Offering
Circular misleading; (v) all reasonable enquiries have been made by the Issuer and the Guarantor to
ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and statements in this Offering
Circular; (vi) this Offering Circular does not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (vii) the statistical, industry and
market-related data and forward-looking statements included in this Offering Circular, are based on
or derived or extracted from sources which the Issuer or the Guarantor believes to be accurate and
reliable in all material respects.

The Issuer and the Guarantor have prepared this Offering Circular solely for use in connection with
the proposed offering of the Additional Bonds and giving of the Guarantee described in this Offering
Circular. This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of
Zhongtai International Securities Limited, Shenwan Hongyuan Securities (H.K.) Limited, Guosen
Securities (HK) Brokerage Company Limited and SDG Securities (HK) Limited (the “Managers”),
the Issuer or the Guarantor to subscribe for or purchase any of the Additional Bonds. The distribution
of this Offering Circular and the offering of the Additional Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be
restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular comes are required by the
Issuer, the Guarantor and the Managers to inform themselves about and to observe any such
restrictions. No action is being taken to permit a public offering of the Additional Bonds or the
distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action would be required for such
purposes. There are restrictions on the offer and sale of the Additional Bonds and the Guarantee, and
the circulation of documents relating thereto, in certain jurisdictions including the United States, the



United Kingdom, Hong Kong, the PRC, Singapore, the British Virgin Islands and Japan and to
persons connected therewith. For a description of certain further restrictions on offers and sales of
the Additional Bonds, and distribution of this Offering Circular, see “Subscription and Sale”. By
purchasing the Additional Bonds, investors represent and agree to all of those provisions contained in
that section of this Offering Circular. This Offering Circular is personal to each offeree and does not
constitute an offer to any other person or to the public generally to subscribe for, or otherwise
acquire, the Additional Bonds. Distribution of this Offering Circular to any other person other than
the prospective investor and any person retained to advise such prospective investor with respect to
its purchase is unauthorised. Each prospective investor, by accepting delivery of this Offering
Circular, agrees to the foregoing and to make no photocopies of this Offering Circular or any
documents referred to in this Offering Circular.

No person has been or is authorised to give any information or to make any representation
concerning the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group or the Bonds other than as contained herein and, if
given or made, any such other information or representation should not be relied upon as having been
authorised by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Managers, the Trustee or the Agents (as defined in the
Terms and Conditions) or their respective affiliates, directors, employees, agents, representatives,
officers or advisers. Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor any offering, sale or delivery
made in connection with the issue of the Additional Bonds shall, under any circumstances, constitute
a representation that there has been no change or development reasonably likely to involve a change
in the affairs of the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the Group since the date hereof or create any
implication that the information contained herein is correct as at any date subsequent to the date
hereof. This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the
Issuer, the Guarantor, the Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective affiliates,
directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers to subscribe for or purchase the
Additional Bonds and may not be used for the purpose of an offer to, or a solicitation by, anyone in
any jurisdiction or in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or is
unlawful.

This Offering Circular is being furnished by the Issuer, the Guarantor, in connection with the offering
of the Additional Bonds and is exempt from registration under the Securities Act solely for the
purpose of enabling a prospective investor to consider purchasing the Additional Bonds. Investors
must not use this Offering Circular for any other purpose, make copies of any part of this Offering
Circular or give a copy of it to any other person, or disclose any information in this Offering Circular
to any other person. The information contained in this Offering Circular has been provided by the
Issuer, the Guarantor and other sources identified in this Offering Circular. Any reproduction or
distribution of this Offering Circular, in whole or in part, and any disclosure of its contents or use of
any information herein for any purpose other than the consideration of an investment in the
Additional Bonds offered by this Offering Circular is prohibited. By accepting delivery of this
Offering Circular each investor is deemed to have agreed to these restrictions.

None of the Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, directors,
employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers has independently verified the information
contained in this Offering Circular. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express
or implied, is made or given and no responsibility or liability is accepted, by the Managers, the
Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, directors, employees, agents,
representatives, officers or advisers, as to the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the
information contained in this Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection with
the Bonds and the Guarantee. Nothing contained in this Offering Circular is, or shall be relied upon
as, a promise, representation or warranty by the Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their
respective affiliates, directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers. This Offering
Circular is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation nor should it be
considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Managers, the Trustee or the
Agents or any of their respective affiliates, directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or
advisers that any recipient of this Offering Circular should purchase the Additional Bonds. Each
person receiving this Offering Circular acknowledges that such person has not relied on the



Managers, the Trustee, the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, directors, employees, agents,
representatives, officers or advisers in connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such
information or its investment decision, and each such person must rely on its own examination of the
Issuer and the Guarantor and the merits and risks involved in investing in the Additional Bonds. See
“Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in connection with an investment
in the Bonds.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of
their respective affiliates, directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers accepts
any responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular and assumes any responsibility for the
contents, accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of any such information or for any other statement,
made or purported to be made by the Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective
affiliates, directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers or on their behalf in
connection with the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Group, or the issue and offering of the Additional
Bonds. Each of the Managers, the Trustee and the Agents and their respective affiliates, directors,
employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers accordingly disclaims all and any liability,
whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise, which it might otherwise have in respect of this
Offering Circular or any such statement. None of the Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of
their respective affiliates, directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers
undertakes to review the results of operations, financial condition or affairs of the Issuer, the
Guarantor or the Group during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Offering Circular or
to advise any investor or potential investor of the Additional Bonds of any information coming to the
attention of the Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or their respective affiliates, directors,
employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, EACH MANAGER (THE “STABILISING
MANAGER”) OR ANY PERSON(S) ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE STABILISING MANAGER
MAY OVER-ALLOT ADDITIONAL BONDS OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONSWITH A VIEW TO
SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE(S) OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN
THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE
THAT THE STABILISING MANAGER (OR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE
STABILISING MANAGER) WILL UNDERTAKE STABILISATION ACTION. ANY
STABILISATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE
PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE ADDITIONAL BONDS IS
MADE AND, IF BEGUN, MAY BE ENDED AT ANY TIME AND MUST END NO LATER THAN
THE EARLIER OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE ADDITIONAL BONDS AND
60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE ADDITIONAL BONDS. ANY
STABILISATION ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY THE
STABILISING MANAGER (OR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE STABILISING
MANAGER) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS.

In connection with the offering of the Additional Bonds, the Managers and/or their respective
affiliates, or affiliates of the Issuer, the Guarantor, may act as investors and place orders, receive
allocations and trade the Bonds for their own account and such orders, allocations or trading of the
Bonds may be material. These entities may hold or sell such Bonds or purchase further Bonds for
their own account in the secondary market or deal in any other securities of the Issuer, the Guarantor,
and therefore, they may offer or sell the Bonds or other securities otherwise than in connection with
the offering of the Additional Bonds. Accordingly, references herein to the offering of the Additional
Bonds should be read as including any offering of the Additional Bonds to the Managers and/or their
respective affiliates, or affiliates of the Issuer, the Guarantor as investors for their own account. Such
entities are not expected to disclose such transactions or the extent of any such investment, otherwise
than in accordance with any applicable legal or regulatory requirements. If such transactions occur,
the trading price and liquidity of the Bonds may be impacted.

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures
Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (the “SFA”) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets



Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the “ CMP Regulations 2018" ), the Issuer has determined,
and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the
Additional Bonds are ‘prescribed capital markets products’ (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018)
and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of
Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

Prospective investors should not construe anything in this Offering Circular as legal, business or tax
advice. Each prospective investor should determine for itself the relevance of the information
contained in this Offering Circular and consult its own legal, business and tax advisers as needed to
make its investment decision and determine whether it is legally able to purchase the Bonds under
applicable laws or regulations.

The contents of this Offering Circular have not been reviewed by any regulatory authority in the
PRC, Hong Kong or elsewhere. Investors are advised to exercise caution in relation to the offer. If
any investor is in any doubt about any of the contents of this Offering Circular, that investor should
obtain independent professional advice.

Industry and Market Data

Market data and certain industry forecasts used throughout this Offering Circular have been obtained
based on, among other sources, internal surveys, market research, publicly available information and
industry publications. Industry publications generally state that the information that they contain has
been obtained from sources believed by the Issuer and the Guarantor to be reliable and accurate but
that the accuracy and completeness of that information is not guaranteed. Similarly, internal surveys,
industry forecasts and market research, while believed to be reliable, have not been independently
verified, and none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or their
respective affiliates, directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers makes any
representation as to the correctness, accuracy or completeness of that information complied within or
outside the PRC. In addition, third-party information providers may have obtained information from
market participants and such information may not have been independently verified. Accordingly,
such information should not be unduly relied upon.

Presentation of Financial Information

This Offering Circular contains consolidated financial information of the Guarantor as at and for the
years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, which has been extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019
(the “Guarantor’s 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements’) and as at and for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (the “Guarantor’s 2020 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements”,
together with the Guarantor’s 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the “Guarantor’s
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements’) which are included elsewhere in this Offering
Circular.

Such audited consolidated financial statement were prepared and presented in accordance with
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises in the PRC (“PRC GAAP”). The Guarantor’'s 2019
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by Jonten Certified Public Accountants
LLP (ff RE G AT FT) (“Jonten”), the previous independent auditors of the Guarantor, and the
Guarantor’s 2020 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by China Audit Asia
Pacific Certified Public Accountants LLP (&5 K&sthisEser) (“CAAP”), the current
independent auditors of the Guarantor. PRC GAAP is substantially in line with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS"), except for certain modifications which reflect the PRC’s unique
circumstances and environment. For a summary of certain differences, see “Summary of Certain
Differences between PRC GAAP and IFRS'.
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CERTAIN DEFINITIONS, CONVENTIONS AND CURRENCY PRESENTATION

In this Offering Circular, the term “Issuer” refers to of Fuyuan Worldwide Limited & B B FR 2
F], and the “Guarantor”, the “Company” and the “Group” refers to Shandong Commercial Group
Co., Ltd. (Il & LM AR/ R itself or Shandong Commercial Group Co., Ltd. (113 & &4
% £ FR A F]) and its consolidated subsidiaries, as the context requires.

In this Offering Circular, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all references
to the “PRC” and “China” are to the People’s Republic of China (excluding Hong Kong, the Macao
Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China and Taiwan); all references to the
“United States” and “U.S.” are to the United States of America; all references to “PRC
Government” are to the people’s government of the PRC; all references to “Hong Kong” are to the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China; all references to
“Renminbi”, “RMB” and “CNY” are to the lawful currency of the PRC; and all references to
“UsSD”, “U.S.$” and “U.S. dollars” are to the lawful currency of the United States of America

This Offering Circular contains translation of certain Renminbi amounts into U.S. dollars at specified
rates solely for the convenience of the reader. Unless otherwise specified, where financial
information in relation to the Guarantor has been translated into U.S. dollars, it has been so
translated, for convenience only, at the rate of RMB6.5250 to U.S.$1.00 (the noon buying rate in
New York City on 31 December 2020 as set forth in the weekly H.10 statistical release of the Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System). Further information regarding exchange rate is set
forth in “Exchange Rates’ in this Offering Circular. No representation is made that the Renminbi
amounts referred to in this Offering Circular could have been or could be converted into U.S. dollars
at any particular rate or at all, or vice versa.

In this Offering Circular, where information has been presented in thousands or millions of units,
amounts may have been rounded up or down. Accordingly, totals of columns or rows of numbers in
tables may not be equal to the apparent total of the individual items and actual numbers may differ
from those contained herein due to rounding. References to information in billions of units are to the
equivalent of a thousand million units.

The English names of the PRC nationals, entities, departments, facilities, laws, regulations,
certificates, titles and the like are translations of their Chinese names and are included for
identification purposes only. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese names prevail.



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Issuer and the Guarantor have made certain forward-looking statements in this Offering Circular.
However, these words are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements. All
statements regarding expected financial condition and results of operations, business plans and
prospects are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include but are not
limited to statements as to the business strategy, operating income and profitability, planned projects
and other matters as they relate to the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or the Group discussed in this
Offering Circular regarding matters that are not historical fact. Some of these statements can be
identified by forward-looking terms, such as “anticipate”, “target”, “believe’, “can”, “would”,
“could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “aim”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “will”, or similar words. These
forward-looking statements and any other projections contained in this Offering Circular (whether
made by the Issuer, the Guarantor or by any third party) involve known and unknown risks, including
those disclosed under “Risk Factors”, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual
results, performance or achievements of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Group to be materially
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements or other projections.

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Offering Circular. The Issuer and
the Guarantor expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or
revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the Group’s
expectations with regard thereto or any change of events, conditions or circumstances, on which any
such statement was based.

The factors that could cause the actual results, performances and achievements of the Issuer, the
Guarantor or any member of the Group to be materially different include, among others:

. the Group’s ability to successfully implement its business plans and strategies;

. various business opportunities that the Group may pursue;

. financial condition, performance and business prospects of the Group;

. changes in the competition landscape in the industries where the Group operates;

. the Group’s capital expenditure plans and its ability to carry out those plans;

. access and cost of capital and financing;

. any changes in the laws, rules and regulations of the PRC Government and the People’s
Government of Shandong Province and the rules, regulations and policies of the relevant
governmental authorities relating to all aspects of the Group’s business;

. general political and economic conditions, including those related to the PRC;

. changes or volatility in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices or other rates or
prices, including those pertaining to the PRC and the industry and markets in which the Group
operates,

. fluctuations in prices of and demand for products and services that the Group provides;

. macroeconomic measures taken by the PRC Government to manage economic growth;

. natural disasters, industrial action, terrorist attacks and other events beyond the control of the
Group;

. changes in the global economic conditions; and

. other factors, including those discussed in “Risk Factors”.

— Vi —
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SUMMARY

The summary below is only intended to provide a limited overview of information described in more
detail elsewhere in this Offering Circular. As it is a summary, it does not contain all of the
information that may be important to investors and terms defined elsewhere in this Offering Circular
shall have the same meanings when used in this summary. Prospective investors should therefore read
this Offering Circular in its entirety, including the section entitled “ Risk Factors”, before making an
investment decision.

Overview

The Group is a leading state-owned conglomerate based in Shandong Province, the PRC. Founded in
1992, the Group engages primarily in retail business, pharmaceutical business and health and
wellness properties business, and operates under a strong brand portfolio, consisting primarily of
“INZONE ($)%)", “FREDA (f&#i#)” and “LUSHANG (% 7)”. The Group also expands its
footprints in cultural tourism, education, healthcare, media business, financial services and
e-commerce and several other businesses. As a Shandong SASAC-controlled entity, the Group
consisted of 41 subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020, including two publicly-listed subsidiaries in the
PRC, namely Inzone Group Co., Ltd. (#RJE%5E K{3A R/ A, 600858.SH) and Lushang Health
Industry Development Co., Ltd. (7 i fdt e e 2538 JE 1 03 4 BR 22 7], 600223.SH). With a proven track
record, the Group has received numerous awards and recognitions, including being ranked 152nd in
“Top 500 Chinese Enterprises in 2017 (2017+[{{>2£5005% )" and 65th in “Top 500 Service
Companies in China in 2017 (2017 [ ilx #5 4 350074 )”, respectively, in terms of operating income
by China Association of Enterprises (7' 1> 34 &) and China Entrepreneur Association ([
%% ). Set forth below is a summary of each of the Group’s business segments:

. Retail Business. Retail business is the Group’s core business. The Group is a leading retail
business operator in Northern China. It ranked first among all retail business operators in
Shandong Province in terms of operating income by China General Chamber of Commerce (%
B % 38 & &) and China National Commercial Information Centre (A3 4 & i 215 B 40 in
2018 and ranked first among all chain store operators in Shandong Province in terms of sales
volume by China Chain Store & Franchise Association (B #8546 45 7€) in 2019. As at 31
December 2020, it operated 177 department stores, 204 convenience stores, eight homeware
stores, 61 electrical appliance stores, five shopping centres and six 4S sales outlets mainly
under the brands “INZONE (#J8)” and “Uni-Mart (%t —#$R )", These stores are located across
all 16 municipalities in Shandong Province, as well as nearby cities in Henan Province, Hebei
Province and Beijing.

. Pharmaceutical Business. The Group’s pharmaceutical business is engaged in the research and
development, manufacture and sale and distribution of a broad range of pharmaceutical and
healthcare products. The Group’s key products include western and Chinese medicines for neck
pain relief and cold treatment, medical supplies, health supplements, chemical raw materials and
skincare products. Its products are sold through an extensive sales and distribution network
nationwide. The Group is dedicated for years in research and development. It has a strong track
record in developing products, as well as a robust research and development product pipeline.
As at 31 December 2020, the Group obtained 64 approvals from the China Food and Drug
Administration (B % & 25 5 BS B B4 R))  for new drug certificate applications and
registered 67 patents for new drugs in the PRC.

. Health and Wellness Properties Business. The Group’s health and wellness properties business
involves the development and sale of residential and commercial properties. As at 31 December
2020, the Group had a total of 43 projects at various stages of development, primarily located in
Jinan, Qingdao, Harbin and Chongqging. The Group has developed and launched three major
product series to the market, namely, “Lushang City Square (% ¥ & #5)”, “Lushang Garden




Residence (47t ®{£=)” and “Lushang Ecological Villa (%7 /EREFIE)” which have been
well received by its customers. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a land bank with a total
site area of approximately 1,193,300 sg.m.

. Other Businesses. The Group also engages in other businesses, primarily including cultural
tourism, education, healthcare, media businesses and financial services and e-commerce
business. Revenues from each business historically recorded a relatively small percentage as
compared to the Group’s total operating income.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the total operating income from each business segment
of the Group in absolute amount and as a percentage of the Group’s total operating income for the
periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
Amount % of total Amount % of total Amount % of total
(RMB in (RMB in (RMB in
millions) millions) millions)
Retail business .......... 27,184 71.6 27,414 68.8 18,629 52.0
Pharmaceutical business . .. 858 2.3 1,039 2.6 1,477 4.1
Health and wellness
properties business . . ... 7,963 21.0 9,250 23.2 12,139 33.9
Other businesses . ........ 1,950 5.1 2,129 5.4 3,557 9.9
Total operating income . .. 37,956 100.0 39,833 100.0 35,802 100

The Group has maintained a stable growth. For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020,
total operating income from the Group’s business operation was RMB37,956 million, RMB39,833
million and RMB35,802 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the total
assets of the Group were RMB94,104 million, RMB103,386 million and RMB117,357 million,
respectively.

Competitive Strengths

The Group believes that the following strengths are important to its success and future development:
. Strong support from the Shandong Provincial Government;

. The leader of retail business operation in Shandong Province with distinct brand identity;

. Multi-format retailing to meet diverse customer demands;

. Stable and long term relationships with high-quality brand owners;

. Diversified funding sources and prudent asset and debt management strategy; and

. Sound corporate governance with experienced management.

Business Strategies

The Group intends to focus on the following business strategies:;

. Develop into a leading conglomerate in Shandong Province as well as a renowned full service

group in China by leveraging synergies among the Group’s different business segments and
promoting innovation;




Further implement major national and regional development strategies and optimise the business
models of the Group’s various businesses to support industrial transformation and public
services in Shandong Province;

Further expand the existing businesses through promoting innovation, enhancing management
and other measures;

Deepen its footprint in Shandong market and expand the coverage of the Group’s geographical
business landscape to nearby regions; and

Continue optimise the structure of its talent pool.




THE OFFERING

The following is a brief summary of the offering and is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of
this Offering Circular. Some of the terms described below are subject to important limitations and
exceptions. Words and expressions defined in “ Terms and Conditions of the Bonds” and “ Summary of
Provisions Relating to the Bonds in Global Form” shall have the same meanings in this summary.
For a more complete description of the terms and conditions of the Bonds, see “Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds” in this Offering Circular.

ISSUET . .t o e Fuyuan Worldwide Limited & I 5 B4 BR 2 7).

Guarantor . ................ .. Shandong Commercial Group Co., Ltd. (Ll # i 4E
A R 2 ).

Bonds . ......... ... ... .. ... ... ... U.S.$140,000,000 7.0 per cent. Guaranteed Bonds due

2023 (the “Additional Bonds"), to be consolidated and
form a single series with the existing U.S.$180,000,000
7.0 per cent. guaranteed bonds due 2023 issued on 28
August 2020 (the “Original Bonds” and together with
the Additional Bonds, the “Bonds’) after the
Registration Conditions with respect to both the
Original Bonds and the Additional Bonds are complied
with.

Issue Price . ........ ... .. ... ..... The Additional Bonds will be issued at 99.985 per cent.
of their principal amount plus accrued interest from
(and including) 28 February 2021 to (but excluding) 11
June 2021.

Form and Denomination ............ The Bonds will be issued in registered form and in the
specified denomination of U.S.$200,000 and integral
multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof.

Additional Bonds Issue Date ......... 11 June 2021.

Interest . ....... .. ... . ... . ... ... The Original Bonds will bear interest on their
outstanding principal amount from and including the
Original Bonds Issue Date and the Additional Bonds
will bear interest on their outstanding principal amount
from and including 28 February 2021, in each case at
the rate of 7.0 per cent. per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrear in equal instaiments on 28
February and 28 August in each year, commencing on
28 February 2021 in the case of the Original Bonds and
28 August 2021 in the case of the Additional Bonds.

Maturity Date .................... 28 August 2023.

Status of theBonds . ............... The Bonds will constitute direct, unsubordinated,
unconditional and (subject to Condition 4(a) (Negative
Pledge)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at
all times rank pari passu and without any preference
among themselves. The payment obligations of the
Issuer under the Bonds will, save for such exceptions as
may be provided by applicable legislation and subject
to Condition 4(a) (Negative Pledge), at all times rank at
least equally with all its other present and future
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.




Status of the Guarantee . ............ The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed the due payment of all sums expressed to be
payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed and the
Bonds. Its obligations in that respect are contained in
each Deed of Guarantee. The obligations of the
Guarantor under the Guarantee shall, save for such
exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation
and subject to Condition 4(a), at all times rank at least
equally with all its other present and future unsecured
and unsubordinated obligations.

Negative Pledge ................... The Bonds will contain a negative pledge provision as
further described in Condition 4(a) (Negative Pledge) of
the Terms and Conditions.

Useof Proceeds ................... The net proceeds from the offering of the Additional
Bonds will be used for refinancing certain offshore
indebtedness, retail business development and offshore
business development. See “Use of Proceeds’.

Eventsof Default . ................. The Bonds will contain certain events of default as
further described in Condition 9 (Events of Default) of
the Terms and Conditions.

Cross-Default . .................... The Bonds will contain a cross-default provision in
respect of present or future indebtedness for or in
respect of moneys borrowed or raised or any present or
future guarantee and/or indemnity thereof of the Issuer
or the Guarantor or of any of their respective
Subsidiaries which equals or exceeds U.S.$25 million
or its equivalent. See Condition 9(c) (Cross-Default) of
the Terms and Conditions.

Taxation ........... ... .. ... ... ... All payments of principal, premium (if any) and interest
by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor in respect
of the Bonds or under the Guarantee shall be made free
and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for
or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatever
nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed
by or within the British Virgin Islands or the PRC or
any political subdivision or any authority therein or
thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or
deduction is required by law. Where such withholding
or deduction is made by the Issuer or, as the case may
be, the Guarantor by or within the PRC up to and
including the aggregate rate applicable on 25 August
2020 (the “Applicable Rate”), the Issuer or, as the case
may be, the Guarantor will increase the amounts paid
by it to the extent required, so that the net amount
received by Bondholders equals the amounts which
would otherwise have been receivable by them had no
such withholding or deduction been required.




Final Redemption ...........

Redemption for Relevant Events

If (i) the Issuer is required to make a deduction or
withholding by or within the British Virgin Islands, or
(ii) the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor is
required to make a deduction or withholding by or
within the PRC in excess of the Applicable Rate, the
Issuer, or as the case may be, the Guarantor shall pay
such additional amounts (“Additional Tax Amounts”)
as will result in receipt by the Bondholders of such
amounts as would have been received by them had no
such withholding or deduction been required, except
that no Additional Tax Amounts shall be payable in the
circumstances set out in Condition 8 (Taxation) of the
Terms and Conditions.

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and
cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at their principal
amount on the Maturity Date.

Following the occurrence of a Relevant Event, the
holder of any Bond will have the right, at such holder’s
option, to require the Issuer to redeem all but not some
only of that holder's Bonds on the Put Settlement Date
(as defined in the Terms and Conditions) at 101 per
cent. (in the case of a redemption for a Change of
Control) or 100 per cent. (in the case of a redemption
for a No Registration Event) of their principal amount,
together in each case with any accrued interest up to
but excluding such Put Settlement Date, as further
described in Condition 6(c) (Redemption for Relevant
Event) of the Terms and Conditions.

a “Change of Control” occurs when:

(i) Shandong SASAC together with any other
person(s) directly or indirectly Controlled by the
central government of the PRC cease to directly or
indirectly Control the Guarantor;

(i) the Guarantor ceases to directly or indirectly hold
or own 100 per cent. of the issued share capital of
the Issuer; and

(iti) the Guarantor consolidates with or merges into or
sells or transfers all or substantially all of its
assets to any other person or persons, acting
together, who is or are not Controlled by the
central government of the PRC directly or
indirectly;




Redemption for Taxation Reasons

“Control” means (i) the ownership or control of more
than 50 per cent. of the voting rights of the issued share
capital of the relevant person or (ii) the right to appoint
and/or remove all or the majority of the members of the
relevant person’s board of directors or other governing
body, whether obtained directly or indirectly, and
whether obtained by ownership of share capital, the
possession of voting rights, contract or otherwise; the
term “Controlled” has meanings correlative to the
foregoing;

a “No Registration Event” occurs when (i) in respect
of the Original Bonds only, the Registration Conditions
have not been satisfied in full on or before the
Registration Deadline in relation to the Original Bonds,
or (ii) in respect of the Additional Bonds only, the
Registration Conditions have not been satisfied in full
on or before the Registration Deadline in relation to the
Additional Bonds;

a “person” includes any individual, company,
corporation,  firm, partnership, joint  venture,
undertaking, association, organisation, trust, state or
agency of a state (in each case whether or not being a
separate legal entity);

“Registration Conditions” means the receipt by the
Trustee of the Registration Documents as set forth in
Condition 4(d);

a “Relevant Event” means a Change of Control or a No
Registration Event; and

“Shandong SASAC” means the Shandong Provincial
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration

Commission (IR A ANRBUFE A EE BB EHZE AR
).

The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer
in whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not less
than 30 nor more than 60 days notice (a “Tax
Redemption Notice”) to the Bondholders in accordance
with Condition 16 (which shall be irrevocable) and in
writing to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent,
at their principal amount (together with any interest
accrued to the date fixed for redemption) if the Issuer
or, if the Guarantee was called, the Guarantor (as the
case may be) satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to
the giving of such notice that




Further Issues ....................

Trustee .. ... ... .. . ...

Principal Paying Agent, Registrar
and Transfer Agent . ..............

(i) the Issuer has (or, if the Guarantee were called,
the Guarantor) or will become obliged to pay
Additional Tax Amounts (as defined in Condition
8) as provided or referred to in Condition 8 as a
result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws
or regulations of the British Virgin Islands or the
PRC, or, in each case, any political subdivision or
any authority thereof or therein having power to
tax, or any change in the application or official
interpretation of, such laws or regulations
(including but not limited to any decision by a
court of competent jurisdiction), which change or
amendment becomes effective on or after 25
August 2020, and

(i1) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer
(or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking
reasonable measures available to it, provided that
no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier
than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which
the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be)
would be obliged to pay such Additional Tax
Amounts were a payment in respect of the Bonds
(or the Guarantee, as the case may be) then due,
as further described in Condition 6(b)
(Redemption for Taxation Reasons) of the Terms
and Conditions.

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent
of the Bondholders create and issue further securities
either having the same terms and conditions as the
Bonds in all respects (or in all respects except for the
issue date, the first payment of interest on them and the
timing for compliance with the requirements set out in
these Conditions in relation to the NDRC Post-issue
Filing and the Cross-Border Security Registration or for
the exercise of a redemption for a No Registration
Event) and so that such further issue shall be
consolidated and form a single series with the
outstanding Bonds, as further described in Condition 15
(Further Issues) of the Terms and Conditions.

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited.

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited.




Clearing Systems . ................. The Original Bonds are represented initially by interests
in the Original Global Certificate and the Additional
Bonds will be represented initially by interests in the
Additional Global Certificate, in each case which will
be registered in the name of a nominee of, and
deposited with, a common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream. Beneficial interests in the Global
Certificate will be shown on, and transfers thereof will
be effected only through, records maintained by
Euroclear and Clearstream. Except as described in this
Offering Circular, definitive certificates for the Bonds
will not be issued in exchange for interests in the
Global Certificate.

Clearance and Settlement ........... The Additional Bonds have been accepted for clearance
through Euroclear and Clearstream under temporary
Common Code 235124459 and the temporary ISIN for
the Additional Bonds is X S2351244590.

On the Consolidation Date, the Additional Bonds will
be consolidated into and form a single series with the
Original Bonds and the whole series of the Bonds will
thereafter be cleared through Euroclear and Clearstream
under the Common Code 219957548 and the ISIN
XS2199575486.

Notices and Payment .. ............. So long as the Global Certificate is held on behalf of
Euroclear or Clearstream, any notice to the Bondholders
shall be validly given by the delivery of the relevant
notice to Euroclear or Clearstream, for communication
by the relevant clearing system to entitled
accountholders in substitution for notification as
required by the Terms and Conditions.

GoverningLaw ................... English law.
Jurisdiction .......... ... ... ... Exclusive jurisdiction of Hong Kong courts.
Listing ......... ... .. .. .. .. . ... .. The Original Bonds are listed on the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange, effective from 31 August 2020, and
represented by the stock code 40363. Application will
be made to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the
listing of, and permission to deal in, the Additional
Bonds by way of debt issues to Professional Investors
only. Such permission is expected to become effective
on or about three business days in Hong Kong after the
Consolidation Date and the whole series of the Bonds
will be represented by the stock code 40363 after such
permission has become effective.




Selling Restrictions ................ The Bonds have not been and will not be registered
under the Securities Act or under any state securities
laws of the United States, are being offered only
outside the United States in reliance of Regulation S of
the Securities Act and will be subject to customary
restrictions on transfer and resale. See “Subscription
and Sale”.

LEI .. 3003005CZJ17GBNT2975.
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SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The summary consolidated financial information of the Guarantor as at and for the years ended 31
December 2018, 2019 and 2020, which has been extracted from the Guarantor’s Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements which are included elsewhere in this Offering Circular. The Guarantor’'s 2019
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared and presented in accordance with the PRC
GAAP and have been audited by Jonten, the previous independent auditors of the Guarantor. The
Guarantor’s 2020 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared and presented in
accordance with the PRC GAAP and have been audited by CAAP, the current independent auditors of
the Guarantor. PRC GAAP is substantially in line with IFRS, except for certain modifications which
reflect the PRC’s unique circumstances and environment. For a summary of certain differences, see
“Summary of Certain Differences between PRC GAAP and IFRS’.

In 2019, the Ministry of Finance of the PRC promulgated certain new accounting standards and new
requirements in relation to the format of financial statements (the “New Accounting Standards and
Requirements”). In addition, the Guarantor has adopted different measurement model in relation to
investment properties (the “New Measurement Models”) since 2019. The Guarantor’'s 2019 Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared and presented in accordance with the New
Accounting Standards and Requirements and the New Measurement Models. As a result, the
presentation of certain accounting items in the Guarantor’'s 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements may not be comparable to the financial figures in the financial statements of the
Guarantor for the previous periods. For details of the New Accounting Standards and Requirements
and the New Measurement Models and their impact on the Guarantor's 2019 Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements, see “Notes to the Financial Statements — Note 6 Other significant changes on
accounting policies and accounting estimates, correction of the accounting errors from previous term
and other adjustments — 6.1 Changes in accounting policies” of the Guarantor’'s 2019 Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Summary Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

As at 31 December

2018 2019 2020
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (U.S$)
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in thousands)
Current assets
Monetary capital . ................. 9,801,801.6 10,675,329.2 13,486,474.7 2,066,892.7
Financial assets measured at fair value through
current profitand loss .. ........... 3,821,931.8 3,975,058.6 5,625,828.7 862,196.0
Notesreceivable . ................. 103,253.6 263,373.7 187,374.9 28,716.5
Accountsreceivable .. ..., ... .. ... .. 841,226.1 849,783.5 945,190.6 144,856.8
Accounts receivables financing . . . . ... ... - - 256,811.2 39,358.0
Advances to suppliers . . ............. 5,562,606.7 5,013,510.6 5,414,043.2 829,738.4
Other receivables . . . ............... 6,618,165.6 6,472,331.2 6,438,697.4 986,773.5
Inventories. .. ................... 39,433,657.7 47,269,721.1 50,027,211.3 7,667,005.6
Non-current assets due within one year . . . . . - - 599,800.0 91,9234
Other current assets . . .............. 2,259,044.5 1,947,437.0 1,905,848.3 292,084.0
Total current assets . ................ 68,441,687.8 76,466,545.0 84,887,280.3 13,009,544.9
Non-current assets
Grant of loans and advances . . ......... 557,426.1 436,887.7 474,211.6 72,676.1
Debt investments . . . ............... - 62,391.5 37,630.0 5,767.0
Available-for-sale financial assets . . ... ... 1,427,571.8 2,039,295.6 1,240,143.9 190,060.4
Held-to-maturity investments . . .. ....... 229,842.5 186,428.1 732,846.5 112,313.6
Long-term receivables . . ............. 463,339.9 1,118,494.4 658,595.6 100,934.2
Long-term equity investments . ... ...... 556,046.0 611,937.7 1,519,088.1 232,810.4
Other equity instruments investments . . . . . . - 90,000.0 110,000.0 16,858.2
Investment properties .. ............. 6,163,994.7 6,652,696.7 6,988,423.7 1,071,022.8
Fixedassets . . ................... 8,969,921.1 9,255,785.2 10,097,256.8 1,547,472.3
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Construction in progress . .. ..........
Intangible assets . . ................
Development expenses . . ... ..........
Goodwill .. ... ...
Long-term prepaid expenses . ..........
Deferred income tax assets . ... ........
Other non-current assets . . . ... ........

Total non-current assets . .. ...........
Total @assets . . ... ...

Current liabilities

Short-term loans . . ... ... ... .. L.
Absorption of deposits and

interbank deposit . .. .. .. ... ... ...
Depositfunds . .. .................
Notespayable . . ..................
Accountspayable . .. ...... ... .. ... ..
Advances from customers . . .. ... ......
Contract liabilities . .. ..............
Financial assets sold for repurchase . . . . . ..
Employee remuneration payable . .. ... ...
Taxes and surcharges payable . ... ......
Other payables . . .................
Non-current liabilities maturing within

ONEYEA . . vt
Other current liabilities .. ............

Total current liabilities . ... ...........

Non-current liabilities
Long-termloans ... ...............
Bondspayable . ..................
Long-term payables .. ..............
Long-term employee remuneration payable . . .
Estimated liabilities . ...............
Deferred income . .................
Deferred income tax liabilities . . ... ... ..
Other non-current liabilities ... ........

Total non-current liabilities . ... ........
Total liabilities ... ......... ... .....

Owners' equity
Paid-in capital . ........... . ... ...
Other equity instruments . .. ..........
Capital reserve . .. ... ... ..
Other comprehensive income . . ... ... ...
Special reserves. .. ... ...
Surplusreserves .. ... . ... ...
General risk reserves .. ... ...
Undistributed profits . . . . ............

Total equity attributable to owners of the
parent company .. ................
Minority equity . ... ........ . ... ...

Total owner'sequity . .. ..............
Total liabilities and owner’s equity .. ... ..

As at 31 December

2018 2019 2020
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (USs$)
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in thousands)

1,481,309.1 509,990.5 1,355,179.6 207,690.4
2,501,439.5 2,402,517.5 5,084,732.2 779,269.3
- 2,005.8 10,502.9 1,609.6
1,920,469.7 1,920,469.7 2,087,128.4 319,866.4
868,236.4 699,584.2 817,371.7 125,267.7
432,375.0 442,846.4 405,190.2 62,098.1
90,536.2 488,492.3 850,975.5 130,417.7
25,662,508.0 26,919,823.3 32,469,276.7 4,976,134.4
94,104,195.7 103,386,368.3 117,356,557.0 17,985,679.2
11,273,188.6 13,975,735.2 15,471,929.2 2,371,176.9
27,087.3 - 2,827.6 433.3
200,000.0 - - -
4,335,934.3 5,777,845.0 6,902,789.7 1,057,898.8
8,931,490.4 9,161,847.5 10,144,752.7 1,554,751.4
15,615,616.1 17,111,813.0 2,012,495.1 308,428.4
- - 18,599,922.6 2,850,562.9
272,750.0 880,000.0 340,150.0 52,130.3
345,141.9 413,194.6 537,498.0 82,375.2
792,719.7 959,206.1 1,268,739.0 194,442.8
5,058,985.4 7,043,143.7 8,788,625.9 1,346,915.9
12,387,675.5 9,817,626.6 15,639,558.6 2,396,867.2
- 29,409.7 727,134.6 111,438.3
59,240,589.2 65,169,821.4 80,436,423.0 12,327,421.2
9,166,267.7 8,416,404.3 7,947,789.9 1,218,052.1
5,411,293.4 7,046,143.0 3,925,387.4 601,591.9
982,826.4 2,076,793.5 1,710,107.3 262,085.4
6,662.6 4,179.7 2,675.4 410.0
63,172.5 54,521.6 41,818.3 6,408.9
218,272.3 195,345.5 203,287.5 31,155.2
579,682.7 589,683.8 559,092.6 85,684.7
16,428,177.7 18,383,071.3 14,390,158.6 2,205,388.3
75,668,766.9 83,552,892.8 94,826,581.6 14,532,809.4
2,097,767.5 2,097,767.5 2,097,767.5 321,496.9
6,300,178.4 5,910,178.4 3,860,178.4 591,598.2
551,079.9 618,508.8 999,957.5 153,250.2
260,695.8 324,087.2 99,866.8 15,305.3
1,454.6 - 417 6.4
615,772.7 569,163.8 615,505.5 94,330.4
- 222.9 133.2 204
2,539,544.8 2,532,493.0 1,913,278.8 293,222.8
12,366,493.7 12,052,421.4 9,586,729.5 1,469,230.6
6,068,935.1 7,781,054.1 12,943,245.9 1,983,639.2
18,435,428.8 19,833,475.5 22,529,975.5 3,452,869.8
94,104,195.7 103,386,368.3 117,356,557.0 17,985,679.2
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Summary Consolidated Income Statement Data

Total operatingincome . .. ............
Operatingincome . . . ...............
Interestincome . . ........ ... . .....
Handling charges and commissions

NCOME . . ..o
Total operating costs . . . . ... ... ... ..
Operating costs . . . .. ...t
Interest expenses . . .. ... ...
Handling charges and commissions

BXPENSES . . o
Taxes and surcharges . . .............
Selling expenses . . ................
General and administrative expenses . . .. ..
Research and development expenses . ... ..
Financial expenses . ... .............
Otherincome .. ..................

Gains from changes in fair value .. ......
Losses from credit impairment . . ... ... ..
Losses from asset impairment . . . ... .. ..
Gain/(loss) from asset disposal . . ... ... ..

Operating profit .. .................

Non-operating income . . . ............
Non-operating expenses . . ... .........

Total profit . ....... ... ... .. ... ...

Income tax expenses . . . . ............
Net profit . ......................

Attributable to owners of the parent

COMPANY  « v e
Minority shareholders' gains and

losses . . ...
Net of tax for other comprehensive

INCOME . . ..o
Attributable to owners of the parent

COMPANY .« v
Attributable to minority shareholders . . . . ..

Total comprehensiveincome . . .. ........
Attributable to owners of the parent

COMPANY « v
Attributable to minority shareholders . . . . ..

For the year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in thousands)
37,955,644.4 39,832,847.2 35,802,100.8 5,486,912.0
37,873,014.6 39,767,182.9 35,705,479.1 5472,104.1
80,386.4 64,043.2 93,149.4 14,275.8
2,243.5 1,621.1 34724 532.2
(37,046,636.5)  (39,144,190.2)  (35,980,871.5)  (5514,309.8)
(29,909,440.1)  (31,485,046.0)  (27,353,166.3)  (4,192,056.1)
(18,943.7) (23,190.8) (84,526.0) (12,954.2)
(58.4) (729.7) (967.6) (148.3)
(800,170.3) (932,624.6)  (1,076,190.6) (164,933.4)
(4,095,302.2)  (4,166,379.5)  (4,301,341.0) (659,209.4)
(1,361,786.7)  (1,417,827.5)  (1,822,638.9) (279,331.6)
(129,132.6) (146,068.1) (212,113.7) (32,507.8)
(731,802.4) (972,323.9) (1,129,927.4) (173,169.0)
56,264.2 78,081.9 181,424.1 27,804.5
479,474.1 661,430.1 866,944.4 132,865.0
(95,080.4) 27,110.1 322,541.7 49,431.7
- (13,405.1) (72,052.1) (11,042.5)
(410,210.6) (271,237.7) (67,541.6) (10,351.2)
4,908.0 (24,577.7) 6,089.9 933.3
944,363.3 1,146,058.7 1,058,635.7 162,243.0
79,884.2 46,190.1 59,528.1 9,123.1
(115,721.7) (77,932.8) (248,580.8) (38,096.7)
908,525.7 1,114,316.1 869,583.0 133,269.4
(513,774.4) (459,066.5) (627,159.7) (96,116.4)
394,751.3 655,249.5 242,423.3 37,153.0
94,930.7 389,336.7 267,054.6 40,927.9
299,820.6 265,912.8 (24,631.4) (3,774.9)
(238,746.5) 72,439.7 (278,601.5) (42,697.6)
(365,393.9) 63,391.4 (224,220.3) (34,363.3)
126,647.4 9,048.3 (54,381.2) (8,334.3)
156,004.8 727,689.2 (36,178.2) (5,544.6)
(270,463.2) 452,728.0 42,834.3 6,564.6
426,468.0 274,961.2 (79,012.5) (12,109.2)
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Summary Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Data

For the year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (U.S$)
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in thousands)
Net cash flows from operating activities . .. .. 2,845,999.8 1,912,356.3 3,992,159.9 611,825.3
Net cash flows from investing activities . . . . . . (3,647,029.0) (949,646.5) (775,307.6) (118,821.1)
Net cash flows from financing activities . . ... 2,417,678.4 587,998.9 (914,190.8) (140,105.9)
Effect of fluctuation in exchange rate on cash
and cash equivalents . . . ......... .. .. 2,717.5 1,037.5 (10,241.0) (1,569.5)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . . . 1,619,366.6 1,551,746.1 2,292,420.6 351,328.8
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the period . ... .......... 4,746,411.3 6,365,777.9 7,917,524.0 1,213,413.6
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the
end of theperiod . ................ 6,365,777.9 7,917,524.0 10,209,944.6 1,564,742.5

Other Financial Data

The following table sets forth certain other financial data of the Group as at the dates and for the
periods indicated.

As at and for the year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
EBITDA®W (RMB inmillion) . ............... 2,865.1 2,951.0 3,789.5
Total Debt® (RMB in millions) . ............. 39,221.3 41,332.7 44,694.8
EBITDA interest coverage ratic® ... .......... 4.70 3.69 3.85
Total liabilities/total assets (per cent.) . .. ........ 81.92 80.82 80.80
Notes:

(1) EBITDA for any period is calculated as total profit before interest expenses, depreciation of fixed assets, amortization

@

3

of intangible assets, long-term deferred expenses and depreciation of investment properties. EBITDA is a widely used
financial indicator of a company’s ability to service and incur debt, EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or
construed as an alternative to cash flows, net income or any other measure of performance or as an indicator of the
Group’s operating performance, liquidity, profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or financing
activities. In evaluating EBITDA, the Company believes that investors should consider, among other things, the
components of EBITDA such as sales and operating expenses under the amount by which EBITDA exceeds capital
expenditures and other charges. The Company has included EBITDA because it believes that it is a useful supplement to
the cash flow data as a measure of the Group’s performance and its ability to generate cash flow from operations to
cover debt service and taxes. EBITDA presented herein may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by
other companies. Investors should not compare the Group’s EBITDA to EBITDA presented by other companies because
not all companies use the same definitions.

Total debt consists of short-term loans, non-current liabilities due within one year, long-term loans, long-term payables
and bonds payable. Investors should not compare the Group’'s total debt to total debt presented by other companies
because not all companies use the same definition.

EBITDA interest coverage ratio is calculated by dividing EBITDA by interest expenses. Investors should not compare
the Group’s interest expenses to interest expenses presented by other companies because not all companies use the same
definition.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Additional Bonds is subject to a number of risks. Prior to making any
investment decision, investors should carefully consider all of the information contained in this
Offering Circular, and in particular, the risks and uncertainties described below. The following
describes some of the significant risks relating to the Group, its business, the market in which the
Group operates and the Bonds. Some risks may be unknown to the Issuer or the Company and other
risks, currently believed to be immaterial, could in fact be material. Any of these could materially
and adversely affect the business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of the Group
or the value of the Bonds. The Issuer and the Company believe that the risk factors described below
represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the Additional Bonds, but the ability of the
Issuer and the Company to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any
Bonds may be affected by some factors that may not be considered as significant risks by the Issuer
and the Company based on information currently available to the Issuer and the Company or which
the Issuer and the Company are currently unable to anticipate. All of these factors are contingencies
which may or may not occur and the Issuer or the Company is not in a position to express a view on
the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

This Offering Circular also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
The actual results of the Group could differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including the risks described below and
elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

Neither the Issuer nor the Company represents that the statements below regarding the risk factors
are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in
this Offering Circular and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Risks relating to the Group’s Business

The Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects are heavily
dependent on the level of economic development in the PRC, in particular, Shandong Province,
and policies of relevant central and local governments.

The Group is a leading state-owned conglomerate based in Shandong Province, the PRC, focusing
mainly on retail, pharmaceutical and health and wellness properties businesses. The Group’s business
and operations are primarily concentrated in Shandong. As at 31 December 2020, 448 out of 461
stores of the Group were based in Shandong Province. Therefore, its business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects have been and will continue to be heavily dependent on the level
of economic development of China, in particular, Shandong Province.

The economic conditions in the PRC generally and in Shandong Province in particular have affected,
and will continue to affect the Group’s business. The Group’s results of operations are sensitive to
changes in overall economic and political conditions that affect consumer spending in the PRC. The
retail industry, in particular, is very sensitive to broad economic changes, and retail purchases tend to
decline during economic downturns. There are a number of factors that are beyond the Group’'s
control, including interest rates, recession, inflation and deflation, property prices and availability,
consumer credit availability and terms, availability of consumer finance, tax rates and policy and
unemployment trends influencing consumer confidence and spending. The domestic and international
political environment, including military conflicts and political instability, may also affect consumer
confidence and spending and may lead to a general reduction in the level of consumer spending
which could in turn materially and adversely affect the Group’s growth and profitability.

In recent years, there has been a slowdown in the growth of China’'s economic development as
evidenced by a decrease in PRC’s GDP annual growth rate. According to the National Statistics
Bureau of the PRC, the annual growth rate of China’'s GDP in 2015 slowed down to 6.9 per cent.
compared to 7.3 per cent. in 2014, and it further decreased to 6.7 per cent. in 2016. In 2017, the
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annual growth rate of China’s GDP was 6.9 per cent., and it decreased to 6.6 per cent. in 2018. In
2019, the annual growth rate of China’'s GDP slowed down to 6.1 per cent., and it further decreased
to 2.3 per cent. in 2020. Shandong Province has similarly experienced steady but slowing economic
growth in recent years. According to preliminary data published by Shandong Provincial Statistics
Bureau (LI & #i5TA), the annual growth rate of Shandong Province’'s GDP in 2015 slowed down to
8.0 per cent. compared to 8.7 per cent. in 2014, and it further decreased to 7.6 per cent. in 2016. In
2017, the annual growth rate of Shandong Province’s GDP was 7.4 per cent., and it decreased to 6.4
per cent. in 2018. In 2019, the annual growth rate of Shandong Province’'s GDP slowed down to 5.5
per cent., and it further decreased to 3.6 per cent. in 2020. In particular, the recent outbreak of the
novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19") has adversely affected, and may continue to adversely
affect, the level of economic development in Shandong Province and the PRC. See “— The Group’s
business may be affected by natural disasters, epidemics and other acts of God, including the recent
COVID-19 pandemic.” There can be no assurance that the level of economic development in China
and Shandong Province in particular will continue to grow at the rates seen in recent years, and it is
unclear how the economic development in Shandong Province will be affected by a perceivable
slowdown in the growth of the PRC economy. Any continuing slowdown in the economic
development in Shandong Province may decrease the demand for the Group’s products and services,
and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Meanwhile, the relevant government policies regarding retail, pharmaceutical and health and wellness
properties businesses and other businesses the Group operate also have a major impact on the
Group’s business and growth prospects. For example, since 2005, the PRC Government has from time
to time introduced various measures to curtail property speculation in response to concerns over,
among other things, the increases in property investments and property prices and the overheating of
the property market, which could in turn materially and adversely affect the Group’s growth and
profitability. Meanwhile, although in recent years, the government has introduced various policies to
encourage the development of the Shandong Peninsular Blue Economic Zone and the cooperation in
the Bohai Economic Rim, there can be no assurance that the PRC Government will maintain these
favourable policies in promoting the development of Shandong Province. Any discontinuation or
unfavourable change in such policies may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The Group has a diversified business portfolio operating in multiple industries under a complex
corporate structure and it is exposed to risks and challenges that are not faced by companies with
a single business line.

The Group has a number of subsidiaries operating in multiple industries. As a controlled entity of the
Shandong Provincial State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission (“Shandong
SASAC”), the Group consisted of 41 subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020, including two
publicly-listed subsidiaries in the PRC, namely Inzone Group Co., Ltd. (&84 E A R A,
600858.SH) and Lushang Health Industry Development Co., Ltd. (% p¥fdt )5 2 265 e B A BRA A,
600223.SH). Through these subsidiaries, the Group primarily engages in retail business,
pharmaceutical business and health and wellness properties business. The Group also expands its
footprints in cultural tourism, education, healthcare, media business, financial services and
e-commerce business and several other businesses. Due to the diverse characteristics of its
subsidiaries, the Group faces challenges different from companies with a single business line. In
particular:

. the Group is exposed to business, market and regulatory risks relating to different industries,
markets and geographic areas, and may from time to time expand its businesses to new
industries, markets and geographic areas in which it has limited operating experience. Success
in such businesses requires the Group to devote substantial resources to monitor changes in
these different operating environments; and
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. successful operation of the Group’s subsidiaries requires an effective management and corporate
governance system. As the Group continues to grow its businesses in different industries, the
Group’s operations may become more complex, which would increase the difficulty of
implementing its management and corporate governance system.

Any inefficiency in the management of various subsidiaries within the Group may have a material
and adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group’s business operations are subject to extensive regulation at various levels of
government, and any failure to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations, including
obtaining any necessary qualifications, permits or approvals for its operations may adversely affect
the Group.

Certain business activities of the Group, such as retail, pharmaceutical and health and wellness
properties businesses are extensively regulated in the PRC. The operation of these business activities
requires a number of approvals, licences and permits from different governmental authorities, which
may also take time to obtain all of these approvals and certificates. Governmental authorities in
China have broad discretion in implementing and enforcing applicable laws and regulations and in
granting the approvals, licences, permits and certificates necessary for the Group to conduct its
business. Failure to obtain the necessary approvals, licences or permits in a timely manner could
result in delay or suspension of business operations, and a failure to obtain the necessary approvals,
licences or permits may subject the relevant entities to regulatory or administrative penalties.
Governmental authorities may also adjust existing regulations or promulgate new regulations from
time to time. The Group may encounter problems in obtaining or renewing the permits, licences,
certificates and government authorisations necessary to conduct its business and may be unable to
comply with new laws, regulations or policies.

In addition, to ensure the restrictions and conditions of relevant business permits, licences and
certificates are fulfilled, governmental authorities normally conduct regular or special inspections,
investigations and inquiries. If any significant non-compliance is found by the governmental
authorities, the Group’s permits, licences and certificates may be suspended or revoked, and it may
receive fines or other penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

A reduction or discontinuance of government support could materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

In light of the strategic importance of the Group’s business and operations to Shandong, the Group
has received substantial support from the Shandong Provincial Government with respect to industrial
restructuring, resource allocation, and policies relating to investment and financing activities, which
is critical to the Group’s business operation. The government support received by the Group primarily
includes favourable policies, business opportunities, capital contribution, government subsidies and
grant. However, there is no assurance that the Shandong Provincial Government will continue to
provide support to the Group or that the existing or other types of government support will not be
adjusted or terminated due to changes in government policies or otherwise. If any favourable
incentive or government support which is currently available to the Group is reduced or discontinued
in the future, the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations would be materially
and adversely affected.

Shandong Provincial Government may exert significant influence on the Group, and could cause
the Group to make decisions, take actions or invest in or operate in businesses or projects which
may not be in the Group’s best interests or may not maximise the Group’s profits.

The Company is beneficially controlled and owned by the Shandong Provincial Government with

Shandong SASAC as its registered controlling shareholder. As its controlling shareholder, Shandong
SASAC participates in and closely monitors the Group’s decision-making process for key projects,
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reviews the Group’s development strategy and investment plans and appoints, and conducts annual
appraisals on, the directors and senior management of the Company. The Company’s senior
management and Shandong SASAC have regular in-depth discussions regarding key investment
projects, and essential appraisal procedures are conducted before investment decisions are taken.
Because of the involvement of Shandong SASAC in the affairs of the Group as its controlling
shareholder, there is no assurance that Shandong SASAC will not interfere with the business and
operations of the Group, and any such interference may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial position, results of operations, financial performance and prospects.

In addition, the Shandong Provincial Government may also exert significant influence on the Group’s
major business decisions and strategies, including the scope of its operations, investment decisions
and dividend policy. There is no assurance that Shandong SASAC and the Shandong Provincial
Government would always make decisions in the Group’s best interests or with the aim of
maximising the Group’s profits. The Shandong Provincial Government may use its ability to
influence the Group’s business and strategy in a manner which is beneficial to Shandong as a whole
but which may not necessarily be in the Group’s best interests. For example, the Group is designated
by the Shandong Provincial Government to set up and operate a number of educational institutions in
the Shandong Province on a non-profit basis. Shandong Provincial Government may also change its
policies, plans, preferences, views, expectations, projections, forecasts and opinions, as a result of
changes in the economic, political and social environment, its projections of population and
employment growth in Shandong Province. Any such change may have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Moreover, the
controlling relationship between the Company and its controlling shareholder Shandong SASAC and
its beneficial owner the Shandong Provincial Government, does not necessarily correlate to, or
provide any assurance as to the Issuer’'s and the Group’s financial conditions. The repayment
obligations under the Bonds remain the sole obligations of the Issuer and/or the Group.

The Group's retail business is highly competitive.

The Group derives a high percentage of its operating income from retail business. For the years
ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, operating income generated from the Group’s retail
business was RMB27,184.4 million, RMB27,414.4 million and RMB18,629.1 million, respectively,
representing 71.6 per cent., 68.8 per cent. and 52.0 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s total
operating income for the same periods. For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, profit
generated from the Group’s retail business was RMB5,561.0 million, RMB5,480.6 million and
RMB4,511.0 million, representing 70.3 per cent., 65.8 per cent. and 53.4 per cent., respectively, of
the Group’s total profit for the same periods.

The retail industry in China is highly competitive. The Group faces competition from other online
and offline domestic and international retailers that offer a similar range of products and from direct
sales by the brand owners or their authorized distributors, and also indirectly from shopping malls,
hypermarkets, specialty retailers, discount stores and other forms of retail business in the areas where
the Group currently operates, in particular, in Shandong Province and where the Group may enter.
The Group competes with other online and offline retailers in China based on, among other things:

the brand recognition and store image;

. the selling price and discount available of the similar or same consumer products;
. the location and size of a store;

. the reputation, mix and quality of the brands and products offered;

. the availability of differentiated products;

. the quality of customer service;
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. the ability to understand and respond to customer demand in a timely manner;
. the ability to build and maintain customer loyalty; and
. the financial and managerial resources the Group’s competitors may have.

To the extent that the Group fails to compete effectively in its existing and new markets due to any
of these factors, the Group’s business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

The Group may not be able to effectively manage the expansion and growth of its retail business.
The Group has an extensive network of retail stores within Shandong Province. As at 31 December
2020, the Group operated 177 department stores, 204 convenience stores, eight homeware stores, 61
electrical appliance stores, five shopping centres and six 4S sales outlets across all 16 municipalities
in Shandong Province, as well as nearby cities in Henan Province, Hebei Province and Beijing.

To further increase the Group’s market share and grow the Group’s business operations, the Group
may continue to evaluate the geographic coverage of its current retail stores in the PRC, open
different types of retail stores, and optimise the Group’s retail stores by closing down
underperforming stores and opening stores at competitive cost. The success of the expansion of the
Group’s retail store network depends on a number of factors, including, without limitation:

. the Group'’s ability to identify sites for new stores and successfully negotiate purchase or lease
agreements for these sites on terms acceptable to the Group;

. the Group’s ability to identify, and the availability of, suitable strategic acquisition or
investment targets;

. the availability of financing for the Group’s acquisitions, investments or other strategic
transactions;

. the Group’s ability to maintain or develop strategic cooperation relationships with domestic and
international leading suppliers; and

. the Group’s ability to respond to the changes in the retail industry in China.

Even if the Group is able to expand its network of retail stores, the Group’s ability to generate sales
or profits from such retail stores may be affected by the Group’s ability to, among other things:

. successfully develop and execute specific business strategy for each individual store;

. successfully integrate the new stores with the Group’s existing operations and achieve related
synergies;

. maintain adequate management and financial resources for the Group’s expanded operations;

. adapt to the evolving competitive environment which may be different from what the Group is
familiar with;

. adapt and grow the Group’s operational and management systems, including its supply chain
system and information technology systems, to continue to accommodate an expanded network

of stores;

. hire, train and retain skilled personnel; and
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. effectively control and manage the Group’s costs, particularly its procurement costs and
expenses related to rent, logistics, human resources and marketing.

Failure to effectively manage the Group’s expansion may lead to increased costs, decline in revenue,
reduced profitability and limited growth, which may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group may not be able to renew the existing leases for its stores if they are terminated, or
when they expire, on terms acceptable to the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group leased 121 stores with an aggregate total GFA of approximately
2.8 million sg.m. It is important to the Group’s business operation that the Group maintains its
existing leases. In the event that any of the Group’s leases is terminated for any reason prior to its
expiration, the Group may need to relocate to alternative premises. Relocation of any part of the
Group’s operations may result in disruptions to the Group’s business and significant expenditures,
and there is no assurance that the Group will be able to find suitable premises on commercially
reasonable terms in a timely manner, or at all.

Furthermore, a need to relocate may also arise in the event that the Group is unable to renew the
lease for any leased premises upon its expiration on terms acceptable to the Group. Upon expiration
of the lease agreement for each of the stores, the Group will need to negotiate the terms and
conditions on which the lease agreement may be renewed. There is no assurance that the Group will
be able to renew its lease agreements on terms and conditions, in particular those regarding the rental
price, which are favourable or otherwise acceptable to the Group, or at all. As a result, the Group
may need to seek alternative premises to relocate the Group’s existing stores. The Group cannot
assure that such alternative premises will be at comparable locations or can be leased on comparable
terms.

The Group faces increasing acquisition and leasing cost of retail space at prime locations, and the
Group may not be able to find suitable locations for new stores on commercially acceptable terms,

if at all.

The Group’s ability to identify suitable location for its stores is important for its business growth.
When selecting a site for a store, the Group takes into account various factors, including:

. whether it is located in a central or prime shopping district;

. its convenience and accessibility for the Group’s target consumers;

. the expected pedestrian traffic;

. the size of the available space;

. the availability of supporting facilities, including parking lots;

. competition in the surrounding area; and

. other factors relevant to a particular site.

The Group secures prime locations for its stores either through ownership or long-term leases. As at
31 December 2020, out of the Group’s 46 major stores, 25 were owned by the Group with 21 of the
remaining under long-term leases. The supply of prime locations for new stores is limited, and
competition for these locations is intense. As a result, the Group expects its cost of securing new
retail locations for its new stores, whether through ownership or through long-term leases, may

continue to increase. The Group’s ability to purchase or |ease suitable properties on terms acceptable
to the Group is critical to the success of the Group’s business. There is no assurance that the Group
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will be able to identify and acquire or lease suitable locations on terms commercially acceptable to
the Group or at all. In the event that the Group encounters difficulties in securing suitable store sites
in regions where it operates or plans to expand, the Group’s business and growth prospects may be
materially and adversely affected.

The Group is subject to certain risks relating to its distribution centres or standalone warehouses.

The Group’s retail business distribution network is supported by two logistics companies and four of
their specially designed distribution centres, i.e. Shandong Silver Plaza Distribution Co., Ltd. (1L 3 4R
JERC %A RN F]), Qufu Silver Plaza Distribution Centre (HhH 8RBz F L) and Weifang
Distribution Centre (#Yifi 2 H#.0>) which provides distribution and logistics services for “INZONE”
retail chain network and Uni-Mart Logistic and Distribution Centre (%t — R4 i it & #.0) which
provides distribution services for “Uni-Mart” convenience store network. The Group’s ability to
process and fulfill orders accurately and timely and provide high quality customer service depends on
the smooth operation of the Group’s distribution centres and standalone warehouses. The Group’s
supply chain system may be vulnerable to damages caused by fire, flood, power outage,
telecommunications failure, break-ins, earthquake, human error and other events. If any of the
Group’s supply chain system were rendered incapable of operations, then the Group may be unable to
fulfill the orders the Group has received. The occurrence of any of the foregoing risks could have a
material adverse effect on the Group’'s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

The Group’s future growth is dependent upon its ability to develop new services and products,
which requires significant research and development efforts, and the Group’s investment in new
services and products may not result in any commercially viable services and products.

Market participants frequently develop and market new and advanced services and products to adjust
to changing market preferences and technologies. As a result, the future growth of the Group’'s
businesses is dependent upon the Group’s ability to develop and launch new services and products
that meet market demand, and any delay in the Group’s service and product launches may
significantly impede the Group’s ability to compete.

The Group has devoted substantial resources to its research and development activities to improve its
ability to cater to market demands in the multiple industries the Group operates, in particular the
pharmaceutical industry. For example, for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the
Group’s expenditures on research and development activities amounted to approximately RMB155
million, RMB189 million and RMB172 million, respectively, representing 18.1 per cent., 18.2 per
cent. and 11.6 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s operating income from its pharmaceutical
business for the same periods. However, the Group cannot guarantee that its existing services and
products will be upgraded through its ongoing research and development activities or that the
Group’s research and development activities will always keep pace with market demand and
technological advances or yield the anticipated results.

Furthermore, development and production of new services and products may require substantial
capital investment. The entire development process may take years before a new service or product is
commercially launched. The Group cannot assure that its service and product research and
development projects can be completed within the anticipated time frame, and its research and
development efforts may not lead to new services and products that are commercially successful. The
Group may also experience delays or be unsuccessful in any stage of service or product research and
development, or production launch. If such events occur, the Group’s business, financial condition
and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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A portion of the pharmaceutical products manufactured and distributed by the Group is subject or
may become subject to government price controls or other price restrictions in the PRC.

A portion of the pharmaceutical products manufactured and distributed by the Group is included in
the National or Provincial Medical Insurance Drugs Catalogues, and the maximum retail prices of
such products are subject to government price controls in the form of fixed retail prices or retail price
ceilings. In addition to fixed or maximum retail prices, products included in the National or
Provincial Medical Insurance Drugs Catalogues may also be subject to downward price adjustments
as the PRC Government aims to make pharmaceutical products more affordable to the general public.

Although the maximum retail prices are generally above the Group’s retail prices, the Group cannot
assure that it will always be the case. Should the PRC Government significantly reduce the fixed
retail prices or the retail price ceilings applicable to the Group’s products, the Group may have to
reduce the prices of such products or remove them from its product portfolio, either of which may
materially reduce its revenue and profitability. In November 2009, NDRC, the Ministry of Health and
the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC jointly issued the Opinion on
Reform of Pricing System of Pharmaceuticals and Medical Services (£ % 2% i, 1 55 5 IR 5 {8 A% T R i
il & 5), pursuant to which NDRC indicated that it would strengthen its intervention in the pricing
of pharmaceutical products and announce market price information on pharmaceutical products. As a
result, the Group’s ability in setting prices for its pharmaceutical products is significantly limited. If
there are additional price controls or government-mandated price regulations with respect to any of
the existing or future products that the Group manufactures or distributes, its business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

The terms of the Group’s patents may not be sufficient to effectively protect its drug candidates and
business from competitors, including generic drugs.

The Group owns, has obtained licenses for, and has applied for patents related to its drugs and drug
candidates. The term of an issued patent in China generally expires 20 years from the date of
application. The life of a patent and the protection it affords is limited. Even if the Group has patents
covering its drug candidates, the Group may be open to competition from other companies, and in
particular, from generic drugs once its patent rights expire. Upon the expiration of its issued patents
or patents that may be issued from its pending patent applications, the Group will not be able to
assert such patent rights against potential competitors, including generic drugs, and the Group’s
business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

The Group may not be able to acquire land in desirable locations that are suitable for development
at commercially acceptable prices in the future.

The growth of the Group’s health and wellness properties business depends on its ability to continue
identifying and acquiring suitable land located in desirable locations at commercially reasonable
prices. The Group’s ability to succeed in the auctions and acquire land also depends on a variety of
other factors, such as the credentials and operating history of the competing bidders. As the Group
from time to time competes with other property developers who may have a more established track
record, stronger execution capability, more extensive experience or abundant financial resources than
the Group, there can be no assurance that the Group will be able to acquire target land that it
requires.

In addition, the availability and price of land sold at auctions may be affected by many factors, such
as government land policies and the cost of financing. In the past ten years, the purchase price of
land has significantly increased in the PRC, both in the primary market and the secondary market. In
recent years, the PRC Government has adopted a number of land-related initiatives to slow down the
rapid growth of China's residential property sector and to promote the development of affordable
housing. For example:

. local governments are required, when approving new residential projects after 1 June 2006, to

ensure that at least 70 per cent. of their annual land supply (in terms of estimated gross floor
area, “GFA") consists of units that are smaller than 90 sq.m.;
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. Ministry of Land and Resources of the PRC (“MLR") stated in an announcement dated 30 May
2006, that development of ordinary commodity housing at middle to low prices and of medium
to small sizes (including affordable housing) should be given priority in allocation of land
resources;

«  pursuant to the Catalogue of Restricted Use of Land (2012 Version) (BR il F #uJE H H # (20124
%)) and the Catalogue of Prohibited Use of Land (2012 Version) (251t FAMIEH H % (20124
7)) issued by MLR and NDRC on 23 May 2012, the area of a parcel of land granted for
commodity housing development shall not exceed seven hectares in small cities and towns, 14
hectares in medium-sized cities or 20 hectares in large cities;

. pursuant to the Notice on Further Strengthening the Administration and Control of the Land-Use
and Construction of Property (B HE— 5 il i 5 b a7 F0 sl 5 B AR P2 A 28 %0)  jointly
issued by the MLR and the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC in
September 2010, the development and construction of large low-density residential properties
should be strictly restricted, and the plot ratio for residential land is required to be more than
1:0; and

. no state-owned construction land use rights certificate will be issued before the property
developers fully pay up the land premiums according to the land use rights sales contracts.

The PRC Government also controls land supply through zoning, land usage regulations and other
means. All of these measures further increase the competition for land among property developers in
the PRC. If the Group is not able to acquire sufficient land in a timely manner and at acceptable
prices, its health and wellness properties business and related financial condition and results of
operations may be materially and adversely affected.

The PRC Government may impose fines or penalties on the Group or revoke the land use rights
with respect to certain land held by the Group.

Under applicable PRC laws and regulations, if the Group does not commence development on the
land held by the Group for more than one year after the date specified in the relevant land use rights
grant contract, or the Group commences development on an area which is less than one-third of the
area granted, or the capital invested in the development is less than one-fourth of the total investment
approved for the development, and the development is suspended for more than one year without
governmental approval, the PRC Government may impose an idle land fee equal to 20 per cent. of the
land premium or allocation fees. The PRC Government may revoke the land use rights certificate
without compensation if the Group does not commence development for more than two years after
the date specified in the relevant land use rights grant contract without compelling causes. The State
Council issued the Notice on Promoting the Saving and Intensification of Use of Land (%5 B B it 2
HET A LA FH HL%E HT) which states, among other things, that the MLR and other authorities are
required to research and commence the drafting of implementation rules concerning the levy of land
appreciation fees on idle land. Furthermore, MLR issued in August 2009 the Notice on Restricting the
Administration of Construction Land and Promoting the Utilisation of Approved Land (B 1- & I & B
A B s g s P b 7 B A 16 1 A ) b R A B9 248 K1) which reiterates its policy on idle land.

Health and wellness properties business is subject to claims under statutory quality warranties.

Under the Regulations on Administration of Development and Operation of Urban Property (ki 5
Hh 7 B 5% 48 5 HLE 1) promulgated by the State Council on 20 July 1998 and further amended on
29 November 2020, and the Regulations for the Administration of Sale of Commodity Building (7 i
5 8 B 45 B H#) promulgated on 4 April 2001 and effective on 1 June 2001, all property developers
in the PRC must provide certain quality warranties for the properties they sell. The Group is required
to provide these warranties to the purchasers of the properties it develops and sells. Generally, the
Group receives quality warranties from its third-party contractors with respect to its property
projects. If a significant number of claims were brought against the Group under its warranties and if
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the Group is unable to obtain compensation for such claims from third-party contractors in a timely
manner or at all, the Group could incur significant expenses to resolve such claims or face delays in
remedying the related defects, which could in turn harm its reputation, and materially adversely
affect its health and wellness properties business and related financial condition and results of
operations.

The Group may be adversely affected by the performance of third-party contractors.

The Group engages third-party contractors for its businesses including construction of health and
wellness properties projects. The Group generally selects independent contractors through an open
tender process. However, there can be no assurance that the services rendered by any of these
independent contractors or subcontractors will always be satisfactory or meet the Group’s quality and
safety standards. If the performance of any independent contractor is not satisfactory, the Group may
need to replace such contractor or take other actions to remedy the situation, which could adversely
affect the cost and construction progress of its projects. Further, the completion of its projects may be
delayed, and the Group may incur additional costs in some cases due to a contractor’s financial or
other difficulties. In addition, the Group may be asked on short notice to undertake additional
development projects such as relocation housing, infrastructure and public facilities by the
government, and there may be a shortage of contractors that meet the Group’s quality requirements.
Contractors may undertake projects for other companies and developers, engage in risky or unsound
practices or encounter financial or other difficulties, which may affect their ability to complete their
work for the Group on time or within budget. Any of these factors could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Fluctuations in the price of construction materials could adversely affect the Group’s business and
financial performance.

The cost of construction materials, such as steel, which constitutes a significant portion of the
Group’s payments to its construction contractors, may fluctuate. Any increase in the cost of
construction materials may result in additional costs to the Group and may lead to future increases in
construction contract costs. Construction material costs have fluctuated in recent years. Any increase
in the cost of any significant construction materials will adversely impact the Group’s overall
construction costs, which may pose an adverse impact on the profitability of the Group.

The Group is exposed to risks in relation to the inventory it maintains.

As at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the Group’s inventories amounted to RMB39,433.7 million,
RMB47,269.7 million and RMB50,027.2 million, respectively, representing 57.6 per cent., 61.8 per
cent. and 58.9 per cent. of the Group’s current assets for the same periods, respectively. The Group’s
inventories derived mainly from the Group’s health and wellness properties business segment. In
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, the Group had made provision for inventory price
changes in the past three years. As the PRC Government may issue more stringent policies with
respect to the development of property, the value of inventories could be adversely affected, which,
in turn, could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

Failure to obtain sufficient capital on acceptable terms or in a timely manner may adversely affect
the Group’s business and growth prospects.

The Group’s business requires and will continue to require substantial capital expenditure. For the
years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the Group made capital expenditures of RMB1,213.8
million, RMB916.4 million and RMB770.5 million, respectively. The Group has historically satisfied
its capital requirements with cash flows generated from its operating activities, bank loans and bonds
issuance in the PRC.
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The ability of the Group to generate sufficient operating cash flow is affected by a number of factors,
such as the Group’s ability to manage and implement its business activities, changes in general
market conditions, the regulatory environment, governmental policies and the competition in certain
sectors in which the Group operates. Any materially adverse changes in these factors may cause the
Group to experience a capital shortfall. There is no assurance that the Group’s operations are or will
be able to generate sufficient cash to satisfy its cash need at all times, if at all.

Insufficient cash flow generated from the Group’s operating activities will increase the Group’s
reliance on external financing. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total banking facilities of
approximately RMB46.3 billion, of which approximately RMB17.3 billion had not been utilised. The
Group’s ability to access and raise sufficient capital through different sources depends upon a number
of factors, such as the PRC’s economic condition, relationships with key commercial banks,
prevailing conditions in capital markets, regulatory requirements and the Group’s financial condition.
Some of these factors are beyond the Group’s control and there is no assurance that the Group will be
able to procure sufficient funds in a timely manner or to obtain external financing on commercially
acceptable terms. In these cases, the Group may not be able to fund the capital expenditure necessary
to implement its business plans and strategies, which may in turn have a material and adverse impact
on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s business may be affected by natural disasters, epidemics and other acts of God,
including the recent COVID-19 pandemic.

The Group’s business is subject to general economic and social conditions in the PRC. Natural
disasters, epidemics and other acts of God which are beyond the Group’s control may adversely affect
the economy, infrastructure and livelihood of the people in the PRC. The occurrences of epidemics,
such as the recent outbreak of COVID-19 or the past occurrence of Middle East Respiratory
Syndrome, Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS), H5N1 avian flu, human swine flu (also
known as Influenza A or HIN1) or H7N9 avian flu, depending on their scale, have caused and may
continue to cause different degrees of damage to the national and local economies in the PRC.

The outbreak of COVID-19 has caused the delay in resumption of local business in the PRC after the
Chinese New Year holiday in 2020. The COVID-19 has spread all over the world and was declared a
pandemic on 11 March 2020 by the World Health Organisation. The global outbreak of COVID-19
has created negative economic impact and increased volatility in the PRC and global market, which
may in turn adversely affect the Group’s business. Given the high uncertainties associated with the
COVID-19 at the moment, it is difficult to predict how long these conditions will exist and the extent
to which the Group may be affected. Should the disruption to the Group’s operations extend beyond a
specified period, it may materially and adversely affect the Group’s results of operations and
financial condition and may also cause reputation damage. In addition, any further disruption to the
Group’s business activities may negatively affect its liquidity and access to capital.

Moreover, the PRC has experienced natural disasters like earthquakes, floods and droughts in the past
few years. For example, in May 2008 and April 2010, the PRC experienced earthquakes in Sichuan
Province and Qinghai Province, respectively, resulting in the death of tens of thousands of people.
Since the beginning of 2010, there have occurred severe droughts in southwestern China, resulting in
significant economic losses in these areas. Any future occurrence of severe natural disasters in the
PRC may adversely affect its economy and in turn the Group’s business.

Historical financial information of the Group may not be indicative of its current or future results
of operations.

The historical financial information of the Group included in this Offering Circular is not indicative
of its future financial results. For example, the Group has historically experienced low and volatile
net operating cash flow in the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 in the amounts of
RMB2,846.0 million, RMB1,912.4 million and RMB3,992.2 million, respectively. The decreasing
amount of net operating cash flow for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019 was largely due
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to an increase in cash outflows from operating activities resulting from the increase of cash deposits
for the land acquisition in the Group’s health and wellness properties business and an increase of
cash paid to employees. This financial information is not intended to represent or predict the results
of operations of any future periods. The Group’s future results of operations may change materially if
its future growth does not follow the historical trends for various reasons, including factors beyond
its control, such as changes in economic environment, PRC environmental rules and regulations and
the competitive landscape of the industries in which the Group operates its business.

Furthermore, the future results of operations of the Group may also fluctuate or change materially
due to the business model of the Group and the accounting treatments applied thereto. Since
historical financial information of the Group may not be indicative of its current or future results of
operations, there is no assurance that the Group will not record an operating loss in the future, which
may have a negative effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

Significant indebtedness may restrict the Group’s business and increase the Group’s exposure to
various operational risks.

The Group relies on bank loans and proceeds from bond issuances to satisfy a portion of its capital
requirements and the Group has had a significant amount of outstanding indebtedness. As at 31
December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the Group’s total interest-bearing indebtedness comprising
short-term loans, non-current liabilities maturing within one year, other current liabilities, long-term
loans, bonds payable and long-term payables was approximately RMB39,221.3 million, RMB41,362.1
million and RMB45,421.9 million, respectively, representing 41.7 per cent., 40.0 per cent. and 38.7
per cent. of the Group’s total assets for the same periods. Out of the Group’s total indebtedness of
RMB45,421.9 million as at 31 December 2020, RMB31,838.6 million was due within 12 months.

In addition, as at 31 December 2020, the total amount of the Company’s outstanding guarantees for
third parties was approximately RMB95.8 million, representing 0.1 per cent. of the Company’s total
assets for the same period. If any of the subsidiaries benefiting from guarantees provided by the
Company defaults on its borrowings guaranteed by the Company, the lender may exercise its right
under the guarantee to demand repayment from the Company. As a result, the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. Meanwhile, as
at 31 December 2020, assets of the Group with a total book value of RMB22.3 billion were provided
as security to secure the loan facilities of the Company and its subsidiaries. Third-party security
rights may limit the Group’s use of the underlying collateral assets and adversely affect its
operational efficiency. If the Company and its subsidiaries are unable to service and repay their debts
under such loan facilities on a timely basis, the assets provided as security for such bank loans may
be subject to foreclosure, which may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition,
results of operation and prospects.

Substantial indebtedness could impact on the Group’s businesses in a number of ways, including:
. requiring the Group to dedicate part of its operating cash flow to service its indebtedness;
. increasing the Group’s finance costs, thus affecting the overall profits of the Group;

. limiting the Group’s flexibility in planning for or responding to changes in the Group’'s
businesses and the industries in which it operates;

. limiting, together with the financial and other restrictive covenants of the Group’s indebtedness,
among other things, the Group’s ability to borrow additional funds; and

. increasing the Group’s vulnerability to adverse general economic and industry conditions.
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Certain financing contracts entered into by members of the Group may contain operational and
financial restrictions on the Group or, as the case may be, the relevant subsidiary’s business, that (i)
prohibit the borrower from incurring additional indebtedness unless it is able to satisfy certain
financial ratios, (ii) restrict the borrower from creating security or granting guarantees or (iii)
prohibit the borrower from changing its business and corporate structure, without the lender’s prior
consent. The ability of the Company or any of its relevant subsidiaries (as borrower) to meet such
financial restrictions may be affected by events beyond its control. Such restrictions may also
negatively affect the Group’s ability to respond to changes in market conditions, take advantage of
business opportunities the Group believes to be desirable, obtain future financing, fund capital
expenditures, or withstand a continuing or future downturn in its business. Any of these factors could
materially and adversely affect the Group’s ability to satisfy its obligations under the Bonds and
other debt.

If the Company or any of its relevant subsidiaries is unable to comply with the restrictions (including
restrictions on future investments) and covenants in its current or future debt obligations and other
agreements, a default under the terms of such agreements may occur. In the event of a default under
such agreements, the holders of the debt could terminate their commitments to the Company or its
subsidiaries, accelerate the debt and declare all amounts borrowed due and payable or terminate the
agreements, as the case may be. Some of the financing contracts entered into by the Company and its
subsidiaries may contain cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions. As a result, a default by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries under any of such agreements may cause the acceleration of
repayment of not only such debt but also other debt, including the Bonds, or result in a default under
other debt agreements. If any of these events occurs, there can be no assurance that the Company or
its subsidiaries will be able to obtain the lenders’ waiver in a timely manner or that the assets and
cash flow of the Company or its subsidiaries would be sufficient to repay in full all of their
respective debts as they become due, or that the Company or its subsidiaries would be able to find
alternative financing. Even if the Company and its subsidiaries could obtain alternative financing,
there can be no assurance that it would be on terms that are favourable or acceptable to the Company
or, as the case may be, its subsidiaries.

The Group’s results of operations may be susceptible to material fluctuations of interest rates.

The Group has a substantial indebtedness outstanding. Some of the Group’s indebtedness bears
interest that accrues at interest rates linked to benchmark lending rates published by PBOC. Any
material fluctuation in the benchmark lending rate may have a material impact on the Group’s interest
expenses and payables under its bank loans and in turn affect its results of operations. The PRC
Government from time to time adjusted interest rates as implementation of the PRC Government’s
economic and monetary policies. Since the outbreak of the global financial crisis in 2008, the PRC
Government started to lower benchmark lending rates to encourage borrowing and stimulate the
recovery of the country’s economy. Beginning in 2008, PBOC decreased the benchmark one-year
lending rate five times, from 7.47 per cent. to 5.31 per cent. in December 2008, which remained
unchanged until September 2010. Since then, the one-year lending rate was gradually increased to
6.56 per cent. on 7 July 2011 and onwards. In recent years, a perceivable slowdown in the growth of
China’'s economy again caused the PRC Government to adopt more liberal monetary policies with an
aim to stimulate its economic development. Since 2012, PBOC reduced the benchmark one-year
lending rate a number of times to 4.35 per cent. as at 24 October 2015 and onwards. In August 2019,
the PBOC adopted measures to increase the influence of the loan prime rate (the “LPR”) as part of
its broader market-based reforms of the PRC’s interest rate market. The LPR serves as the benchmark
for market interest rates in the PRC. As at the date of this Offering Circular, the one-year LPR is at
3.85 per cent. Although the Group’s business and financial condition may benefit from the low
prevailing interest rates in the market, there is no assurance that this low-interest environment will
continue. Any increase in benchmark lending rates by PBOC in the future will increase the Group’s
financing costs and adversely affect the Group’s profitability, financial condition and results of
operations.
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Any failure to maintain an effective quality control system could have an adverse effect on the
Group’s business and operations.

The Group relies heavily on its quality control systems to ensure the safety and quality of its projects
and products. Therefore it needs to maintain an effective quality control system for the Group’s retail,
pharmaceutical and health and wellness properties businesses and several other businesses. The
effectiveness of the Group’s quality control system depends significantly on a number of factors,
including a timely update of the quality control system to suit the ever-changing business needs, the
related training programmes as well as its ability to ensure that the Group’'s and the contractors’
employees adhere to its quality control policies and guidelines. There can be no assurance that the
quality of the projects undertaken by the Group will always meet the required standard. Any failure
or deterioration of the Group’s quality control systems could result in defects in its projects, which in
turn may subject the Group to contractual, product liability and other claims. Any such claims,
regardless of whether they are ultimately successful, could cause the Group to incur significant costs,
harm its business reputation and result in significant disruption to its operations. Furthermore, if any
of such claims are ultimately successful, the Group could be required to pay substantial monetary
damages or penalties. Although the Group believes that its quality control systems have functioned
properly, there can be no assurance that failures in its quality control systems will not occur in the
future, and any such failure could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business and operations.

The Group may be subject to product liability claims relating to defective products provided by
suppliers and, as a result, the Group’s reputation and operating results may be adversely affected.

The Group’s businesses, in particular its retail and pharmaceutical operations, are exposed to risks
associated with the manufacturing and/or distribution of products, such as manufacturing and/or
distributing unsafe, defective or counterfeit products and product spoilage during transportation or in
storage. According to existing PRC law and regulations, manufacturers, suppliers and retailers who
produce or sell defective goods in the PRC shall be liable for the damage or personal injury caused
by such products. This renders the Group liable for loss or injury arising from defective products that
the Group sells at its retail stores. In addition, the Group may be required to recall defective products
or take other remedial measures. Furthermore, customers may institute product liability claims
against the Group. Although some of the Group’s suppliers may be obligated to indemnify the Group
for any claims brought against the Group concerning products supplied by the suppliers under certain
agreements, however, there is no assurance that the suppliers will have adequate financial resources
or insurance coverage to perform such indemnification. The Group therefore cannot assure that the
Group will be successful in obtaining such indemnity payments or that indemnity payments will fully
cover all of the Group’s costs associated with the original liability. Even though the Group has
product liability insurance to cover potential liability arising from the use of the products that the
Group sells, product liability insurance in China offers limited coverage compared to coverage
offered in many other countries. Furthermore, if the Group is found to be responsible for damage
caused by defective goods, the Group’s reputation may be adversely affected, which could lead to a
loss of consumer confidence in the Group and a corresponding reduction in the Group’s sales. Such
event is likely to have an adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The Group’s business depends significantly on market recognition of the Group’s brands. If the
Group is not able to maintain or enhance its brand recognition, the Group’s business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group operates its business under a strong brand portfolio, consisting primarily of “INZONE (4R
JE)”, “FREDA (ffii#£)” and “LUSHANG (#1)”. The Group believes its brand image has
contributed significantly to the success of the Group’s business, and, therefore, maintaining and
enhancing the recognition, image and acceptance of Group’s brands are critical to its ability to
differentiate its products and services from and to compete effectively with its peers. The Group’s
brand image, however, could be jeopardized if the Group fails to maintain high product quality,
pioneer and keep pace with evolving customer preferences, or timely fulfill orders for popular items.
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In addition, any negative publicity or disputes regarding the products the Group offers, the suppliers
the Group sources merchandises from, the services the Group provides, the Group or its management
could also materially harm the Group’s brand image. Failure to successfully promote and maintain the
image of any of the Group’s brands would have a material adverse effect on Group’s business, results
of operations and financial condition.

General declines or disruptions in the tourism industry may materially and adversely affect the
Group’s cultural tourism business and results of operations.

The Group’s cultural tourism business may be subject to cyclical fluctuations. The Group’s cultural
tourism business typically experiences larger sales during festive and holiday seasons, including the
Chinese New Year, Labour Day, the Mid-Autumn Festival and the National Day. As a result of
seasonal fluctuations, the results of operations of the Group’s cultural tourism business during one
period may not be comparable with that of any other period of the year.

In addition, the recent COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on tourism industry due to
the business and travel restrictions imposed by the government to prevent the spread of the
COVID-19. As a result, some of the scenic areas and hotels that the Group operates were temperately
closed during the Chinese New Year holiday, typically a peak season for travel. There is no assurance
that the Group has sufficient resources to capture business opportunities during peak seasons, or that
the Group will be able to effectively respond to a decline in market demand during the slow season
or unpredicted health, social and economic emergency. Failure to do so may materially and adversely
affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group’s cultural tourism business depends significantly on the Group’s successful operation of
its existing business sites and ancillary facilities, and the overall growth of the tourism industry in
the PRC.

The Group’s cultural tourism business is one of the Group’s major and promising businesses. The
Group operates and manages a number of hotels, scenic areas, travel agencies, cultural tourism
investment business and other cultural tourism related business. The Group derives revenue from its
cultural tourism business varying from earnings from ancillary facilities in hotels, ticket proceeds of
scenic areas and sales of service and products. The business prospects of the Group’s cultural tourism
business are subject to the successful operation of the Group’s existing business sites and any further
expansions, as well as the overall growth of the tourism industry in the PRC.

As the tourism industry in the PRC is still in its development stage, any changes to its growth trend
may adversely affect the Group’s performance of its cultural tourism business. In addition, given the
importance of the cultural tourism business to the Group’s overall operation, any material adverse
developments, such as changes in government policies or the general economic conditions in
Shandong Province or the PRC, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The Group’s success depends on the continuing service of its management team and qualified
employees and any failure to attract and retain competent personnel may adversely affect the
Group’s business.

The success of the Group’s multiple businesses has been, and will continue to be, heavily dependent
upon the continuing service of the directors of the Company and members of its senior management.
If the Group loses the services of any of the Group’s key executives and cannot replace them in a
timely manner, the Group’s business may be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, the Group’s success depends on its ability to attract and retain key personnel who possess
in-depth knowledge and understanding of the industries in which the Group invests or operates. These
key personnel include members of the Group’s senior management, experienced finance
professionals, project development and management personnel, and other operation personnel.
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Competition for attracting and retaining these individuals is intensive. Such competition may require
the Group to offer higher compensation and other benefits in order to attract and retain qualified
professionals, which could materially and adversely affect the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations. As a result, the Group may be unable to attract or retain these personnel to achieve its
business objectives and the failure to do so could severely disrupt its business and prospects. For
example, the Group may not be able to hire enough qualified personnel to support its new investment
projects or business expansion. As the Group expands its business or hires new employees, such new
employees may take time to get accustomed to any new standard procedures and consequently may
not comply with the standard procedures of such new business in an accurate and timely manner. The
occurrence of any of the events discussed above could lead to unexpected loss to the Group and
adversely affect its revenue and financial condition.

The Group may not be able to detect or prevent fraud or other misconduct committed by its
employees or third parties.

The Group is a large conglomerate with thousands of employees. Fraud or other misconduct by the
Group’s employees, such as unauthorized business transactions, bribery and breach of Group’s
internal policies and procedures, or by third parties, such as breach of law, may be difficult to detect
or prevent. It could subject the Group to financial loss and sanctions imposed by governmental
authorities while seriously damaging the Group’s reputation. This may also impair its ability to
effectively attract prospective customers, develop customer loyalty, obtain financing on favourable
terms, compete in invitations to tender and conduct other business activities. The Group’s risk
management systems, information technology systems and internal control procedures are designed to
monitor its operations and overall compliance. However, the Group may be unable to identify
non-compliance or suspicious transactions promptly, or at all. Furthermore, it is not always possible
to detect and prevent fraud or other misconduct committed by its employees or third parties, and the
precautions the Group takes to prevent and detect such activities may not be effective. Therefore, the
Group is subject to the risk that fraud or other misconduct may have previously occurred but was
undetected, or may occur in the future. This may materially and adversely affect the Group’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Measures to protect the Group’s intellectual property rights against infringement may not be
adequate and the Group may be exposed to infringement claims.

The Group has a large amount of intellectual property rights in the forms of patents, trademarks and
copyrights primarily in the PRC. It also possesses certain trade secrets, proprietary technologies and
know-how. Existing laws in the PRC may not be able to effectively protect the Group’s intellectual
property rights from infringement acts and enforcement procedures may be protracted, costly or
ineffective. The Group relies upon a combination of patent, copyright and trademark laws, trade
secrets, confidentiality policies, non-disclosure and other contractual arrangements to protect its
intellectual property rights; however, the steps the Group takes in this regard may not be adequate to
prevent or deter infringement or other misappropriation of its intellectual property rights. The
Group’s products may be subject to unauthorized copying or other misappropriation. There is no
assurance that the Group will be able to detect unauthorized use or take appropriate, timely and
effective actions to enforce its intellectual property rights.

While the Group is developing measures to protect its intellectual property rights, the Group’'s
competitors may have independently developed technologies or designs of products that contain
similarities to the Group’s, and these competitors may have applied for registration of patents or
other intellectual property rights in respect of their technologies or designs. The competitors or other
third parties may consider the Group’s application of certain intellectual properties an infringement of
their intellectual property rights. In addition, as the Group procures various products and services
from third-party suppliers, the Group may be involved in infringement claims against the suppliers
from whom the Group purchases products and services that are alleged to infringe certain intellectual
property rights in the future. As a result, the Group may be exposed to infringement claims even
where there may be a genuine case in the Group’s favour. Any involvement in intellectual property
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rights infringement litigation may result in substantial costs, reputational damage and diversion of
resources and management attention. If the Group is barred from using certain material trademarks,
technologies, designs or other intellectual properties and fails to develop non-infringing substitutes or
replacements or to obtain licenses to such intellectual properties, the Group’s business operations
may be interrupted and the Group’s financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

The Group may be subject to legal, litigation and regulatory proceedings.

From time to time, the Group may be involved in disputes that arise during the ordinary course of
business with various parties such as residents, contractors, customers and suppliers. These disputes
may lead to legal or other proceedings and may result in damage to the Group’s reputation and
operations, substantial costs and diversion of resources and management’s attention.

In addition, the Group may have disagreements or compliance issues with regulatory bodies in the
course of its operations, which may subject it to administrative proceedings and unfavourable decrees
that may result in liabilities and cause delays to its projects. Also, in the event that the Group makes
any other investments or acquisitions in the future, there can be no assurance that the Group would
not have any exposure to any litigation or arbitration proceedings or other liabilities relating to the
acquired businesses or entities.

The Guarantor’s consolidated financial statements included in this Offering Circular have been
prepared and presented in accordance with the PRC GAAP, which are different from IFRS in
certain respects.

The Guarantor’s consolidated financial statements included in this Offering Circular have been
prepared and presented in accordance with PRC GAAP. PRC GAAP is substantially in line with
IFRS, except for certain modifications. See “Summary of Certain Differences between PRC GAAP
and IFRS" for details. Each investor should consult its own professional advisers for an
understanding of the differences between PRC GAAP and IFRS and/or between PRC GAAP and other
generally accepted accounting principles, and how those differences might affect the financial
information contained herein.

The auditors of the Guarantor have received adverse regulatory decisions and warnings issued by
relevant PRC authorities in recent years.

Each of Jonten, the auditor of the Guarantor for the year ended 31 December 2019, and CAAP, the
auditor of the Guarantor for the year ended 31 December 2020, is a registered accounting firm in the
PRC supervised by relevant PRC regulatory agencies, including MOF and the China Securities
Regulatory Commission.

CAAP was previously subject to certain administrative and regulatory actions in connection with its
provision of audit services to certain PRC companies. As confirmed by CAAP, the companies
involved in the administrative and regulatory actions were all unrelated to the Group and the audit
work performed for the Group is not affected by such administrative and regulatory actions and the
audit report included elsewhere in this Offering Circular remains valid and effective. CAAP also
confirmed that its ability to provide comfort letters and the qualification of the auditors involved in
respect of this issue of the Bonds are not affected by such administrative and regulatory actions.

However, the Guarantor’s auditors and their management, officers or employees may from time to
time be investigated by PRC regulatory agencies such as MOF and the China Securities Regulatory
Commission and may be subject to adverse regulatory decisions, warnings, sanctions, penalties and/or
revocations and suspension of business operations as a result of such investigations. Adverse
regulatory decisions, warnings, sanctions, penalties and/or revocations and suspension of business
operations against the Guarantor’'s auditors may restrict the relevant auditors from providing audit
services or other services in connection with the Group’s financing transactions. In that case, the
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Guarantor may have to discontinue its engagement with the relevant auditors, which may adversely
affect its business operations and harm its reputation. Also, any adverse regulatory decisions,
warnings, sanctions, penalties and/or revocations and suspension of business operations against the
Guarantor’s auditors may affect investor’s confidence in the Guarantor’s financial statements audited
by its auditors. Potential investors should consider these factors prior to making any investment
decision.

Investors should not place any reliance on the financial information which is unreviewed or
unaudited.

The Guarantor publishes annual, semi-annual and quarterly consolidated financial information in the
PRC to satisfy its continuing disclosure obligations relating to its debt securities issued in the PRC
according to applicable PRC regulations and rules of the stock exchanges on which the relevant
securities are listed. The semi-annual and quarterly consolidated financial information of the
Guarantor is derived from the Group’s management accounts and are normally unaudited or
unreviewed by independent auditors. Unless specifically included in this Offering Circular, such
financial information does not form part of this Offering Circular, and should not be referred to or
relied upon by potential investors to provide the same quality of information associated with any
audited or reviewed financial information. The Guarantor is not responsible to holders of the Bonds
for the financial information from time to time published in the PRC and therefore investors should
not place any reliance on any such financial information. The Guarantor’s published financial
information in the PRC may be adjusted or restated by the Guarantor to address retrospective impacts
of subsequent changes in applicable accounting standards, the Guarantor’s accounting policies and/or
applicable laws and regulations affecting the Group’s financial reporting, to reflect the subsequent
comments given by the independent auditors during the course of their audit or review or to correct
errors in its published financial statements. Such adjustment or restatement may cause discrepancies
between the financial information with respect to a particular period or date published in the past on
the one hand and the financial information with respect to the same period or date subsequently
published in the PRC or the relevant financial information contained in this Offering Circular on the
other hand.

The Guarantor’s current auditors have limited international capital markets experience.

The Guarantor’s independent auditors, Jonten and CAAP, are registered members of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Group’s auditors have significant audit experience in
the PRC, however, they have limited international capital markets experience. Prospective investors
should consider these factors prior to making any investment decision.

Risks relating to the PRC

China has experienced a slowdown in its economic development and the future performance of
China’s economy is uncertain.

The economy of China experienced rapid growth in the past 40 years. There has been a slowdown in
the growth of China's GDP since the second half of 2013 which has raised market concerns that the
historic rapid growth of the economy of China may not be sustainable. According to the National
Statistics Bureau of the PRC, the annual growth rate of China’'s GDP in 2015 slowed down to 6.9 per
cent. compared to 7.3 per cent. in 2014, and it further decreased to 6.7 per cent. in 2016. In 2017, the
annual growth rate of China’s GDP was 6.9 per cent., and it decreased to 6.6 per cent. in 2018. In
2019, the annual growth rate of China’'s GDP slowed down to 6.1 per cent., and it further decreased
to 2.3 per cent. in 2020. In March 2016, Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Ratings
Services changed China's credit rating outlook to “negative” from “stable,” which highlighted the
country’s surging debt burden and questioned the government’s ability to enact reforms. In May
2017, Moody’s Investors Service changed China’s credit rating outlook to “stable” but lowered PRC’s
sovereign rating from Aa3 to Al. In September 2017, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services lowered
China’s sovereign credit rating from AA- to A+.
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The future performance of China's economy is not only affected by the economic and monetary
policies of the PRC Government, but is also exposed to material changes in global economic and
political environments as well as the performance of certain major developed economies in the world.
For example, the international trade environment and various governments' trade and economic
policies, particularly the recent trade conflicts between China and the United States, may cause
uncertainties to China’'s economy and financial, foreign exchange and capital markets. In addition,
the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union took place on 31 January 2020, where the
United Kingdom legally revoked its membership in the 28-nation European Union. The United
Kingdom then entered into the transition period which was agreed between the British government
and the European Union. There is also substantial uncertainty relating to the impact of the United
Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union on the economic conditions of other part of the
world, such as China's, including but not limited to further decreases in global stock exchange
indices, increased foreign exchange volatility (in particular a further weakening of the pound sterling
and euro against other leading currencies) and a possible economic recession involving more
countries and areas. On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the COVID-19 as a
global pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a number of countries declaring a state of
emergency and a number of countries, including China, Japan, the United States, members of the
European Union and the United Kingdom, imposing extensive business and travel restrictions with a
view to containing the pandemic. Widespread reductions in consumption, industrial production and
business activities arising from the COVID-19 pandemic will significantly disrupt the global
economy and global markets and is likely to result in a global economic recession. In addition,
COVID-19 has led to significant volatility in the global markets across all asset classes, including
stocks, bonds, oil and other commodities and this volatility may persist for some time.

As such, there continues to be uncertainty for the overall prospects for the global and the PRC
economies this year and beyond. Any material change in the financial markets, the PRC economy or
regional economies as a result of these events or developments may materially and adversely affect
the Issuer and the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

PRC economic, political and social conditions as well as government policies could adversely affect
the Group’s business.

Substantial all of the Group’s assets are located in the PRC. Accordingly, the Group’s financial
condition, results of operations and prospects are, to a material extent, subject to economic, political
and legal developments in the PRC. The PRC economy differs from the economies of most developed
countries in many respects, including with respect to government involvement, level of development,
economic growth rate, control of foreign exchange and allocation of resources. The PRC economy
has been transitioning from a planned economy to a more market-oriented economy. In recent years,
the PRC Government has implemented a series of measures emphasizing market forces for economic
reform, the reduction of state ownership of productive assets and the establishment of sound
corporate governance in business enterprises.

However, a large portion of productive assets in China remain owned by the PRC Government. The
PRC Government continues to play a significant role in regulating industrial development, the
allocation of resources, production, pricing and management, and there can be no assurance that the
PRC Government will continue to pursue the economic reforms or that any such reforms will not
have an adverse effect on the Group’s business.

The Group’s operations and financial results could also be affected by changes in political, economic
and social conditions or the relevant policies of the PRC Government, such as changes in laws and
regulations (or the interpretation thereof). If the PRC’s economic growth slows down or if the PRC
economy experiences a recession, the growth of demands for the Group’s products and services may
also slow down or stop, and its business prospects may be materially and adversely affected. The
Group’s operations and financial results, as well as its ability to satisfy its obligations under the
Bonds, could also be materially and adversely affected by changes to or introduction of measures to
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control inflation, changes in the rate or method of taxation, the imposition of additional restrictions
on currency conversion and the imposition of additional import restrictions.

Interpretation and implementation of PRC laws and regulations involves significant uncertainties.

Many of the Group’s subsidiaries are incorporated and exist under the laws of the PRC. The Chinese
legal system is based on written statutes. Prior court decisions may be cited for reference but are not
binding on subsequent cases and have limited precedential value. Since 1979, the Chinese legislative
bodies have promulgated laws and regulations dealing with such economic matters as foreign
investment, corporate organisation and governance, commerce, taxation and trade. However, as these
laws and regulations involve significant uncertainties. As the Chinese legal system develops, there
can be no assurance that changes in such laws and regulations, or in their interpretation or
enforcement, will not have a material adverse effect on the business operations.

In addition, many of the PRC laws and regulations are relatively new and evolving, subject to
different interpretations, and may be inconsistently implemented and enforced. Only limited volumes
of published court decisions may be cited for reference, and such cases have limited precedential
value as they are not binding on subsequent cases. These uncertainties relating to the interpretation,
implementation and enforcement of PRC laws and regulations and a system of jurisprudence that
gives only limited precedential value to prior court decisions can affect the legal remedies and
protections available to investors, and can adversely affect the value of investment.

For example, NDRC issued the Circular on Promoting the Reform of the Administrative System on
the Issuance by Enterprises of Foreign Debt Filings and Registrations (Fa Gai Wai Zi [2015] No.
2044) (I8 5% %% Ji i o 2 B e A A A SE SR AT AMELA SR RS A B O R N (3R R4 [2015] 204458),
the “NDRC Circular 2044”) on 14 September 2015, which came into effect on the same day.
According to the NDRC Circular 2044, if a PRC enterprise or an offshore enterprise controlled by a
PRC enterprise wishes to issue bonds outside of the PRC with a maturity of more than one year, the
enterprise must, prior to issuing such bonds, register the issuance with the NDRC and obtain a
registration certificate from the NDRC in respect of the issuance (an “NDRC pre-issuance
registration certificate”). Such enterprise must also file certain details of the bonds with NDRC
within 10 business days of the completion of the bond issuance.

Uncertainties remain as to how the NDRC will further interpret, implement and enforce the NDRC
Circular 2044. As a result, there is a risk that an NDRC post-issuance notification may not be
completed in time or at all. It remains uncertain if the Company would be subject to any specific
penalty if it fails (including for reasons outside of the Company’s control) to complete the NDRC
post-issuance notification within the required timeframe.

Furthermore, the administration of PRC laws and regulations may be subject to a certain degree of
discretion by the executive authorities. This has resulted in the outcome of dispute resolutions not
being as consistent or predictable compared to more developed jurisdictions. In addition, it may be
difficult to obtain a swift and equitable enforcement of laws in China, or the enforcement of
judgments by a court of another jurisdiction. These uncertainties relating to the interpretation and
implementation of PRC laws and regulations may adversely affect the legal protections and remedies
that are available to the Group in its operations and to holders of the Bonds.

Investors may experience difficulties in effecting service of legal process, enforcing foreign
judgments or bringing original actions in the PRC based on Hong Kong or other foreign laws
against the Group and its directors or senior management.

The Group with its subsidiaries is incorporated under the laws of the PRC with a substantial part of
its assets located in China. In addition, most of the Group’s directors and members of the senior
management reside within China, and substantially all of the assets owned by these persons are
located within China. As a result, it may not be possible to effect service of process outside China
upon the Group’s directors, executive officers or members of its respective senior management,
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including with respect to matters arising under applicable securities laws. Furthermore, an original
action may be brought in the PRC against the Group, or its directors, executive officers or members
of its respective senior management only if the actions are not required to be arbitrated by PRC law
and their respective articles of association, and only if the facts alleged in the complaint give rise to
a cause of action under PRC law. In connection with any such original action, a PRC court may
award civil liability, including monetary damages.

Government control of currency conversion and the fluctuation of the Renminbi may materially
and adversely affect the Group’s operations and financial results.

The Group receives substantially all of its revenues in Renminbi, which currently is not a freely
convertible currency. A portion of these revenues must be converted into other currencies to allow the
Group to make payments on obligations denominated in currencies other than the Renminbi.

The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other currencies fluctuates and is affected by,
among other things, changes in China’s political and economic conditions. On 21 July 2005, the PRC
Government introduced a managed floating exchange rate system to allow the value of the Renminbi
to fluctuate within a regulated band based on market supply and demand and by reference to a basket
of currencies. Since then, the PRC Government has made, and may in the future make, further
adjustments to the exchange rate system. PBOC announces the closing price of a foreign currency
traded against the Renminbi in the inter-bank foreign exchange market after the closing of the market
on each working day, and makes it the central parity for the trading against the Renminbi on the
following working day. The People’s Bank of China surprised markets in August 2015 by thrice
devaluing the Renminbi, lowering its daily mid-point trading price significantly against the U.S.
dollar. The currency devaluation of the Renminbi was intended to bring it more in line with the
market by taking market signals into account. Renminbi depreciated significantly against the U.S.
dollar following such August 2015 announcement by PBOC. In January and February 2016, Renminbi
experienced further fluctuation in value against the U.S. dollar. With an increased floating range of
the Renminbi’s value against foreign currencies and a more market-oriented mechanism for
determining the mid-point exchange rates, the Renminbi may further appreciate or depreciate
significantly in value against the U.S. dollar or other foreign currencies in the long-term. Any
significant appreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar or other foreign currencies may result
in the decrease in the value of the Group’s foreign currency-denominated assets. Conversely, any
significant depreciation of the Renminbi may adversely affect the value of the Group’s businesses and
its proceeds from the Offering. In addition, there are limited instruments available for the Group to
reduce its foreign currency risk exposure at reasonable costs. All of these factors could materially
and adversely affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions and results of operations.

The operations of the Group may be affected by rising inflation rates within the PRC.

Economic growth in the PRC has historically been accompanied by periods of high inflation. The
PRC government has implemented various policies from time to time to control inflation. The PRC
government has periodically introduced measures in certain sectors to avoid overheating of the
economy, including tighter bank lending policies, increases in bank interest rates, and measures to
curb inflation, which have resulted in a decrease in the rate of inflation. However, inflation rates
within the PRC have been on a sharp uptrend in recent years. Increasing inflation rates are due to
many factors beyond the Group’s control, such as rising food prices, rising production and labour
costs, high lending levels, PRC and foreign governmental policies and regulations, and movements in
exchange rates and interest rates. It is impossible to accurately predict future inflationary trends. As a
result, further inflationary pressures within the PRC may have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business and financial conditions and results of operations, as well as their liquidity and
profitability.
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Governmental foreign exchange control may affect the value of investment.

The PRC Government imposes controls on the convertibility of Renminbi into foreign currencies and,
in certain cases, the remittance of currency out of the PRC. Shortages in the availability of foreign
currency may restrict the Group’s ability to remit sufficient foreign currency to provide support to the
Group to satisfy the Group’'s foreign currency denominated obligation. If the foreign exchange
control system prevents the Group from obtaining sufficient foreign currency to satisfy its currency
demands, the Group may not be able to provide support to the Group to make interest and principal
payments under the Bonds.

The implementation of PRC employment regulations may increase labour costs in the PRC
generally.

The PRC Labour Contract Law (' # A I A1 5 25 8 4 [7] %) became effective on 1 January 2008 in
the PRC and was amended on 28 December 2012. It imposes more stringent requirements on
employers in relation to entry into fixed-term employment contracts and dismissal of employees.
Pursuant to the PRC Labour Contract Law, the employer is required to make compensation payment
to a fixed-term contract employee when the term of their employment contract expires, unless the
employee does not agree to renew the contract even though the conditions offered by the employer
for renewal are the same as or better than those stipulated in the current employment contract. In
general, the amount of compensation payment is equal to the monthly wage of the employee
multiplied by the number of full years that the employee has worked for the employer. A minimum
wage requirement has also been incorporated into the PRC Labour Contract Law. In addition, unless
otherwise prohibited by the PRC. Labour Contract Law or objected to by the employees themselves,
the employer is also required to enter into non-fixed-term employment contracts with employees who
have previously entered into fixed-term employment contracts for two consecutive terms.

In addition, under the Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees (H T 71 37 4 PR A8 5 41)),
which became effective on 1 January 2008, employees who have worked continuously for more than
one year are entitled to paid annual leave ranging from 5 to 15 days, depending on the length of the
employees’ work time. Employees who consent to waive such vacation at the request of employers
shall be compensated an amount equal to three times their normal daily salaries for each vacation day
being waived. Under the National Leisure and Tourism Outline 2013-2020 ([ [ jife % 1A 4] 41 %
2013-2020) which became effective on 2 February 2013, the system of paid annual leave for
employees shall have been basically implemented by 2020. As a result of the PRC Labour Contract
Law, the Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees and the National Leisure and Tourism
Outline 2013-2020, the Group’s labour costs (inclusive of those incurred by contractors) may
increase. Further, under the PRC Labour Contract Law, when an employer terminates its PRC
employees’ employment, the employer may be required to compensate them for such amount which is
determined based on their length of service with the employer, and the employer may not be able to
efficiently terminate non-fixed-term employment contracts under the PRC Labour Contract Law
without cause. In the event the Group decides to significantly change or decrease its workforce, the
PRC Labour Contract Law could adversely affect its ability to effect these changes in a cost-effective
manner or in the manner that the Group desires, which could result in an adverse impact on the
Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, in the event that there is a labour shortage or a significant increase to labour costs, the
Group’s business operation costs is likely to increase. In such circumstances, the profit margin may
decrease and the financial results may be adversely affected. In addition, inflation in the PRC has
increased in recent years. Inflation in the PRC increases the costs of raw materials required by the
Group for conducting its business and the costs of labour as well. Rising labour costs may increase
the Group’s operating costs and partially erode the cost advantage of the Group’s operations and
therefore negatively impact the Group’s profitability.
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There can be no assurance of the accuracy or comparability of facts and statistics contained in this
Offering Circular with respect to the PRC, its economy or the relevant industry.

Facts, forecasts and other statistics in this Offering Circular relating to the PRC, its economy or the
relevant industry in which the Group operates have been directly or indirectly derived from official
government publications and certain other public industry sources and although the Group believes
such facts and statistics are accurate and reliable, it cannot guarantee the quality or the reliability of
such source materials. They have not been prepared or independently verified by the Issuer, the
Guarantor, the Trustee, the Agents or any of its or their respective affiliates, employees, officers,
directors, agents, advisers or representatives, and, therefore, the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee,
the Agents or any of its or their respective affiliates, employees, officers, directors, agents, advisers
or representatives makes no representation as to the completeness, accuracy or fairness of such facts
or other statistics, which may not be consistent with other information compiled within or outside the
PRC. Due to possibly flawed or ineffective collection methods or discrepancies between published
information and market practice and other problems, the statistics herein may be incomplete,
inaccurate or unfair or may not be comparable to statistics produced for other economies or the same
or similar industries in other countries and should not be unduly relied upon. Furthermore, there is no
assurance that they are stated or compiled on the same basis or with the same degree of accuracy as
may be the case elsewhere. In all cases, investors should give consideration as to how much weight
or importance they should attach to or place on such facts or other statistics.

The PRC government’s pilot plan to replace business tax with value-added tax (the “VAT”) may
subject the Group to more taxes, which could adversely affect the Group’s business, results of
operations and prospects.

In November 2011, the MOF and the State Administration of Taxation (the “SAT”) promulgated the
Pilot Plan for Imposition of Value-Added Tax to Replace Business Tax (4 51 i & (E Bl il 25 %).
Pursuant to this pilot plan and relevant subsequent notices, from 1 January 2012, VAT gradually
replaced business tax in the transport and post industry, telecom industry and some of the modern
service industries in the PRC. Under the pilot plan, a VAT rate of six per cent. applies to certain
modern service industries. On 23 March 2016, the MOF and the SAT promulgated the Circular on
Comprehensively Promoting the Pilot Programme of the Collection of Value-Added Tax to Replace
Business Tax ([ 4 1 4 BH /2 3£ 80 o (BB BE Y 48 40) (“Circular 36”). Pursuant to Circular 36,
starting from 1 May 2016, the VAT pilot programme will cover construction industry, real estate
industry, finance industry and life service industry on a nation-wide basis. Although the VAT pilot
programme is mainly intended to reduce double taxation under the business tax system, the Group
may be subject to more taxes under the VAT pilot programme in connection with the Group’s
operations and activities in the PRC, which could adversely affect the Group’s business, results of
operations and prospects.

The payment of dividends by the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s respective operating subsidiaries in
the PRC is subject to restrictions under the PRC law.

The PRC laws require that dividends be paid only out of net profit, calculated according to the PRC
accounting principles, which differ from generally accepted accounting principles in other
jurisdictions. In addition, the PRC law requires enterprises set aside part of their net profit as
statutory reserves before distributing the net profit for the current financial year. These statutory
reserves are not available for distribution as cash dividends. Since the availability of funds to fund
the Group’s operations and to service its indebtedness depends upon dividends received from these
subsidiaries, any legal restrictions on the availability and usage of dividend payments from the
Group’s respective subsidiaries may impact the Guarantor’s abilities to fund its operations and to
service its indebtedness.
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Risks relating to the Bonds and the Guarantee

Neither the Shandong Provincial Government nor any other PRC governmental entity is obligated
to repay any amount under the Bonds or the Trust Deed if the Issuer or the Guarantor fails to
meet its obligations thereunder.

The Guarantor is beneficially controlled and owned by the Shandong Provincial Government with
Shandong SASAC as its registered controlling shareholder. However, neither the Shandong Provincial
Government nor any other PRC governmental entity is under any obligation to pay any amount under
the Bonds or the Trust Deed if the Issuer or the Guarantor fails to meet its obligations thereunder.
This position has been reinforced by the Circular of the Ministry of Finance on Issues relevant to the
Regulation on the Financing Activities Conducted by Financial Institutions for Local Governments
and State-owned Enterprises (4 BE i B i 4 4> 25 35 Oy O A B A A SE AR R0E AT 2 A B A
1) 48 0 (4 4:[2018] 23%%) (the “MOF Circular”) promulgated on 28 March 2018 and took effect on
the same day, the Circular of the National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of
Finance on Improvement of Market Regulatory Regime and Strict Prevention of Foreign Debt Risks
and Local Government Indebtedness Risks ([ 2% i ol 45 2 B BUHS B i 58 35 T 35 4 SO i) i 4% )7 o
AME JEL B AN b 8 S R ) 48 ) (Fa Gai Wai Zi [2018] 706) (the “Joint Circular”) promulgated on
11 May 2018 and took effect on the same day, and the Circular of the General Office of the National
Development and Reform Commission on the Requirements for Local State-owned Enterprises to
Apply for Record and Registration of Foreign Debt Issuance (|5 5 % J Bl 4 23 3/ B B i 364y B0 A
2L BT HME B E M R FCAA B E SR A8 A1) (Fa Gai Ban Wai Zi [2019] No. 666), promulgated on 6
June 2019 and took effect on the same day. The PRC government and the Shandong Provincial
Government have no obligation to pay any amount under the Bonds. Investments in the Bonds are
relying on the credit risk of the Issuer and the Guarantor. As a result, no financial support from the
Shandong Provincial Government nor any other the PRC governmental entity may materialise. The
Shandong Provincial Government only has limited liability in the form of its equity contribution in
the Guarantor, and the Bonds are to be repaid solely by the Issuer or the Guarantor and the
obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor under the Bonds or the Trust Deed shall solely be fulfilled
by the Issuer and the Guarantor as an independent legal person. If the Issuer or the Guarantor does
not fulfil its obligations under the Bonds and the Trust Deed, the Bondholders will only have
recourse against the Issuer or the Guarantor, and not the Shandong Provincial Government or any
other PRC governmental entity. Investors should base their investment decision on the financial
condition of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Group and any perceived credit risk associated with an
investment in the Bonds based on the Group’s own financial information reflected in its financial
statements.

The Issuer has limited assets, which affects its ability to make payments under the Bonds and
relies on the cash flows generated by other members of the Group to meet its obligations under the
Bonds.

The Issuer is a special purpose vehicle incorporated for the purpose of financing the business
operations of the Group. Since its incorporation, the Issuer has had no substantive assets or any
business operations. After the Bonds are issued, it will on-lend the proceeds from the issuance to the
Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries. Until the borrower makes a payment of principal or interest to
the Issuer pursuant to the on-lending arrangement, or until the Guarantor or the other members of the
Group injects capital into the Issuer via other means, the Issuer will have no substantive assets to
finance the payments of any amount under the Bonds.

If the Guarantor fails to complete the relevant Cross-Border Security Registration within the time
period prescribed by SAFE, there may be logistical hurdles for cross-border payments under the
Guarantee.

Pursuant to each Deed of Guarantee, the Guarantor will unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee the

due payment of all sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Bonds and the Trust Deed.
The Guarantor is required to submit each Deed of Guarantee to the local SAFE for registration in
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accordance with, and within the time period prescribed by the Provisions on the Foreign Exchange
Administration of Cross-Border Guarantees (¥5i5#5{R4/MESE HHE) promulgated by SAFE on 12
May 2014 which came into effect on 1 June 2014. Although non-registration with SAFE does not
render the Guarantee ineffective or invalid under the PRC laws, SAFE may impose penalties on the
Guarantor if registration is not carried out within the stipulated time frame. In addition, if the
Guarantor fails to complete the relevant Cross-Border Security Registration, there may be logistical
hurdles at the time of remittance of funds (if any cross-border payment is to be made by the
Guarantor under the Guarantee) as domestic banks may require evidence of the Cross-Border Security
Registration in connection with the Guarantee in order to effect such remittance. The Guarantor has
completed the Cross-Border Security Registration for the Original Bonds before the Registration
Deadline in relation to the Original Bonds. However, there is no assurance that the Guarantor can
remit money outside of the PRC to comply with its obligations under the Deed of Guarantee with
respect to the Additional Bonds.

In addition, the administration of the Cross-Border Security Registration may be subject to a certain
degree of executive and policy discretion by SAFE. There is no assurance that the registration of the
Guarantee with SAFE can be completed or that the registration with SAFE obtained by the Guarantor
will not be revoked or amended in the future or that future changes in PRC laws and regulations will
not have a negative impact on the validity and enforceability of the Guarantee in the PRC.

Any failure to complete the relevant filings under the NDRC Circular and the relevant registration
under SAFE within the prescribed time frame following the completion of the issue of the Bonds
may have adverse consequences for the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or the investors of the Bonds.

The NDRC issued the NDRC Circular on 14 September 2015, which came into effect on the same
day. According to the NDRC Circular, domestic enterprises and their overseas controlled entities shall
procure the registration of any debt securities issued outside the PRC with a maturity not less than
one year with the NDRC prior to the issue of the securities and notify the particulars of the relevant
issues within 10 working days after the completion of the issue of the securities. The Guarantor has
registered the issuance of the Bonds with the NDRC and obtained a certificate from NDRC on 2
March 2020 evidencing such registration of Original Bonds and on 13 April 2021 evidencing such
registration of the Additional Bonds, and is required to file with the NDRC the requisite information
and documents within 10 Registration Business Days after the Original Bonds Issue Date in the case
of the Original Bonds and within 10 Registration Business Days after the Additional Bonds Issue
Date in the case of the Additional Bonds in accordance with the NDRC Circular. However, there is no
clarity on the legal consequences of non-compliance with the post-issue filing requirement under the
NDRC Circular. In the worst case scenario, such non-compliance with the post-issue notification
requirement under the NDRC Circular may result in it being unlawful for the Issuer or the Guarantor,
to perform or comply with any of its obligations under the Bonds and the Bonds might be subject to
enforcement as provided in Condition 9 (Events of Default) of the Terms and Conditions. Potential
investors of the Bonds are advised to exercise due caution when making their investment decisions.

In accordance with the Provisions on the Foreign Exchange Administration of Cross-Border
Guarantees (53 RAMNE FEMIE) (“Cross-Border Guarantees Provisions’) promulgated by
SAFE on 12 May 2014 which came into effect on 1 June 2014, the Guarantor shall complete the
relevant cross-border guarantee registration within 15 working days after execution of each Deed of
Guarantee (as defined in the Terms and Conditions), respectively. Before such registration of each
Deed of Guarantee is completed, it is uncertain whether the Guarantee is enforceable as a matter of
PRC law and it may be difficult for Bondholders to recover amounts due from the Guarantor (if any
cross-border payment is to be made by the Guarantor under the Guarantee), and the Issuer or the
Guarantor may not be able to remit the proceeds of the offering into the PRC or remit money out of
the PRC in order to meet its payment obligations under the Guarantee. Pursuant to article 31 of the
Cross-Border Guarantees Provisions, a failure to comply with registration requirements may result in
a warning and fine as set forth under article 48 of the Foreign Exchange Administrative Regulations
(SN 225 5]) promulgated by the State Council in 2008. However, pursuant to article 40 of the
Foreign Debt Administration Provisional Rules (JM&E % FLE 17 ##1%) promulgated by MOF, the NDRC
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and SAFE, a failure by a domestic entity to register a foreign debt guarantee contract will render the
contract not legally binding and unenforceable. Under the Terms and Conditions, the Guarantor has
undertaken to file with SAFE each Deed of Guarantee within 15 Registration Business Days after
execution of such Deed of Guarantee, and shall use its best endeavours to complete the relevant
Cross-Border Security Registration and obtain a registration certificate from SAFE (or any other
document evidencing the completion of registration issued by SAFE) on or before the relevant
Registration Deadline (being 120 Registration Business Days after the Original Bonds Issue Date in
the case of the Original Bonds and the day falling 120 Registration Business Days after the
Additional Bonds Issue Date in the case of the Additional Bonds). If the Guarantor is unable to
complete the registration with the local branches of SAFE, the Guarantor may have difficulty in
remitting funds offshore to service payments in respect of the Guarantee and investors may encounter
difficulties in enforcing judgments obtained in the Hong Kong courts with respect to the Bonds and
any Deed of Guarantee in the PRC. In such circumstances, the value and secondary market price of
the Bonds may also be materially and adversely affected.

The Bonds and the Guarantee are unsecured obligations.

The Bonds and the Guarantee are unsecured obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor, respectively.
The repayment of the Bonds and payment under the Guarantee may be adversely affected if:

. the Issuer or the Guarantor enters into bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganisation or other
winding-up proceedings,

. there is a default in payment under the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s future secured indebtedness
or other unsecured indebtedness; or

. there is an acceleration of any of the Issuer’'s or the Guarantor’s indebtedness.

If any of these events were to occur, the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’'s assets may not be sufficient to
pay amounts due on the Bonds.

Additional procedures may be required to be taken to bring English law governed matters or
disputes to the Hong Kong courts and the holders of the Bonds would need to be subject to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts. There can be no assurance that the PRC courts
will recognise and enforce judgments of the Hong Kong courts in respect of English law governed
matters or disputes.

The Terms and Conditions of the Bonds and the transaction documents relating to the issue of the
Bonds are governed by English law, whereas parties to these documents have submitted to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts. In order to hear English law governed matters or
disputes, Hong Kong courts may require certain additional procedures to be taken. Under the
Arrangement on Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial
Matters by the Courts of the Mainland and of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Pursuant
to Choice of Court Agreements between Parties Concerned ([ 7 Ay My B 75 i 45 Al 47 B 8 75 e AH 52
AT FNBAT N Bh k) R P S R P E) (the 2006 Arrangement”) which was signed on
14 July 2006, judgments of Hong Kong courts are likely to be recognised and enforced by the PRC
courts where the contracting parties to the transactions pertaining to such judgments have agreed to
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of Hong Kong courts.

However, recognition and enforcement of a Hong Kong court judgment could be refused if the PRC
courts consider that the enforcement of such judgment is contrary to the social and public interest of
the PRC or meets other circumstances specified by 2006 Arrangement. The new Arrangement on
Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters by the
Courts of the Mainland and of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (5 ARk - Filk
R AT R Dt TER T IR 7 TA) e B A R A5 3 AT LB L V5 e A L R T RN LA T R P S R A R P 2 BE) (the 2019
Arrangement”) was signed on 18 January 2019. Following the promulgation of a judicial
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interpretation by the Supreme People’s Court and the completion of the relevant procedures in the
HKSAR, both sides shall announce a date on which the 2019 Arrangement shall commence. Upon
commencement of the 2019 Arrangement, the 2006 Arrangement shall be terminated. While it is
expected that the PRC courts will recognise and enforce a judgment given by Hong Kong courts
governed by English law, there can be no assurance that the PRC courts will do so for all such
judgments as there is no established practice in this area. Compared to other similar debt securities
issuances in the international capital markets where the relevant holders of the debt securities would
not typically be required to submit to an exclusive jurisdiction, the holders of the Bonds will be
deemed to have submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts, and thus the
Bondholders’ ability to initiate a claim outside of Hong Kong will be limited.

The Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors.

The Bonds may be purchased as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with a measured and
appropriate addition of risk to the investor’s overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest
in the Bonds unless they have the expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to
evaluate how the Bonds will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of
such Bonds and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment
portfolio.

Additionally, the investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and
regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its
legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (a) Bonds are legal investments for it, (b)
Bonds can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (c) other restrictions apply to its
purchase of any Bonds. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate
regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Bonds under any applicable risk-based capital or
similar rules.

Each potential investor in the Bonds must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its
own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

. have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, the
merits and risks of investing in the Bonds and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable supplement;

. have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Bonds and the impact such investment will
have on its overall investment portfolio;

. have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Bonds;

. understand thoroughly the terms of the Bonds and be familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant indices and financial markets; and

. be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible economic
scenarios, such as interest rate and other factors which may affect its investment and the ability
to bear the applicable risks.

An active trading market for the Bonds may not develop.

The Bonds are a new issue of securities for which there is currently no trading market. There can be
no assurance as to the liquidity of the Bonds or that an active trading market will develop. If such a
market were to develop, the Bonds could trade at prices that may be higher or lower than the initial
issue price depending on many factors, including prevailing interest rates, the Group’s operations and
the market for similar securities. Although application has been made for the listing of the Bonds on
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the HKSE, no assurance can be given as to the liquidity of, or trading marked for, the Bonds. None
of the Managers is obligated to make a market in the Bonds, and if any Manager does so it may
discontinue such market making activity at any time without notice. Further, the Bonds may be
allocated to a limited number of investors, in which case liquidity may be limited. In addition, the
Bonds are being offered pursuant to exemptions from registration under the Securities Act and, as a
result, the Bondholders will only be able to resell the Bonds in transactions that have been registered
under the Securities Act or in transactions not subject to or exempt from registration under the
Securities Act. It is the investors' obligation to ensure that offers and sales of the Bonds within the
United States and other countries comply with applicable securities laws. Please see “Subscription
and Sale”. Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor can predict whether an active trading market for the
Bonds will develop or be sustained.

In addition, one or more initial investors in the Bonds may purchase a significant portion of the
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds pursuant to the offering. The existence of any such
significant Bondholder(s) may reduce the liquidity of the Bonds in the secondary trading market.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to the liquidity of the Bonds or that an active trading
market will develop. If such a market were to develop, the Bonds could trade at prices that may be
higher or lower than the initial issue price depending on many factors, including prevailing interest
rates, the Group’s operations and the market for similar securities.

Investors in the Bonds may be subject to foreign exchange risks.

The Bonds are denominated and payable in U.S. dollars. An investor who measures investment
returns by reference to a currency other than U.S. dollars would be subject to foreign exchange risks
by virtue of an investment in the Bonds, due to, among other things, economic, political and other
factors over which the Issuer or the Guarantor has no control. Depreciation of the U.S. dollar against
such currency could cause a decrease in the effective yield of the Bonds below their stated coupon
rates and could result in a loss when the return on the Bonds is translated into such currency. In
addition, there may be tax consequences for investors as a result of any foreign currency gains
resulting from any investment in the Bonds.

The liquidity and price of the Bonds following this offering may be volatile.

The price and trading volume of the Bonds may be highly volatile. Factors such as variations in the
revenues, earnings and cash flows of the Group and proposals of new investments, strategic alliances
and/or acquisitions, interest rates and fluctuations in prices for comparable companies could cause the
price of the Bonds to change. Any such developments may result in large and sudden changes in the
volume and price at which the Bonds will trade. There can be no assurance that these developments
will not occur in the future.

Developments in other markets may adversely affect the market price of the Bonds.

The market price of the Bonds may be adversely affected by declines in international financial
markets and world economic conditions. The market for the Bonds is, to varying degrees, influenced
by economic and market conditions in other markets, especially those in Asia. Although economic
conditions are different in each country, investors' reactions to developments in one country can
affect the securities markets and the securities of issuers in other countries, including China. Since
the global financial crisis of 2008 and 2009, the international financial markets have experienced
significant volatility. If similar developments occur in the international financial markets in the
future, the market price of the Bonds could be adversely affected.

The Issuer or the Guarantor may not be able to redeem the Bonds upon the due date for
redemption thereof.

At any time following the occurrence of a Relevant Event (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of
the Bonds), the Issuer may, at the option of any Bondholder, be required to redeem all, but not some
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only, of such Bondholder’'s Bonds at 101 per cent. (in the case of a redemption for a Change of
Control) or 100 per cent. (in the case of a redemption for a No Registration Event) of their principal
amount, together in each case with any interest accrued up to but excluding the Put Settlement Date.
If such an event were to occur or at maturity of the Bonds, the Issuer may not have sufficient cash in
hand and may not be able to arrange financing to redeem the Bonds in time, or on acceptable terms,
or at all. There is also no assurance that the Guarantor would have sufficient liquidity at such time to
make the required redemption of the Bonds. The ability to redeem the Bonds in such event may also
be limited by the terms of other debt instruments. The Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s failure to repay,
repurchase or redeem the relevant Bonds could constitute an event of default under the Bonds, which
may also constitute a default under the terms of the Issuer’s, the Guarantor’s or the Group’s other
indebtedness.

The Bonds will be structurally subordinated to the existing and future indebtedness and other
liabilities and commitments of the Issuer’s existing and future subsidiaries and effectively
subordinated to the Issuer’s secured debt to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such
indebtedness.

The Bonds will be structurally subordinated to any debt and other liabilities and commitments,
including trade payables and lease obligations, of the Issuer’s existing or future subsidiaries, whether
or not secured. The Bonds will not be guaranteed by any of the Issuer’s subsidiaries, and the Issuer
may not have direct access to the assets of such subsidiaries unless these assets are transferred by
dividend or otherwise to the Issuer. The ability of such subsidiaries to pay dividends or otherwise
transfer assets to the Issuer is subject to various restrictions under applicable laws. The Issuer’s
subsidiaries will be separate legal entities that have no obligation to pay any amounts due under the
Bonds or make any funds available therefore, whether by dividends, loans or other payments. The
Issuer’s right to receive assets of any of the Issuer’s subsidiaries, respectively, upon that subsidiary’s
liquidation or reorganisation will be effectively subordinated to the claim of that subsidiary’'s
creditors (except to the extent that the Issuer is creditor of that subsidiary). Consequently, the Bonds
will be effectively subordinated to all liabilities, including trade payables and lease obligations, of
any subsidiaries that the Issuer may in the future acquire or establish.

The Bonds are the Issuer’s unsecured obligations and will (i) rank at least equally in right of payment
with all the lIssuer’s other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations; (ii) be
effectively subordinated to all of the Issuer’s present and future secured indebtedness to the extent of
the value of the collateral securing such obligations; and (iii) be senior to all of the Issuer’s present
and future subordinated obligations, subject in all cases to exceptions as may be provided by
applicable legislation. As a result, claims of secured lenders, whether senior or junior, with respect to
assets securing their loans will be prior with respect to those assets. In the event of the Issuer’'s
bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, reorganisation, dissolution or other winding up, or upon any
acceleration of the Bonds, these assets will be available to pay obligations on the Bonds only after all
other debt secured by these assets has been repaid in full. Any remaining assets will be available to
the Bondholders rateably with all of the Issuer’s other unsecured and unsubordinated creditors,
including trade creditors. If there are insufficient assets remaining to pay all these creditors, then all
or a portion of the Bonds then outstanding would remain unpaid.

The insolvency laws of the PRC and the British Virgin Islands may differ from those of another
jurisdiction with which the Bondholders are familiar.

The lIssuer is incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands, and the Guarantor is
incorporated under the laws of the PRC. Any bankruptcy proceeding relating to the Issuer and the
Guarantor would likely involve bankruptcy laws of the British Virgin Islands or PRC, the procedural
and substantive provisions of which may differ from comparable provisions of the local insolvency
laws of jurisdictions with which the Bondholders are familiar.
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If the Issuer or the Guarantor is unable to comply with the restrictions and covenants in their
respective debt agreements (if any), or the Bonds, there could be a default under the terms of these
agreements, or the Bonds, which could cause repayment of the debt of the Issuer or the Guarantor
to be accelerated.

If the Issuer or the Guarantor is unable to comply with the restrictions and covenants in the Bonds, or
current or future debt obligations and other agreements (if any), there could be a default under the
terms of these agreements. In the event of a default under these agreements, the holders of the debt
could terminate their commitments to lend to the Issuer or the Guarantor, accelerate repayment of the
debt, declare all amounts borrowed due and payable or terminate the agreements, as the case may be.
Furthermore, those debt agreements may contain cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions. As a
result, the default by the Issuer or the Guarantor under one debt agreement may cause the
acceleration of repayment of debt or result in a default under its other debt agreements, including the
Bonds. If any of these events occur, there can be no assurance that there would be sufficient assets
and cash flows to repay in full all of the indebtedness of the Issuer or the Guarantor, or that it would
be able to find alternative financing. Even if the Issuer or the Guarantor could obtain alternative
financing, there can be no assurance that it would be on terms that are favourable or acceptable to the
Issuer or the Guarantor.

A change in English law which governs the Bonds may adversely affect Bondholders.

The Terms and Conditions are governed by English law. No assurance can be given as to the impact
of any possible judicial decision or change English law or administrative practice after the date of
issue of the Bonds.

Modifications and waivers may be made in respect of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds, the
Deeds of Guarantee, the Agency Agreement and the Trust Deed by the Trustee or less than all of
the holders of the Bonds, and decisions may be made on behalf of all holders of the Bonds that
may be adverse to the interests of individual holders of the Bonds.

The Terms and Conditions of the Bonds provide that the Trustee may (but shall not be obliged to),
without the consent of the Bondholders, agree (i) to any modification (except as mentioned in the
Trust Deed and/or the Deeds of Guarantee) of the Trust Deed, the Deeds of Guarantee, the Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds and/or the Agency Agreement which in the opinion of the Trustee will not be
materially prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the Bonds and (ii) to any modification of the
Trust Deed, the Deeds of Guarantee, the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds and/or the Agency
Agreement which is in the opinion of the Trustee of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to
correct a manifest error or is to comply with any mandatory provision of applicable law.

The Terms and Conditions of the Bonds also contain provisions for calling meetings of the holders of
the Bonds to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined
majorities to bind all Bondholders including those Bondholders who did not attend and vote at the
relevant meeting or participate in the written resolutions or electronic consents and those
Bondholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. There is a risk that the decision of the
majority of holders of the Bonds may be adverse to the interests of individual holders of the Bonds.

In addition, the Trustee may (but shall not be obliged to), without the consent of the holders of the
Bonds, authorise or waive any proposed breach or breach of the Trust Deed, any Deed of Guarantee,
the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds and/or the Agency Agreement if, in the opinion of the
Trustee, the interests of the Bondholders will not be materially prejudiced thereby.
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The Trustee may request the Bondholders to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or
prefunding to its satisfaction.

In certain circumstances, including, without limitation, giving notice to the Issuer and the Guarantor
pursuant to Condition 9 of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds and taking enforcement steps and
actions pursuant to Condition 13 of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds, the Trustee may, at its
sole discretion, request the Bondholders to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or prefunding to
its satisfaction before it takes actions on behalf of the Bondholders. The Trustee shall not be obliged
to take any such steps or actions if not first indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its
satisfaction. Negotiating and agreeing to an indemnity and/or security and/or prefunding can be a
lengthy process and may impact on when such actions can be taken. The Trustee may not be able to
take steps or actions, notwithstanding the provision of an indemnity or security or prefunding to it, in
breach of the terms of the Trust Deed, any Deed of Guarantee or the Terms and Conditions of the
Bonds and in such circumstances, or where there is uncertainty or dispute as to the applicable laws or
regulations, to the extent permitted by the agreements and the applicable laws or regulations, it will
be for the holders of the Bonds to take such actions directly.

Gains on the transfer of the Bonds and interest payable by the Guarantor to overseas Bondholders
may be subject to income tax and value-added tax under PRC tax laws.

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “EIT Law”) which took effect on 29
December 2018 and its implementation rules, any gains realised on the transfer of the Bonds by
holders who are deemed under the EIT Law as non-resident enterprises may be subject to PRC
enterprise income tax if such gains are regarded as income derived from sources within the PRC.
Under the EIT Law, a “non-resident enterprise” means an enterprise established under the laws of a
jurisdiction other than the PRC and whose actual administrative organisation is not in the PRC, which
has established offices or premises in the PRC, or which has not established any offices or premises
in the PRC but has obtained income derived from sources within the PRC. There remains uncertainty
as to whether the gains realised on the transfer of the Bonds by enterprise holders would be treated as
incomes derived from sources within the PRC and be subject to PRC enterprise income tax. In
addition, there is uncertainty as to whether gains realised on the transfer of the Bonds by individual
holders who are not PRC citizens or residents will be subject to PRC individual income tax. If such
gains are subject to PRC income tax, the 10 per cent. enterprise income tax rate and 20 per cent.
individual income tax rate will apply respectively unless there is an applicable tax treaty or
arrangement that reduces or exempts such income tax. The taxable income will be the balance of the
total income obtained from the transfer of the Bonds minus all costs and expenses that are permitted
under PRC tax laws to be deducted from the income. According to the Arrangement between the
Mainland of China and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income (the
“Arrangement”) which was promulgated on 21 August 2006, Bondholders who are Hong Kong
residents, including both enterprise holders and individual holders, will be exempted from PRC
income tax on capital gains derived from a sale or exchange of the Bonds if such capital gains are
not connected with an office or establishment that the Bondholders have in the PRC and all the other
relevant conditions are satisfied. As Bonds will be held in the Clearing System, it is not possible to
ascertain the jurisdiction of the Bondholders.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the PRC Individual Income Tax Law (the “I1T Law”) which took effect on
1 January 2019, and the implementation regulations in relation to both the EIT Law and IIT Law,
PRC income tax at a rate of 10 per cent. or 20 per cent. is normally applicable to PRC-source income
derived by non-resident enterprises or individuals respectively, subject to adjustment by applicable
treaty. As the Guarantor is a PRC resident enterprise for tax purposes, interest paid by the Guarantor
to non-resident Bondholders may be regarded as PRC-sourced, and therefore be subject to PRC
income tax at a rate of 10 per cent. for non-resident enterprise Bondholders and at a rate of 20 per
cent. for non-resident individual Bondholders (or a lower treaty rate, if any).
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It is worth mentioning that should the Issuer, as an overseas entity held by the Guarantor, be
determined as an overseas registered PRC resident enterprise for tax purposes by PRC competent tax
authorities in accordance with PRC laws by virtue of its actual administrative organisation conducted
in the PRC, the Issuer would be obligated to withhold PRC income tax on payments of interest and
certain other amounts on the Bonds to the Bondholders at a rate of 10 per cent. for non-resident
enterprise Bondholders and at a rate of 20 per cent. for non-resident individual Bondholders (or a
lower treaty rate, if any). Under the EIT Law and its implementation regulations, “actual
administrative organisation” shall mean organisation implementing substantive and comprehensive
management and control over the production and business operations, personnel, financial accounts
and property etc. of an enterprise.

On 23 March 2016, MOF and the State Administration of Taxation issued the Circular of Full
Implementation of Replacing Business Tax with Value-Added Tax Reform (Caishui [2016] No. 36)
(“Circular 36"), which introduced a new value-added tax (“VAT”) from 1 May 2016. VAT is
applicable where entities or individuals provide services within the PRC. The Guarantor will be
obligated to withhold VAT of 6 per cent. and certain surcharges (as described below) on VAT for
payments of interest and certain other amounts on the Bonds paid by the Guarantor to Bondholders
that are non-resident enterprises or individuals. Pursuant to Interim Regulation of the PRC on City
Maintenance and Construction Tax (H0 3 A & 360 B 3 11 4 5 2 5B B AT 1 (20145%T)), Interim
Provisions on the Collection of Educational Surcharges (B & 2 HniE 1782 (2011157])),
Notice of the Ministry of Finance on the Relevant Matters regarding Unifying the Policies on Local
Education Surcharges (o BUHR B 7 45— Hb 75 208 i SR A B ] 1Y 48 A1) and based on consultation
with the Shandong local taxation bureau, a city maintenance and construction tax (7 per cent.), an
educational surcharge (3 per cent.) and a local educational surcharge (2 per cent.) will be applicable
when entities and individuals are obliged to pay VAT (for an aggregate of 12 per cent. on any VAT
payable). VAT is unlikely to be applicable to any transfer of Bonds between entities or individuals
located outside of the PRC and therefore unlikely to be applicable to gains realised upon such
transfers of Bonds, but there is uncertainty as to the applicability of VAT if either the seller or buyer
of Bonds is located inside the PRC. Circular 36 together with other laws and regulations pertaining to
VAT are relatively new, the interpretation and enforcement of such laws and regulations involve
uncertainties.

If a Bondholder, being a non-resident enterprise or non-resident individual, is required to pay any
PRC income tax on interest or gains on the transfer of the Bonds, the value of the relevant
Bondholder’s investment in the Bonds may be materially and adversely affected.

The Bonds will be represented by a Global Certificate and holders of a beneficial interest in the
Global Certificate must rely on the procedures of the relevant Clearing System(s).

The Bonds will be represented by a Global Certificate which will be deposited with a common
depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream (each, a “Clearing System”). Except in the circumstances
described in the Global Certificate, investors will not be entitled to receive definitive Certificates
representing Bonds. The Clearing System(s) will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the
Global Certificate. While the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate, investors will be able
to trade their beneficial interests only through the Clearing Systems.

While the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate, the Issuer, or failing which, the Guarantor,
will discharge its payment obligations under the Bonds or the Guarantee, as the case may be, by
making payments to the Clearing System for distribution to their accountholders. A holder of a
beneficial interest in the Global Certificate must rely on the procedures of the Clearing System(s) to
receive payments under the Bonds and the Guarantee. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor the Trustee
and the Agents or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, advisers,
representatives and affiliates has any responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or
payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the Global Certificate.
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Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Certificate will not have a direct right to vote in respect
of the Bonds. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled
by the Clearing System(s) to appoint appropriate proxies. Similarly, holders of beneficial interests in
the Global Certificate will not have a direct right under the Global Certificate to take enforcement
action against the Issuer or the Guarantor in the event of a default under the Bonds but will have to
rely upon their rights under the Trust Deed.

Bondholders should be aware that a definitive certificate which has a principal amount that is not
an integral multiple of the minimum specified denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

In relation to any Bond which has a principal amount consisting of a minimum specified
denomination plus an integral multiple of another smaller amount, it is possible that the Bonds may
be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum specified denomination that are not integral multiples
of such minimum specified denomination. In such a case a Bondholder who, as a result of trading
such amounts, holds a principal amount of less than the minimum specified denomination will not
receive a definitive certificate in respect of such holding (should definitive Bonds be printed) and
would need to purchase a principal amount of Bonds such that it holds an amount equal to one or
more specified denominations. If definitive Bonds are issued, holders should be aware that a
definitive certificate which has a principal amount that is not an integral multiple of the minimum
specified denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

The Bonds may be redeemed by the Issuer prior to maturity.

The Issuer may redeem the Bonds at its option, in whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal
to their principal amount, together with interest accrued up to but excluding the date fixed for
redemption if, subject to certain conditions, as a result of a change in or amendment to tax laws or
regulations, the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay Additional Tax Amounts (as defined in the
Terms and Conditions), as further described in Condition 6(b) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons) of
the Terms and Conditions.

If the Issuer redeems the Bonds prior to the Maturity Date, investors may not receive the same
economic benefits they would have received had they held the Bonds to maturity, and they may not
be able to reinvest the proceeds they receive in a redemption in similar securities. In addition, the
Issuer’s ability to redeem the Bonds may reduce the market price of the Bonds.

The Issuer may issue additional Bonds in the future.

The Issuer may, from time to time, and without the consent of the Bondholders, create and issue
further securities having the same terms and conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or in all respects
save for the issue date, the first payment of interest on them and the exercise of a redemption for a
No Registration Event and the timing for compliance with the requirements set out in the Terms and
Conditions in relation to the NDRC Post-issue Filing and the Cross-Border Security Registration (see
“Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — Further Issues’) or otherwise raise additional capital through
such means and in such manner as it may consider necessary. There can be no assurance that such
future issuance or capital raising activity will not adversely affect the market price of the Bonds.

Changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Bonds.
The Bonds will carry fixed interest rates. Consequently, investment in the Bonds involves the risk
that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Bonds. If

Bondholders sell the Bonds they hold before the maturity of such Bonds, they may receive an offer
less than their investment.
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EXCHANGE RATES

The PBOC sets and publishes on a daily basis a base exchange rate with reference primarily to the
supply and demand of Renminbi against a basket of currencies in the market during the prior day.
The PBOC also takes into account other factors, such as the general conditions existing in the
international foreign exchange markets. On 21 July 2005, the PRC Government introduced a managed
floating exchange rate system to allow the value of the Renminbi to fluctuate within a regulated band
based on market supply and demand and by reference to a basket of currencies. On the same day, the
value of the Renminbi appreciated by two per cent. against the U.S. dollar. The PRC Government has
since made and in the future may make further adjustments to the exchange rate system. On 18 May
2007, the PBOC enlarged, effective on 21 May 2007, the floating band for the trading prices in the
inter-bank spot exchange market of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar from 0.3 per cent. to 0.5 per
cent. around the central parity rate. This allows the Renminbi to fluctuate against the U.S. dollar by
up to 0.5 per cent. above or below the central parity rate published by the PBOC. The floating band
was further widened to 1.0 per cent. on 16 April 2012. These changes in currency policy resulted in
the Renminbi appreciating against the U.S. dollar by approximately 26.9 per cent. from 21 July 2005
to 31 December 2013. On 14 March 2014, the PBOC further widened the floating band against the
U.S. dollar to 2.0 per cent. On 11 August 2015, the PBOC announced to improve the central parity
quotations of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar by authorising market-makers to provide central parity
quotations to the China Foreign Exchange Trading Centre daily before the opening of the interbank
foreign exchange market with reference to the interbank foreign exchange market closing rate of the
previous day, the supply and demand for foreign exchange as well as changes in major international
currency exchange rates. Following the announcement by the PBOC on 11 August 2015, Renminbi
depreciated significantly against the U.S. dollar. In January and February 2016, Renminbi
experienced further fluctuation in value against the U.S. dollar. Following the gradual appreciation of
Renminbi in 2017, Renminbi experienced a recent depreciation in value against U.S. dollar following
a fluctuation in the first half of 2018. The PRC Government may adopt further reforms of its
exchange rate system, including making the Renminbi freely convertible in the future.

The following table sets forth information concerning exchange rates between the Renminbi and the
U.S. dollar for the periods presented:

Renminbi per U.S. Dollar Noon Buying Rate®

Period Period End Average®® High Low
(CNY per U.S.$1.00)
2016 .. ... 6.9430 6.6549 6.9580 6.4480
2017 ... 6.5063 6.7350 6.9575 6.4773
2018 . .. 6.8755 6.6292 6.9737 6.2649
2019 . ... 6.9618 6.9014 7.1786 6.6822
2020 . ... 6.5250 6.8878 7.1681 6.5208
November .................... 6.5760 6.6029 6.6899 6.5556
December ........... .. .. .. ... 6.5250 6.5393 6.5705 6.5208
2021
January . ... 6.4282 6.4672 6.4822 6.4282
February ..................... 6.4730 6.4601 6.4869 6.4344
March . ......... ... ......... 6.5518 6.5109 6.5716 6.4648
April ... .. 6.4749 6.5186 6.5649 6.4710
May (through 28 May) .......... 6.3674 6.4321 6.4749 6.3674
Notes:

(1) Exchange rates between Renminbi and U.S. dollar represent the noon buying rates as set forth in the H.10 statistical
re-lease of the Board of Governors of the Federal Bank System.

(2)  Annual averages have been calculated from month-end rate. Monthly averages have been calculated using the average of
the daily rates during the relevant period.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS

The following, subject to modification and other than the words in italics is the text of the terms and
conditions of the Bonds which will appear on the reverse of each of the definitive certificates
evidencing the Bonds.

The issue of the U.S.$140,00,000 7.0 per cent. guaranteed bonds due 2023 (the “Additional Bonds")
to be issued on 11 June 2021 (the “Additional Bonds Issue Date”), to be consolidated and form a
single series with the Issuer’s existing U.S.$180,000,000 7.0 per cent. guaranteed bonds due 2023
(the “Original Bonds", and together with the Additional Bonds, the “Bonds”, which term shall
include, unless the context requires otherwise, any further bonds issued in accordance with Condition
15 and consolidated and forming a single series therewith) issued on 28 August 2020 (the “Original
Bonds Issue Date”) after the Registration Conditions with respect to both the Original Bonds and the
Additional Bonds are complied with, of Fuyuan Worldwide Limited & J& 2 %4 BR A ] (the “Issuer”)
and guaranteed by Shandong Commercial Group Co., Ltd. (IIREFELEBAGRATF) (the
“Guarantor”) was authorised by a resolution of the sole director of the Issuer passed on 7 July 2020
and 12 March 2021, respectively, and the giving of the Guarantee (as defined below) was authorised
by a resolution of the board of directors of the Guarantor passed on 12 December 2019 and 11 March
2021, respectively.

The Original Bonds are constituted by a trust deed (the “Original Trust Deed”) dated 28 August
2020 and the Additional Bonds are constituted by the Original Trust Deed as supplemented by a trust
deed supplemental to the Original Trust Deed dated 11 June 2021 (the “Supplemental Trust Deed”,
and together with the Original Trust Deed, as may be further amended and/or supplemented from time
to time, the “Trust Deed”), each between the Issuer, the Guarantor and China Construction Bank
(Asia) Corporation Limited (the “Trustee” which expression shall, which the context so permits,
include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed and any successors)
as trustee for itself and the holders of the Bonds. These terms and conditions include summaries of,
and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Bonds.
The Original Bonds have the benefit of a deed of guarantee dated 28 August 2020 and the Additional
Bonds have the benefit of a deed of guarantee dated on 11 June 2021 (each deed of guarantee, as
amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the “Deed of Guarantee”), each executed by the
Guarantor and the Trustee relating to the Original Bonds and the Additional Bonds, respectively. The
Bonds are the subject of an agency agreement (the “Original Agency Agreement”) dated 28 August
2020 as supplemented by an agency agreement supplemental to the Original Agency Agreement dated
11 June 2021 (the “Supplemental Agency Agreement”, and together with the Original Agency
Agreement, as may be further amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the “Agency
Agreement”), between the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee, China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited as the registrar (the “Registrar”, which expression shall include any successor
registrar appointed from time to time in connection with Bonds), as the transfer agent (the “Transfer
Agent”, which expression shall include any successor transfer agent appointed from time to time in
connection with the Bonds), and as the principal paying agent (the “Principal Paying Agent”, which
expression shall include any successor principal paying agent appointed from time to time in
connection with the Bonds) and any other agents named in it.

For so long as any Bond is outstanding, copies of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the
Deed of Guarantee are available for inspection at all reasonable times during usual business hours at
the principal office of the Trustee (being at the Additional Bonds Issue Date at 20/F, CCB Tower, 3
Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong) and at the specified office of the Principal Paying
Agent following prior written request and proof of holding and identity to the satisfaction of the
Trustee or, as the case may be, the Principal Paying Agent. References herein to “Paying Agents”
includes the Principal Paying Agent, references herein to “Transfer Agent” includes the Transfer
Agent, and references to “Agents’ means the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, the Transfer
Agent and any other agent or agents appointed from time to time pursuant to the Agency Agreement
with respect to the Bonds. The Bondholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are
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deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Deed of Guarantee and are
deemed to have notice of those provisions applicable to them of the Agency Agreement.

All capitalised terms that are not defined in these terms and conditions (these “Conditions”) will
have the meanings given to them in the Trust Deed.

1

Form, Specified Denomination and Title

The Bonds are issued in the specified denomination of U.S.$200,000 and integral multiples of
U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof.

The Bonds are represented by registered certificates (the “Certificates’) and, save as provided
in Condition 2(a), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Bonds by the same
holder.

Title to the Bonds shall pass by transfer and registration in the register that the Issuer shall
procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement
(the “Register”). Each holder (as defined below) shall be entitled to receive only one Certificate
in respect of its entire holding of Bonds. Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction
or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Bond shall be deemed to be and
shall be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or not it is overdue and
regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on the Certificate
representing it or the theft or loss of such Certificate and no person shall be liable for so
treating the holder.

In these Conditions, “Bondholder” and “holder” means the person in whose name a Bond is
registered (or in the case of a joint holding, the first name thereof).

Upon issue, the Bonds will be represented by one or more global certificates (collectively, the
“Global Certificate”) registered in the name of a nominee of, and deposited with, a common
depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A.
(“ Clearstream” ). These Conditions are modified by certain provisions contained in the Global
Certificate. See “ Summary of Provisions relating to the Bonds in Global Form”.

Except in the limited circumstances described in the Global Certificate, owners of interests in
Bonds represented by the Global Certificate will not be entitled to receive definitive Certificates
in respect of their individual holdings of Bonds. The Bonds are not issuable in bearer form.

Transfers of Bonds

(&) Transfer: A holding of Bonds may, subject to Condition 2(d), be transferred in whole or in
part upon the surrender (at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of
the Certificate(s) representing such Bonds to be transferred, together with the form of
transfer endorsed on such Certificate(s) (or another form of transfer substantially in the
same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless
otherwise agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as
the Registrar or Transfer Agent may require to prove the title of the transferor and the
authority of the individuals who have executed such form of transfer. In the case of a
transfer of part only of a holding of Bonds represented by one Certificate, a new
Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred and a further
new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred (which shall be not
less than the specified denomination) shall be issued to the transferor. In the case of a
transfer of Bonds to a person who is already a holder of Bonds, a new Certificate
representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued against surrender of the Certificate
representing the existing holding. All transfers of Bonds and entries on the Register will
be made in accordance with the detailed regulations concerning transfers of Bonds
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(b)

(c)

(d)

scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with
the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Trustee, and by the Registrar, with the
prior written approval of the Trustee. A copy of the current regulations will be made
available by the Registrar to any Bondholder following prior written request and proof of
holding satisfactory to the Trustee. No transfer of title to a Bond will be valid unless and
until entered on the Register.

Transfers of interests in the Bonds evidenced by the Global Certificate will be effected in
accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems.

Delivery of New Certificates: Each new Certificate to be issued upon transfer of any
Bonds pursuant to Condition 2(a) shall be made available for delivery within seven
business days of receipt of a duly completed form of transfer and surrender of the existing
Certificate(s). Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of
the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery or surrender
of such form of transfer and Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the
holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant form
of transfer or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder
entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder
requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as
the case may be) the costs of such other method of delivery and/ or such insurance as it
may specify. In this Condition 2(b), “business day” means a day, other than a Saturday, a
Sunday or a public holiday, on which commercial banks are generally open for business in
the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case
may be).

Except in the limited circumstances described in the Global Certificate, owners of interests
in the Bonds represented by the Global Certificate will not be entitled to receive physical
delivery of Certificates.

Transfer or Exercise Free of Charge: Certificates, on transfer, exercise of an option or
redemption of the Bonds, shall be issued and registered without charge by or on behalf of
the Issuer, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, but upon (i) payment of any tax or other
governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such
indemnity, and/or security and/or pre-funding as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer
Agent may require), (ii) the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent ( as the case may be)
being satisfied in its absolute discretion with the documents of title or identity of the
person making the application and (iii) the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent (as the
case may be) being satisfied that the regulations concerning transfer of Bonds have been
complied with.

Closed Periods: No Bondholder may require the transfer of a Bond to be registered (i)
during the period of 15 days ending on (and including) the due date for redemption of that
Bond, (ii) after any such Bond has been called for redemption, or (iii) during the period of
seven days ending on (and including) any Record Date.

3 Status and Guarantee

(a)

Status: The Bonds constitute direct, unsubordinated, unconditional and (subject to
Condition 4(a) (Negative Pledge)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times
rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The payment obligations of
the Issuer under the Bonds shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by
applicable legislation and subject to Condition 4(a) (Negative Pledge), at all times rank at
least equally with all its other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations.

-5] —



(b)

Guarantee: The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due
payment of all sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed and the
Bonds. Its obligations in that respect (the “Guarantee”) are contained in the Deed of
Guarantee. The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall, save for such
exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation and subject to Condition 4(a), at
all times rank at least equally with all its other present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations.

4 Covenants

(a)

(b)

(c)

Negative Pledge

So long as any Bond remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), neither the Issuer
nor the Guarantor will, and each of the Issuer and the Guarantor will ensure that none of
their respective Subsidiaries will create, or have outstanding, any mortgage, charge, lien,
pledge or other security interest, upon the whole or any part of its present or future
undertaking, assets or revenues (including any uncalled capital) to secure any Relevant
Indebtedness or to secure any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any Relevant
Indebtedness, without at the same time or prior thereto according to the Bonds the same
security as is created or subsisting to secure any such Relevant Indebtedness, guarantee or
indemnity or such other security as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as
defined in the Trust Deed) of the Bondholders.

Undertakings relating to the Guarantee

The Guarantor undertakes to file with the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the
PRC or its local counterparts (“SAFE"), each Deed of Guarantee within 15 Registration
Business Days after execution of such Deed of Guarantee in accordance with the
Provisions on the Foreign Exchange Administration of Cross-Border Guarantees ({5 5i{&
PRANHES BERE 2 ) (FE%$[2014] 29%%)) promulgated by SAFE on 12 May 2014 which came
into effect on 1 June 2014 (each, a “Cross-Border Security Registration”). The
Guarantor shall use its best endeavours to complete each Cross-Border Security
Registration and in relation to each Cross-Border Security Registration, obtain a
registration certificate from SAFE (or any other document evidencing the completion of
registration issued by SAFE) on or before the relevant Registration Deadline and shall
comply with all applicable PRC laws and regulations in relation to the Guarantee.

Undertakings relating to NDRC

The Guarantor undertakes to file with the National Development and Reform Commission
of the PRC or its local counterparts (the “NDRC”) the requisite information and
documents within ten Registration Business Days after the Original Bonds Issue Date in
the case of the Original Bonds, and within ten Registration Business Days after the
Additional Bonds Issue Date in the case of the Additional Bonds, in accordance with the
Circular on Promoting the Reform of the Filing and Registration System on the Issuance
by Enterprises of Foreign Debt (<2555 i ol 55 2 B i 41 HE A SE 5547 SME M 52 65w il 8 3
MO MR (BF ek AP E[2015] 2044%%)) issued by the NDRC and which came into effect
on 14 September 2015, and any implementation rules as issued by the NDRC from time to
time (each, a “NDRC Post-issue Filing”) and shall comply with all applicable PRC laws
and regulations in connection with the Bonds.
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(d)

(€)

Notification of Completion of the NDRC Post-issue Filing and the Cross-Border Security
Registration

The Guarantor shall, within 20 Registration Business Days after the later of the submission
of the relevant NDRC Post-issue Filing and the receipt of the registration certificate from
SAFE in connection with the relevant Cross-Border Security Registration (or any other
document evidencing the completion of the relevant Cross-Border Security Registration),
provide the Trustee with: (i) a certificate in English substantially in the form set out in the
Trust Deed signed by an Authorised Signatory (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the
Guarantor confirming the completion of the relevant NDRC Post-issue Filing and the
relevant Cross-Border Security Registration; and (ii) copies of the relevant documents
evidencing the relevant NDRC Post-issue Filing (if any) and the relevant SAFE
registration certificate(s) or any other document evidencing the completion of the relevant
Cross-Border Security Registration, each certified in English by an Authorised Signatory
of the Guarantor as being a true and complete copy of the original (the documents referred
to in (i) and (ii) together, the “Registration Documents”). In addition, the Guarantor shall
procure that within ten Registration Business Days after the documents comprising the
relevant Registration Documents are delivered to the Trustee, the Issuer gives notice to the
Bondholders (in accordance with Condition 16) confirming the completion of the relevant
NDRC Post-issue Filing and the relevant Cross-Border Security Registration.

The Trustee may rely conclusively on the Registration Documents and shall have no
obligation or duty to monitor or ensure or to assist with the filing or registration of the
Bonds or the Deed of Guarantee with SAFE on or before the relevant Registration
Deadline or the relevant NDRC Post-issue Filing within the timeframe specified in
Condition 4(b) and Condition 4(c) or to verify the accuracy, completeness, validity and/or
genuineness of any documents in relation to or in connection with any Cross-Border
Security Registration and/or NDRC Post-issue Filing and/or the Registration Documents
and/or the information and documents filed with the NDRC in the course of any NDRC
Post-issue Filing and/or the documents evidencing any NDRC Post-issue Filing (if any) or
to procure that any Registration Document or any other certificate, confirmation,
information or document filed with the NDRC in the course of any NDRC Post-issue
Filing not in English is translated into English or, if any English translation of any
document is provided or retained, to verify the accuracy of any English translation of any
Registration Document or any other certificate, confirmation or document or to give notice
to the Bondholders confirming the completion of any Cross-Border Security Registration
and/or NDRC Post-issue Filing, and shall not be liable to Bondholders or any other person
for not doing so.

Financial Information

So long as any Bond remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), the Guarantor
will furnish the Trustee with (i) (A) a Compliance Certificate (on which the Trustee may
rely conclusively as to such compliance and shall not be liable to any Bondholder or any
other person for such reliance) and a copy of the relevant Guarantor Audited Financial
Reports within 150 days of the end of each Relevant Period prepared in accordance with
the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises in China (“PRC GAAP”) (audited by a
nationally recognised firm of independent accountants) and if such statements shall be in
the Chinese language, together with an English translation of the same translated by (aa) a
nationally recognised firm of independent accountants or (bb) a professional translation
service provider and checked by a nationally recognised firm of independent accountants,
together with a certificate in English signed by an Authorised Signatory of the Guarantor
certifying that such translation is complete and accurate; and (B) a copy of the Guarantor
Unaudited Financial Reports within 90 days of the end of each Relevant Period prepared
on a basis consistent with the Guarantor Audited Financial Reports and if such statements
shall be in the Chinese language, together with an English translation of the same and
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translated by (aa) a nationally recognised firm of independent accountants or (bb) a
professional translation service provider and checked by a nationally recognised firm of
independent accountants, together with a certificate in English signed by an Authorised
Signatory of the Guarantor certifying that such translation is complete and accurate; and
(if) a Compliance Certificate (on which the Trustee may rely conclusively as to such
compliance and shall not be liable to any Bondholder or any other person for such
reliance) within 14 days of a written request by the Trustee.

Definitions
In these Conditions:

“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate of the Issuer or Guarantor (as the case may
be) signed by any Authorised Signatory of the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor
that, having made all reasonable enquiries, to the best of the knowledge, information and
belief of the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor as at a date (the “Certification
Date”) not more than five days before the date of the certificate:

(i) no Relevant Event (as defined in Condition 6(c)), Event of Default (as defined in
Condition 9) or Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) had
occurred since the Certification Date of the last such certificate or (if none) the date
of the Trust Deed or, if such an event had occurred, giving details of it; and

(if) the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case maybe) has complied with all its covenants
and obligations under the Trust Deed, the Deed of Guarantee and the Bonds (as the
case maybe) or, if any non-compliance had occurred, giving details of it;

“Guarantor Audited Financial Reports” means the annual audited consolidated balance
sheet, income statement, statement of cash flows and statements of changes in owners’
equity of the Guarantor together with any statements, reports (including any directors’ and
auditors’ reports, if any) and notes attached to or intended to be read with any of them;

“Guarantor Unaudited Financial Reports” means the semi-annual unaudited
consolidated balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash flows and statements of
changes in owners equity of the Guarantor together with any statements, reports
(including any directors’ and auditors' review reports, if any) and notes attached to or
intended to be read with any of them, if any;

“NDRC” means the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC or its
local counterparts;

“person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint
venture, trust, unincorporated organisation or government or any agency or political
subdivision thereof;

“PRC” means the People’s Republic of China, which shall for the purpose of these
Conditions only, exclude the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the Macau
Special Administrative Region and Taiwan;

“Registration Business Day” means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or public
holiday, on which commercial banks are generally open for business in Beijing, PRC;

“Registration Deadline” means the day falling 120 Registration Business Days after the
Original Bonds Issue Date in the case of the Original Bonds, and the day falling 120
Registration Business Days after the Additional Bonds Issue Date in the case of the
Additional Bonds;
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“Relevant Indebtedness” means any indebtedness issued outside the PRC which is in the
form of, or represented or evidenced by, bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or other
securities with a maturity of more than one year which for the time being are, or are
intended to be or capable of being, quoted, listed or dealt in or traded on any stock
exchange or over-the-counter or other securities market (which, for the avoidance of
doubt, does not include bilateral loans, syndicated loans or club deal loans);

“Relevant Period” means (i) in relation to the Guarantor Audited Financial Reports, each
period of twelve months ending on the last day of the Guarantor’s financial year (being 31
December of that financial year); (ii) in relation to the Guarantor Unaudited Financial
Reports, each period of six months ending on the last day of the Guarantor’s first half
financial year (being 30 June of that financial year);

“SAFE” means the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC or its local
branch;

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any person, (a) any corporation, association or other
business entity of which more than 50 per cent. of the voting power of the outstanding
Voting Stock is owned, directly or indirectly, by such person; or (b) any corporation,
association or other business entity which at any time has its accounts consolidated with
those of that person or which, under the law, regulations or generally accepted accounting
principles of the jurisdiction of incorporation of such person from time to time, should
have its accounts consolidated with those of that person; and

“Voting Stock” means, with respect to any person, capital stock of any class or kind
ordinarily having the power to vote for the election of directors, managers or other voting
members of the governing body of such person.

Interest

The Original Bonds bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and including the
Original Bonds Issue Date and the Additional Bonds bear interest on their outstanding principal
amount from and including 28 February 2021, in each case at the rate of 7.0 per cent. per
annum, payable semi-annually in arrear in equal instaiments of U.S.$35.0 per Calculation
Amount (as defined below) on 28 February and 28 August in each year (each an “Interest
Payment Date”), commencing on 28 February 2021 in the case of the Original Bonds and 28
August 2021 in the case of the Additional Bonds.

Each Bond will cease to bear interest from the due date for redemption unless, upon surrender
of the Certificate representing such Bond, payment of principal or premium (if any) is
improperly withheld or refused. In such event it shall continue to bear interest at such rate (both
before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (a) the day on which all sums due in
respect of such Bond up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Bondholder,
and (b) the day falling seven calendar days after the Trustee or the Principal Paying Agent has
notified Bondholders of receipt of all sums due in respect of all the Bonds up to that seventh
day (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent payment to the relevant holders
under these Conditions).

If interest is required to be calculated for a period of less than a complete Interest Period (as
defined below), the relevant day-count fraction will be determined on the basis of a 360-day
year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each and, in the case of an incomplete month, the
number of days elapsed. In these Conditions, the period beginning on and including the Original
Bonds Issue Date and ending on but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each
successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment Date and ending on but
excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an “Interest Period”.
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Interest in respect of any Bond shall be calculated per U.S.$1,000 in principal amount of the
Bonds (the “Calculation Amount”). The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for
any period shall, save as provided above in relation to equal instalments, be equal to the product
of the rate of interest specified above, the Calculation Amount and the day-count fraction for
the relevant period, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest cent (half a cent being rounded
upwards).

Redemption and Purchase

(a)

(b)

(c)

Final Redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds
will be redeemed at their principal amount on 28 August 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). The
Bonds may not be redeemed at the option of the Issuer other than in accordance with this
Condition 6.

Redemption for Taxation Reasons: The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the
Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60
days' notice (a “Tax Redemption Notice”) to the Bondholders in accordance with
Condition 16 (which shall be irrevocable) and in writing to the Trustee and the Principal
Paying Agent, at their principal amount (together with any interest accrued to the date
fixed for redemption) if the Issuer or, if the Guarantee was called, the Guarantor (as the
case may be) satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such notice that (i)
the Issuer has (or, if the Guarantee were called, the Guarantor) or will become obliged to
pay Additional Tax Amounts (as defined in Condition 8) as provided or referred to in
Condition 8 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the
British Virgin Islands or the PRC, or, in each case, any political subdivision or any
authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or
official interpretation of, such laws or regulations (including but not limited to any
decision by a court of competent jurisdiction), which change or amendment becomes
effective on or after 25 August 2020, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the
Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it,
provided that no Tax Redemption Notice shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the
earliest date on which the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) would be obliged
to pay such Additional Tax Amounts were a payment in respect of the Bonds (or the
Guarantee, as the case may be) then due.

Prior to the giving of any Tax Redemption Notice pursuant to this Condition 6(b), the
Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) shall deliver to the Trustee (A) a certificate
in English signed by an Authorised Signatory of the lIssuer (or by any Authorised
Signatory of the Guarantor, as the case may be) stating that the obligation referred to in (i)
above of this Condition 6(b) cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case
may be) taking reasonable measures available to it, and (B) an opinion, addressed to and
in form and substance satisfactory to the Trustee, of independent tax or legal advisers of
recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) has
or will become obliged to pay such Additional Tax Amounts as a result of such change or
amendments. The Trustee shall be entitled (but shall not be obliged) to accept and rely
conclusively upon such certificate and opinion (without further investigation or query and
without liability to the Bondholders or any other person) as sufficient evidence of the
satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out in (i) and (ii) above of this Condition 6(b),
in which event the same shall be conclusive and binding on the Bondholders.

Redemption for Relevant Event: At any time following the occurrence of a Relevant
Event, the holder of any Original Bond or Additional Bonds (as the case may be) will have
the right, at such holder’s option, to require the Issuer to redeem all but not some only of
that holder’s Original Bonds or Additional Bonds (as the case may be) on the Put
Settlement Date (as defined below) at 101 per cent. (in the case of a redemption for a
Change of Control) or 100 per cent. (in the case of a redemption for a No Registration
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Event) of their principal amount, together in each case with any accrued interest up to but
excluding such Put Settlement Date. In order to exercise such right, the holder of the
relevant Bond must deposit at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any
other Paying Agent a duly completed and signed notice of redemption, substantially in the
form scheduled to the Agency Agreement, obtainable from the specified office of the
Principal Paying Agent or any other Paying Agent (a “Put Exercise Notice”), together
with the Certificate evidencing the relevant Bonds to be redeemed by not later than 30
days following a Relevant Event, or, if later, 30 days following the date upon which notice
thereof is given to the relevant Bondholders by the Issuer in accordance with Condition
16.

The “Put Settlement Date” shall be the fourteenth day (in the case of a redemption for a
Change of Control) or the tenth day (in the case of a redemption for a No Registration
Event) after the expiry of such period of 30 days as referred to above. A Put Exercise
Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and the Issuer shall redeem the Bonds the
subject of the Put Exercise Notices delivered as aforesaid on the Put Settlement Date.

Neither the Trustee nor the Agents shall be required to monitor whether a Relevant Event
or any event which could lead to the occurrence of a Relevant Event has occurred and
shall not be liable to the relevant Bondholders or any other person for not doing so.

The Issuer shall give notice in writing to the relevant Bondholders in accordance with
Condition 16 and to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent in writing by not later than
14 days (in the case of a redemption for a Change of Control) or five Registration
Business Days (in the case of a redemption for a No Registration Event) following the first
day on which it becomes aware of the occurrence of a Relevant Event, which notice shall
specify the procedure for exercise by holders of their rights to require redemption of the
relevant Bonds pursuant to this Condition 6(c).

For the purpose of these Conditions:
a “Change of Control” occurs when:

(i) Shandong SASAC together with any other person(s) directly or indirectly Controlled
by the central government of the PRC cease to directly or indirectly Control the
Guarantor;

(if) the Guarantor ceases to directly or indirectly hold or own 100 per cent. of the issued
share capital of the Issuer; and

(iii) the Guarantor consolidates with or merges into or sells or transfers all or
substantially all of its assets to any other person or persons, acting together, who is
or are not Controlled by the central government of the PRC directly or indirectly;

“Control” means (i) the ownership or control of more than 50 per cent. of the voting
rights of the issued share capital of the relevant person or (ii) the right to appoint and/or
remove all or the majority of the members of the relevant person’s board of directors or
other governing body, whether obtained directly or indirectly, and whether obtained by
ownership of share capital, the possession of voting rights, contract or otherwise; the term
“Controlled” has meanings correlative to the foregoing;

a “No Registration Event” occurs when: (i) in respect of the Original Bonds only, the
Registration Conditions have not been satisfied in full on or before the Registration
Deadline in relation to the Original Bonds, or (ii) in respect of the Additional Bonds only,
the Registration Conditions have not been satisfied in full on or before the Registration
Deadline in relation to the Additional Bonds;
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(d)

(e)

(f)

a “person” includes any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture,
undertaking, association, organisation, trust, state or agency of a state (in each case
whether or not being a separate legal entity);

“Registration Conditions” means the receipt by the Trustee of the Registration
Documents as set forth in Condition 4(d);

a “Relevant Event” means a Change of Control or a No Registration Event; and

“Shandong SASAC” means the Shandong Provincial State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission (L& A RBUNE A & E B EHZE 5 T).

Neither the Agents nor the Trustee shall be required to monitor or to take any steps to
ascertain whether a Relevant Event has occurred or may occur and none of them shall be
liable to Bondholders, the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other person for not doing so.
Neither the Agents nor the Trustee shall have no obligation or duty to verify the accuracy,
validity and/or genuineness of any Registration Documents or any documents in relation to
or in connection with any Relevant Event and shall not be liable to Bondholders, the
Issuer, the Guarantor or any other person for not doing so.

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate, a right of a Bondholder to
redemption of the Bonds following the occurrence of a Relevant Event will be effected in
accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems.

Purchase: The Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries may at any
time purchase Bonds in the open market or otherwise at any price. The Bonds so
purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any such Subsidiary,
shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Bondholders and shall not be
deemed to be outstanding for certain purposes, including without limitation for the purpose
of calculating quorums at meetings of the Bondholders or for the purposes of Conditions
9, 12(a) and 13.

Notices of Redemption: All Bonds in respect of which any notice of redemption is given
under this Condition 6 shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in
accordance with this Condition 6. If there is more than one notice of redemption given in
respect of any Bond (which shall include any notice given by the Issuer pursuant to
Condition 6(b) and any Put Exercise Notice given by a Bondholder pursuant to Condition
6(c)), the notice given first in time shall prevail and in the event of two notices being
given on the same date, the first to be given shall prevail. Neither the Trustee nor any of
the Agents shall be responsible for calculating or verifying any calculations of any
amounts payable under any notice of redemption or Put Exercise Notice and shall not be
liable to Bondholders, the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other person for not doing so.

Cancellation: All Certificates representing Bonds redeemed or purchased by or on behalf
of the Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective Subsidiaries shall be surrendered for
cancellation to the Registrar and, upon surrender thereof, all such Bonds shall be cancelled
forthwith. Any Certificates so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold
and the obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor in respect of any such Bonds shall be
discharged.
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Payments

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Method of Payment:

(i) Payments of principal and premium (if any) shall be made (subject to surrender of
the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any Transfer Agent or of the
Registrar if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Bonds represented
by such Certificates) in the manner provided in Condition 7(a)(ii) below.

(i) Interest on each Bond shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close
of business on the seventh Payment Business Day before the due date for payment
thereof (the “Record Date”). Payments of interest on each Bond shall be made by
wire transfer to the registered account of the Bondholder. For the purposes of this
Condition 7(a), a Bondholder’'s *“registered account” means the U.S. dollar
denominated account maintained by or on behalf of it with a bank, details of which
appear on the Register at the close of business on the Record Date.

(iti) If the amount of principal being paid upon surrender of the relevant Certificate is
less than the outstanding principal amount of such Certificate, the Registrar will
annotate the Register with the amount of principal so paid and will (if so requested
in writing by the Issuer or a Bondholder) issue a new Certificate with a principal
amount equal to the remaining unpaid outstanding principal amount. If the amount of
interest being paid is less than the amount then due, the Registrar will annotate the
Register with the amount of interest so paid.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as the Global Certificate is held on behalf of
Euroclear, Clearstream or any other clearing system through which the Bonds are held,
each payment in respect of the Global Certificate will be made to the person shown as the
holder in the Register at the close of business of the relevant clearing system on the
Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such payments, where “ Clearing
System Business Day” means a weekday (Monday to Friday, inclusive) except 25
December and 1 January.

Payments subject to Fiscal Laws: Payments will be subject in all cases to (i) any fiscal
or other laws, regulations and directives applicable thereto in the place of payment, but
without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8 and (ii) any withholding or deduction
required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) or otherwise imposed pursuant to
Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any
official interpretations thereof, or (without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8) any
law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto. No commission or expenses
shall be charged to the Bondholders in respect of such payments.

Payment Initiation: Payment instructions (for value on the due date or, if that is not a
Payment Business Day, for value the first following day which is a Payment Business Day)
will be initiated on the due date for payment or, if that is not a Payment Business Day, for
value the first following day which is a Payment Business Day or, in the case of payments
of principal and premium (if any) where the relevant Certificate has not been surrendered
at the specified office of any Transfer Agent or of the Registrar, on the first Payment
Business Day on which the Principal Paying Agent is open for business and on or
following which the relevant Certificate is surrendered.

Appointment of Agents: The Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, and the Transfer
Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and the Guarantor and their respective specified
offices are listed below. The Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, and the Transfer Agent
act solely as agents of the Issuer and the Guarantor (and as provided in the Trust Deed, the
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Trustee) and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with
any Bondholder. The Issuer and the Guarantor reserve the right at any time with the prior
written approval of the Trustee to vary or terminate the appointment of the Principal
Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or any of the other Agents and to appoint
additional or other Transfer Agent, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) a
Principal Paying Agent, (ii) a Registrar, (iii) a Transfer Agent, and (iv) such other agents
as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Bonds may be listed, in each
case, as approved by the Trustee.

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office of an Agent shall
promptly be given by the Issuer to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16.

(e) Delay in Payment: Bondholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for
any delay after the due date in receiving the amount due on a Bond if the due date is not a
Payment Business Day, or if the Bondholder is late in surrendering or cannot surrender its
Certificate (if required to do so).

(f) Non-Payment Business Days: If any date for payment in respect of any Bond is not a
Payment Business Day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following
Payment Business Day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed
payment. In this Condition 7, “Payment Business Day” means a day (other than a
Saturday, a Sunday or a public holiday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange
markets are generally open for business and settlement of U.S. dollar payment in New
York City, Hong Kong and the place in which the specified office of the Principal Paying
Agent is located and the relevant place of presentation.

Taxation

All payments of principal, premium (if any) and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer or the
Guarantor in respect of the Bonds or under the Guarantee shall be made free and clear of, and
without withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or
assessed by or within the British Virgin Islands or the PRC or any political subdivision or any
authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is
required by law.

Where such withholding or deduction is made by the Issuer or, as the case may be, the
Guarantor by or within the PRC up to and including the aggregate rate applicable on 25 August
2020 (the “Applicable Rate”), the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor will increase the
amounts paid by it to the extent required, so that the net amount received by Bondholders
equals the amounts which would otherwise have been receivable by them had no such
withholding or deduction been required.

If (i) the Issuer is required to make a deduction or withholding by or within the British Virgin
Islands, or (ii) the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor is required to make a deduction
or withholding by or within the PRC in excess of the Applicable Rate, the Issuer, or as the case
may be, the Guarantor shall pay such additional amounts (“Additional Tax Amounts”) as will
result in receipt by the Bondholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had
no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no Additional Tax Amounts shall be
payable in respect of any Bond (or the Guarantee, as the case may be):

(@) Other connection: to a holder (or to a third party on behalf of a holder) who is liable to
such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Bond by reason
of his having some connection with the British Virgin Islands (in the case of payments
made by the Issuer) or the PRC (in the case of payments made by the Issuer or the
Guarantor) other than the mere holding of the Bond; or
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(b) Surrender more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: in respect of which the
Certificate representing it is presented or surrendered (where presentation or surrender is
required) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that
the holder of it would have been entitled to such Additional Tax Amounts presenting or as
the case may be surrendering the Certificate representing such Bond for payment on the
last day of such period of 30 days.

References in these Conditions to principal, premium (if any) and interest shall be deemed also
to refer to any Additional Tax Amounts which may be payable under this Condition 8 or any
undertaking or covenant given in addition thereto or in substitution therefor pursuant to the
Trust Deed, the Deed of Guarantee or the Bonds.

“Relevant Date” in respect of any Bond means the date on which payment in respect of it first
becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the
date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven
days after that on which notice is duly given to the Bondholders that, upon further presentation
or, as the case may be, surrender of the Certificate representing such Bond being made in
accordance with these Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact
made upon such presentation or surrender.

Neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall be responsible for paying any tax, duty, assessments,
charges, withholding or other payment referred to in this Condition 8 or otherwise in connection
with the Bonds or for determining whether such amounts are payable or the amount thereof, and
shall not be responsible or liable for any failure by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Bondholders
or any other person to pay such tax, duty, assessments, charges, withholding or other payment in
any jurisdiction or be responsible to provide any notice or information in relation to the Bonds
in connection with payment of such tax, duty, assessments, charges, withholding or other
payment imposed by or in any jurisdiction.

Events of Default

If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) occurs, the Trustee at its discretion may,
and if so requested in writing by holders of at least one-fifth of the aggregate principal amount
of the Bonds then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (provided
in any such case that the Trustee shall first have been indemnified and/or secured and/or
pre-funded to its satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer and the Guarantor that the Bonds are,
and they shall immediately become, due and payable at their principal amount together (if
applicable) with accrued interest:

(@) Non-Payment: the Issuer fails to pay (i) the principal of the Bonds when due or (ii) any
interest on any of the Bonds when due and such failure continues for a period of seven
calendar days; or

(b) Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer or the Guarantor does not perform or comply
with any one or more of its other obligations under the Bonds, the Deed of Guarantee or
the Trust Deed (other than those referred to in Condition 9(a) and where such default gives
rise to a redemption pursuant to Condition 6(c)) and such default (i) is in the opinion of
the Trustee, incapable of remedy or, (ii) if in the opinion of the Trustee capable of remedy,
is not remedied within 30 days after the Trustee has given written notice thereof to the
Issuer and the Guarantor; or

(c) Cross-Default: (i) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer or the Guarantor
or any of their respective Subsidiaries for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised
becomes (or becomes capable of being declared) due and payable prior to its stated
maturity by reason of any actual or potential default, event of default or the like
(howsoever described), or (ii) any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case
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(h)

(i)

may be, within any originally applicable grace period, or (iii) the Issuer or the Guarantor
or any of their respective Subsidiaries fails to pay when due any amount payable by it
under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect of, any moneys
borrowed or raised provided that the aggregate amount of the relevant indebtedness,
guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one or more of the events mentioned above
in this Condition 9(c) have occurred in aggregate equals or exceeds U.S.$25,000,000 or its
equivalent (on the basis of the middle spot rate for the relevant currency against the U.S.
dollar as quoted by any leading bank on the day on which this Condition 9(c) operates); or

Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is
levied, enforced or sued out on or against any material part of the property, assets or
revenues of the Issuer or the Guarantor or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries
and is not discharged or stayed within 30 days; or

Security Enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or
future, created or assumed by the Issuer or the Guarantor or any of their respective
Principal Subsidiaries on the whole or any material part of its assets becomes enforceable
and any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of possession or the appointment
of a receiver, manager or other similar person) and is not discharged or stayed within 30
days; or

Insolvency: the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries is
(or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court of competent jurisdiction to be) insolvent or
bankrupt or unable to pay its debts when due, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or
suspend payment of all or a material part of (or of a particular type of) its debts, proposes
or makes any agreement for the deferral, rescheduling or other readjustment of all of (or
all of a particular type of) its debts (or of any material part which it will or might
otherwise be unable to pay when due), proposes or makes a general assignment or an
arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of
any of such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of or affecting all or
any material part of (or of a particular type of) the debts of the Issuer, the Guarantor or
any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries; or

Winding-up: an order is made by a court of competent jurisdiction or an effective
resolution is passed for the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any
of their respective Principal Subsidiaries (except for the voluntary solvent winding-up of
any such Principal Subsidiary), or the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective
Principal Subsidiaries ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or substantially all of its
business or operations, except for the purpose of and followed by a reconstruction,
amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or consolidation (i) on terms approved by the
Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Bondholders, or (ii) in the case of a
Principal Subsidiary, whereby the undertaking and assets of the Principal Subsidiary are
transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer or another of its Subsidiaries; or (iii) a
disposal of or by a Principal Subsidiary on an arm’s-length basis where the assets (whether
in cash or otherwise) from such disposal shall be transferred to or otherwise vested in the
Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their Subsidiaries; or

Nationalisation: any step is taken by any person under the authority of any national,
regional or local government with a view to the seizure, compulsory acquisition,
expropriation or nationalisation of all or a material part of the assets of the Issuer, the
Guarantor or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries; or

Authorisation and Consents: any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or
effecting of any necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence,
order, recording or registration) at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order
(i) to enable the Issuer and the Guarantor lawfully to enter into, exercise their respective
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rights and perform and comply with their respective obligations under the Bonds, the Deed
of Guarantee and the Trust Deed, (ii) to ensure that those obligations are legally binding
and enforceable and (iii) to make the Bonds, the Deed of Guarantee and the Trust Deed
admissible in evidence in the courts of Hong Kong is not taken, fulfilled or done; or

[llegality: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer or the Guarantor to perform or
comply with any one or more of its obligations under any of the Bonds, the Deed of
Guarantee or the Trust Deed; or

Unenforceability of Guarantee: the Guarantee becomes unenforceable or invalid or shall
for any reason cease to be in full force and effect or is claimed to be unenforceable,
invalid or not in full force and effect by the Guarantor; or

Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has
an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of the foregoing paragraphs of
this Condition 9.

In this Condition 9, “Principal Subsidiaries” means any Subsidiary of the Issuer or the
Guarantor:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

whose revenue or (in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries) consolidated
revenue, as shown by its latest audited income statement is at least five per cent. of the
consolidated revenue as shown by the latest published audited consolidated income
statement of the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) including, for the avoidance of
doubt, the Issuer’s or the Guarantor (as applicable) consolidated Subsidiaries’ share of
revenue of Subsidiaries not consolidated and of jointly controlled entities and after
adjustments for minority interests;

whose net profit or (in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries) consolidated
net profit, as shown by its latest audited income statement are at least five per cent. of the
consolidated net profit as shown by the latest published audited consolidated income
statement of the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) including, for the avoidance of
doubt, the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s (as applicable) consolidated Subsidiaries’ share of
net profit of Subsidiaries not consolidated and of jointly controlled entities and after
adjustments for minority interests; or

whose total assets or (in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries)
consolidated total assets, as shown by its latest audited balance sheet are at least five per
cent. of the amount as shown by the latest published audited consolidated balance sheet of
the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) including, for the avoidance of doubt, the
investment of the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) in each Subsidiary whose
accounts are not consolidated with the consolidated audited accounts of the Issuer or the
Guarantor (as applicable) and after adjustment for minority interests;

provided that, in relation to paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) above of this definition:

(@) in the case of a corporation or other business entity becoming a Subsidiary after the
end of the financial period to which the latest consolidated audited accounts of the
Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) relate, the reference to the then latest
consolidated audited accounts of the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) for the
purposes of the calculation above shall, until consolidated audited accounts of the
Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) for the financial period in which the relevant
corporation or other business entity becomes a Subsidiary are published, be deemed
to be a reference to the then latest consolidated audited accounts of the Issuer or the
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Guarantor (as applicable) adjusted to consolidate the latest audited accounts
(consolidated in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries) of such
Subsidiary in such accounts;

(b) if at any relevant time in relation to the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) or any
Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) which itself has Subsidiaries
no consolidated accounts are prepared and audited, revenue, net profit or total assets
of the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) and/or any such Subsidiary of the
Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) shall be determined on the basis of pro forma
consolidated accounts prepared for this purpose by the Issuer or the Guarantor (as
applicable);

(c) if at any relevant time in relation to any Subsidiary, no accounts are audited, its
revenue, net profit or total assets (consolidated, if appropriate) shall be determined
on the basis of pro forma accounts (consolidated, if appropriate) of the relevant
Subsidiary prepared for this purpose by the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable);

(d) if the accounts of any subsidiary (not being a Subsidiary referred to in proviso (i)
above of this definition) are not consolidated with those of the Issuer or the
Guarantor (as applicable), then the determination of whether or not such subsidiary is
a Principal Subsidiary shall be based on a pro forma consolidation of its accounts
(consolidated, if appropriate) with the consolidated accounts (determined on the basis
of the foregoing) of the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable) prepared for this
purpose by the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable); and

(e) in the case of a Subsidiary to which is transferred the whole or substantially the
whole of the assets of a Subsidiary which immediately prior to such transfer was a
Principal Subsidiary, the Principal Subsidiary which so transfers its assets shall
forthwith upon such transfer cease to be a Principal Subsidiary and the Subsidiary to
which the assets are so transferred shall become a Principal Subsidiary upon such
transfer but shall cease to be a Principal Subsidiary at the date on which the first
published audited accounts (consolidated, if appropriate) of the Issuer or the
Guarantor (as applicable) prepared as of a date later than such transfer are issued
unless such Subsidiary would continue to be a Principal Subsidiary on the basis of
such accounts by virtue of the provisions of paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) above of this
definition.

Prescription

Claims against the Issuer and/or the Guarantor for payment in respect of the Bonds and/or the
Guarantee (as applicable) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in
the case of principal or premium (if any)) or five years (in the case of interest) from the
appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

Replacement of Certificates

If any Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to
applicable laws, regulations or other relevant regulatory authority regulations, at the specified
office of the Registrar or such other Transfer Agent as may from time to time be designated by
the Issuer for that purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Bondholders, in each
case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on
such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity, prefunding and otherwise as (a) the Issuer may
require (provided that the requirement is reasonable in light of prevailing market practice) or (b)
the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent (as the case may be) may require. Mutilated or
defaced Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.
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Meetings of Bondholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution

(a)

(b)

(c)

M eetings of Bondholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of
Bondholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including without limitation the
sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or
any provisions of the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement or the Deed of Guarantee. Such
a meeting may be convened by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Trustee and shall be
convened by the Trustee if requested in writing to do so by the Bondholders holding not
less than 10 per cent in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being
outstanding and subject to the Trustee being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded
to its satisfaction against all costs and expenses. The quorum for any meeting convened to
consider an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons holding or representing
more than 50 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being
outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing the
Bondholders whatever the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds held or represented,
unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to
modify the maturity of the Bonds or the dates on which interest is payable in respect of
the Bonds, (ii) to reduce or cancel the principal amount of, any premium payable on
redemption of, or interest on, the Bonds, (iii) to change the currency of payment of the
Bonds, or (iv) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of
Bondholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution, or (v) to modify
or cancel the Deed of Guarantee (other than as contemplated in Condition 12(b)) in which
case the necessary quorum will be two or more persons holding or representing not less
than 75 per cent., or at any adjourned meeting not less than 25 per cent., in aggregate
principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary
Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Bondholders (whether or not they were present
at the meeting at which such resolution was passed). The Trust Deed provides that a
resolution (a) in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 90 per cent.
in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding or (b) passed by Electronic
Consent (as defined in the Trust Deed) shall for all purposes be as valid and effective as
an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Bondholders duly convened and held.
Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in
the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Bondholders.

Modification and Waiver: The Trustee may (but shall not be obliged to) agree, without
the consent of the Bondholders, to (i) any modification of any of these Conditions or any
of the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Deed of Guarantee or the Agency Agreement that
is in its opinion of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest
error or to comply with any mandatory provision of law, and (ii) any other modification
(except as mentioned in the Trust Deed and/or the Deed of Guarantee), and any waiver or
authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of these Conditions or any of the
provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Guarantee, that is
in the opinion of the Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders.
Any such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Bondholders and,
unless the Trustee otherwise agrees, any modification, authorisation or waiver shall be
notified by the Issuer to the Bondholders as soon as practicable thereafter in accordance
with Condition 16.

Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with performance and the exercise of its
functions, rights, powers and/or discretions (including but not limited to those referred to
in this Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Bondholders as a
class and shall not have regard to the interest of, or be responsible for, the consequences
of such exercise for individual Bondholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require
on behalf of any Bondholder, nor shall any Bondholder be entitled to claim, from the
Issuer, the Guarantor or the Trustee any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax
consequence of any such exercise upon individual Bondholders.
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Enforcement

At any time after the Bonds become due and payable, the Trustee may, at its discretion and
without further notice, take such steps and/or actions and/or institute such proceedings against
the Issuer and/or the Guarantor as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Trust Deed, the
Deed of Guarantee and the Bonds, but it need not take any such steps and/or actions and/or
institute any such proceedings unless (a) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary
Resolution or so requested in writing by Bondholders holding at least 25 per cent. in aggregate
in principal amount of the Bonds outstanding, and (b) it shall have been indemnified and/or
secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. No Bondholder may proceed directly against the
Issuer or the Guarantor unless the Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails to do so
within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing.

Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from
responsibility including without limitation, provisions relieving it from taking steps and/or
actions and/or instituting proceedings to enforce its rights under the Trust Deed, the Agency
Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee and/or these Conditions and in respect of the Bonds, or take
any steps and/or actions and/or instituting proceedings and payment or taking other actions
unless first indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. The Trustee is
entitled to be paid or reimbursed its fees, costs, expenses and indemnity payments and for any
liabilities incurred by it in priority to the claims of Bondholders. The Trustee is entitled to enter
into business transactions with the Issuer, the Guarantor and any entity related (directly or
indirectly) to the Issuer or the Guarantor without accounting for any profit.

None of the Trustee or any of the Agents shall be responsible for the performance by the Issuer,
the Guarantor and any other person appointed by the Issuer or the Guarantor in relation to the
Bonds of the duties and obligations on their part expressed in respect of the same and, unless it
has written notice from the Issuer or the Guarantor to the contrary, the Trustee and each Agent
shall be entitled to assume that the same are being duly performed. None of the Trustee or any
Agent shall be liable to any Bondholder, the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other person for any
action taken by the Trustee or such Agent in accordance with the instructions, direction or
request of the Bondholders. The Trustee and the Agents shall be entitled to rely on any
instruction, direction, request or resolution of Bondholders given by Bondholders holding the
requisite principal amount of Bonds outstanding or passed at a meeting of Bondholders
convened and held in accordance with the Trust Deed or passed as otherwise provided in the
Trust Deed. Neither the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall be under any obligation to ascertain
whether any Event of Default, Potential Event of Default or Relevant Event has occurred or to
monitor compliance by the Issuer or the Guarantor with the provisions of the Trust Deed, the
Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee or these Conditions, and shall not be liable to the
Bondholders or any other person for not doing so.

The Trustee shall have no obligation to monitor compliance with the provisions of the Trust
Deed, the Deed of Guarantee, the Agency Agreement or these Conditions or whether an Event
of Default or a Potential Event of Default or a Change of Control or any event which could lead
to the occurrence of a Change of Control has occurred, and shall not be liable to the
Bondholders or any other person for not doing so.

Whenever the Trustee is required or entitled by the terms of the Trust Deed, the Deed of
Guarantee, the Agency Agreement or these Conditions to exercise any discretion or power, take
any action, make any decision or give any direction or certification, the Trustee is entitled, prior
to its exercising any such discretion or power, taking any such action, making any such
decision, or giving any such direction or certification, to seek directions from the Bondholders
by way of an Extraordinary Resolution or clarification of any directions, and the Trustee shall
not be responsible for any loss or liability incurred by the lIssuer, the Guarantor, the
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Bondholders or any other person as a result of any delay in it exercising such discretion or
power, taking such action, making such decision, or giving such direction or certification as a
result of seeking such directions or in the event that no such direction or clarification is given
to the Trustee by the Bondholders.

The Trustee may rely conclusively without liability to Bondholders, the Issuer, the Guarantor or
any other person on any report, confirmation, certificate or information from or any advice or
opinion of any legal counsel, accountants, financial advisers, financial institution or any other
expert, whether or not obtained by or addressed to it and whether their liability in relation
thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto entered into by the
Trustee or any other person in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology
or otherwise. The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely conclusively on any such
report, confirmation, certificate, information, advice or opinion and such report, confirmation,
certificate, information, advice or opinion shall be binding on the Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Trustee and the Bondholders. The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable to the Issuer, the
Guarantor, the Bondholders or any other person for any loss occasioned by acting on or
refraining from acting on any such report, confirmation, certificate, information, advice or
opinion.

Each Bondholder shall be solely responsible for making and continuing to make its own
independent appraisal and investigation into the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition,
affairs, status and nature of the Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective Subsidiaries, and the
Trustee shall not at any time have any responsibility for the same and each Bondholder shall not
rely on the Trustee in respect thereof.

Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders create and issue
further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or in
all respects except for the issue date, the first payment of interest on them and the timing for
compliance with the requirements set out in these Conditions in relation to the NDRC Post-issue
Filing and the Cross-Border Security Registration or for the exercise of a redemption for a No
Registration Event) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series
with the outstanding Bonds. References in these Conditions to the Bonds include (unless the
context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition 15 and
consolidated and forming a single series with the Bonds. Any further securities shall be
constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed and be guaranteed by the Guarantor
pursuant to a deed supplemental to the Deed of Guarantee.

Notices

Notices to the holders of Bonds shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the
Register and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a
Saturday, a Sunday or a public holiday) after the date of mailing. The Issuer shall also ensure
that notices are duly published in a manner that complies with the rules and regulations of any
stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the Bonds are for the time being listed. Any
such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the second day after being mailed or, as the
case may be, on the date of such publication or, if published more than once, on the first date
on which publication is made.

So long as the Global Certificate is held in its entirety on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream,
any notice to the holders of the Bonds shall be validly given by the delivery of the relevant
notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, for communication by the relevant clearing system to
entitled accountholders in substitution for notification as required by these Conditions and shall
be deemed to have been given on the date of delivery to such clearing system.
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Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 but this shall not affect any right or remedy which
exists or is available apart from such Act and is without prejudice to the rights of the
Bondholders as set out in Condition 13.

Governing Law and Jurisdiction

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Governing Law: The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee and the
Bonds and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are
governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

Jurisdiction: The courts of Hong Kong are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any
disputes that may arise out of or in connection with the Bonds, the Trust Deed, the Agency
Agreement and the Deed of Guarantee and accordingly any legal action or proceedings
arising out of or in connection with any Bonds, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and
the Deed of Guarantee (“Proceedings’) may be brought in such courts. The Issuer has in
the Trust Deed irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such courts.

Agent for Service of Process: The Issuer and the Guarantor has irrevocably appointed in
the Trust Deed and the Deed of Guarantee an agent in Hong Kong to receive service of
process in any Proceedings in Hong Kong based on any of the Bonds or the Guarantee. If
for any reason the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, ceases to have such an
agent in Hong Kong, it will promptly appoint a substitute process agent and shall notify
the Trustee of such replacement within 30 days of such cessation. Nothing herein shall
affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

Waiver of Immunity: Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has waived any right to claim
sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction or execution and any similar defence, and
has irrevocably consented to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process, including,
without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever
(irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment made or given in
connection with any Proceedings.
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE BONDS IN GLOBAL FORM

The Global Certificate contains provisions which apply to the Bonds while they are in global form,
some of which modify the effect of the Terms and Conditions set out in this Offering Circular. The
following is a summary of certain of those provisions.

Terms defined in the Terms and Conditions set out in this Offering Circular have the meaning in the
paragraphs below.

The Bonds will be represented by a Global Certificate which will be registered in the name of a
nominee of, and deposited with, a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream.

Under the Global Certificate, the Issuer, for value received, will promise to pay such principal,
interest and premium (if any) on the Bonds to the holder of the Bonds on such date or dates as the
same may become repayable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions.

Owners of interests in the Bonds in respect of which the Global Certificate is issued will be entitled
to have title to the Bonds registered in their names and to receive individual definitive Certificates if
either Euroclear or Clearstream or any other clearing system (an “Alternative Clearing System”) is
closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or
otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so.

Individual definitive Certificates will be issued in an aggregate principal amount equal to the
principal amount of the Global Certificate. Such exchange will be effected in accordance with the
provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the regulations concerning the transfer and
registration of the Bonds scheduled thereto and, in particular, shall be effected without charge to any
holder of the Bonds or the Trustee, but against such indemnity and/or security as the Registrar or the
relevant Agent may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be
levied or imposed in connection with such exchange.

The Issuer will cause sufficient individual definitive Certificates to be executed and delivered to the
Registrar for completion, authentication and despatch to the relevant Bondholders. A person with an
interest in the Bonds in respect of which the Global Certificate is issued must provide the Registrar
not less than 30 days’' notice at its specified office of such holder’s intention to effect such exchange
and a written order containing instructions and such other information as the Issuer and the Registrar
may require to complete, execute and deliver such individual definitive Certificates.

In addition, the Global Certificate will contain provisions which modify the Terms and Conditions as
they apply to the Bonds evidenced by the Global Certificate. The following is a summary of certain
of those provisions:

Payment

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate, each payment in respect of the Global
Certificate will be made to, or to the order of, the person shown as the holder of the Bonds in the
Register at the close of business (of the relevant clearing system) on the Clearing System Business
Day immediately prior to the due date for such payments, where “Clearing System Business Day”
means a weekday (Monday to Friday, inclusive) except 25 December and 1 January.
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Calculation of Interest

So long as the Bonds are represented by a Global Certificate and such Global Certificate is held on
behalf of a clearing system, the Issuer has promised, inter alia, to pay interest in respect of such
Bonds from the Issue Date in arrear at the rates, on the dates for payment, and in accordance with the
method of calculation provided for in the Conditions, save that the calculation is made in respect of
the total aggregate amount of the Bonds represented by such Global Certificate.

Notices

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on
behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream or any Alternative Clearing System, notices to Bondholders shall
be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear or Clearstream or such Alternative Clearing
System, for communication by it to accountholders entitled to an interest in the Bonds in substitution
for notification as required by the Terms and Conditions.

M eetings

For the purposes of any meeting of Bondholders, the holder of the Bonds represented by this Global
Certificate shall (unless the Global Certificate represents only one Bond) be treated as two persons
for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Bondholders and as being entitled to
one vote in respect of each U.S.$1,000 in principal amount of Bonds for which the Global Certificate
is issued.

Bondholder’s Redemption

The Bondholder’s redemption option in Condition 6(c) (Redemption for Relevant Event) of the Terms
and Conditions may be exercised by the holder of the Global Certificate giving notice to the Principal
Paying Agent within the time limites set out in the Terms and Conditions, in accordance with the
rules and procedures of the relevant clearing system failing which, in the form of the notice of
redemption available from any Paying Agent and stating the principal amount of Bonds in respect of
which the option is exercised within the time limits specified in the Terms and Conditions.

Issuer’s Redemption

The option of the Issuer provided for in Condition 6(b) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons) of the
Terms and Conditions shall be exercised by the Issuer giving notice to the Bondholders within the
time limits set out in and containing the information required by the Terms and Conditions.

Transfers

Transfers of interests in the Bonds will be effected through the records of Euroclear and Clearstream
(or any Alternative Clearing System) and their respective participants in accordance with the rules
and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream (or any Alternative Clearing System) and their
respective direct and indirect participants.

Cancellation

Cancellation of any Bond by the Issuer following its redemption or purchase by the Issuer, the
Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries will be effected by a reduction in the principal
amount of the Bonds in the register of Bondholders and the Global Certificate on its presentation to
or to the order of the Registrar for annotation (for information only) in the schedule to the Global
Certificate.
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Trustee’'s Powers

In considering the interests of Bondholders while the Global Certificate is registered in the name of a
nominee for a clearing system, the Trustee may, to the extent it considers it appropriate to do so in
the circumstances, but without being obligated to do so, (a) have regard to any information as may
have been made available to it by or on behalf of the relevant clearing system or its operator as to
the identity of its accountholders (either individually or by way of category) with entitlements in
respect of the Bonds and (b) consider such interests on the basis that such accountholders were the
Bondholders in respect of which the Global Certificate is issued.

The Global Certificate shall not become valid for any purpose until authenticated by or on behalf of
the Registrar.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The gross proceeds from the offering of the Additional Bonds (after taking into account the issue
price but before adding accrued interests from (and including) 28 February 2021 to (but excluding)
11 June 2021) will be U.S.$139,979,000. Such proceeds, after deducting commissions and other
estimated expenses payable in connection with the offering of the Additional Bonds, will be used for
refinancing certain offshore indebtedness, retail business development and offshore business
development.
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CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

The following table sets forth the consolidated total indebtedness (both current and non-current
portions), total equity and total capitalisation of the Guarantor as at 31 December 2020 on an (i)
actual basis and (ii) adjusted basis to give effect to the Additional Bonds to be issued. The summary
consolidated financial information below should be read in conjunction with the Guarantor’s
consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements included elsewhere in this
Offering Circular.

As at 31 December 2020

Actual As adjusted
RMB U.S.$® RMB UsSs$®
(in millions)

Current indebtedness:
Short-term loans .. ............... 15,471.9 2,371.2 15,471.9 2,371.2
Non-current liabilities maturing within

oneyear .................0.... 15,639.6 2,396.9 15,639.6 2,396.9
Total current indebtedness ........ 31,111.5 4,768.0 31,111.5 4,768.0
Non-current indebtedness:
Long-termloans ................. 7,947.8 1,218.0 7,947.8 1,218.0
Bonds payable .................. 3,925.4 601.6 3,925.4 601.6
Long-term payables . .. ............ 1,710.1 262.1 1,710.1 262.1
Additional Bonds to be issued® . .. .. - - 913.5 140.0
Total non-current indebtedness . . . .. 13,583.3 2,081.7 14,496.8 2,221.7
Total indebtedness® .. ........... 44,694.8 6,849.8 45,608.3 6,989.8
Total equity .................... 22,530.0 3,452.9 22,530.0 3,452.9
Total capitalisation™® .. ........... 67,224.8 10,302.7 68,138.3 10,442.7
Notes:

(1) For convenience only, all translations from Renminbi into U.S. dollars are made at the rate of RMB6.5250 to U.S.$1.00,
based on the noon buying rate as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve Bank System on 31 December 2020.

(2)  Represents the aggregate principal amount of the Additional Bonds to be issued, before deducting commissions and
other estimated expenses payable in connection with the offering of the Additional Bonds.

(3)  Total indebtedness equals the sum of the current indebtedness and non-current indebtedness.

(4)  Total capitalisation represents the sum of total indebtedness and total equity.

There has been no material change in the consolidated capitalisation and indebtedness of the
Guarantor since 31 December 2020. The Group will continue to incur indebtedness from time to time
for general corporate purposes in the ordinary course of its business, including but not limited to
refinancing of existing indebtedness and funding its operations in the ordinary course of business.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER
Overview

The Issuer is a limited liability company incorporated under the BVI Business Companies Act, 2004
of the British Virgin Islands (BVI Company Number: 2029958). It was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands on 10 January 2020. The Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor. The
registered office of the Issuer is at OMC Chambers, Wickhams Cay 1, Road Town, Tortola, VG1110,
British Virgin Islands.

Business Activities

The Issuer was established with full capacity to carry on or undertake any business or activity, do any
act or enter into any transaction and has full rights, powers and privileges for the above purposes
pursuant to the objects and powers set out in its memorandum of association. As at the date of this
Offering Circular, the Issuer does not carry and has not carried on any business other than entering
into arrangements for the issue of the securities and, except for the Original Bonds issued on 28
August 2020, the Issuer has no debt outstanding and contingent liabilities. As at the date of this
Offering Circular, the Issuer has no subsidiaries and no material assets or liabilities.

Sole Director

The sole director of the Issuer is XU, FENG (#&1).

Share Capital

The Issuer is authorised under its memorandum of association to issue a maximum of 50,000 ordinary
shares of a single class with a par value of US$1.00 each. As at the date of this Offering Circular,
50,000 shares have been issued and credited as fully paid. No part of the equity securities of the
Issuer is listed or dealt on any stock exchange and no listing of or permission to deal in such
securities is being or proposed to be sought.

Financial Information

Under British Virgin Islands law, the Issuer is not required to publish condensed or annual financial
statements. The Issuer has not published, and does not propose to publish, any financial statements.
The Issuer is, however, required to keep proper books of account as are necessary to give a true and
fair view of the state of the Issuer’s affairs and to explain its transactions.

Legal Proceedings

The Issuer is not involved in any litigation or arbitration proceedings, and it is not aware of any
pending or threatened action against it.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP
Overview

The Group is a leading state-owned conglomerate based in Shandong Province, the PRC. Founded in
1992, the Group engages primarily in retail business, pharmaceutical business and health and
wellness properties business, and operates under a strong brand portfolio, consisting primarily of
“INZONE ($R)E)”, “FREDA (#&#m#£)” and “LUSHANG (#7)”. The Group also expands its
footprints in cultural tourism, education, healthcare, media business, financial services and
e-commerce and several other businesses. As a Shandong SASAC-controlled entity, the Group
consisted of 41 subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020, including two publicly-listed subsidiaries in the
PRC, namely Inzone Group Co., Ltd. (SRS KA R/, 600858.SH) and Lushang Health
Industry Development Co., Ltd. (7 fdt e & 2588 JE Ik 13 A BR 22 7], 600223.SH). With a proven track
record, the Group has received numerous awards and recognitions, including being ranked 152nd in
“Top 500 Chinese Enterprises in 2017 (2017+[E{>2£500%)" and 65th in “Top 500 Service
Companies in China in 2017 (2017 B iR 15 1> 2£500%#)”, respectively, in terms of operating income
by China Association of Enterprises ("' {>2£¥f & &) and China Entrepreneur Association (B4
%X €). Set forth below is a summary of each of the Group’s business segments:

. Retail Business. Retail business is the Group’s core business. The Group is a leading retail
business operator in Northern China. It ranked first among all retail business operators in
Shandong Province in terms of operating income by China General Chamber of Commerce (*+
% 7% 2£ 1 A €r) and China National Commercial Information Centre (*F %4 [8 ff 2£15 B+ 0) in
2018 and ranked first among all chain store operators in Shandong Province in terms of sales
volume by China Chain Store & Franchise Association (7 BI# 85484 &) in 2019. As at 31
December 2020, it operated 177 department stores, 204 convenience stores, eight homeware
stores, 61 electrical appliance stores, five shopping centres and six 4S sales outlets mainly
under the brands “INZONE (£8 )" and “Uni-Mart (4%—#RJE)”. These stores are located across
all 16 municipalities in Shandong Province, as well as nearby cities in Henan Province, Hebei
Province and Beijing.

. Pharmaceutical Business. The Group’s pharmaceutical business is engaged in the research and
development, manufacture and sale and distribution of a broad range of pharmaceutical and
healthcare products. The Group’s key products include western and Chinese medicines for neck
pain relief and cold treatment, medical supplies, health supplements, chemical raw materials and
skincare products. Its products are sold through an extensive sales and distribution network
nationwide. The Group is dedicated for years in research and development. It has a strong track
record in developing products, as well as a robust research and development product pipeline.
As at 31 December 2020, the Group obtained 64 approvals from the China Food and Drug
Administration (B X & &2 0 BB A8 R) for new drug certificate applications and
registered 67 patents for new drugs in the PRC.

. Health and Wellness Properties Business. The Group’s health and wellness properties business
involves the development and sale of residential and commercial properties. As at 31 December
2020, the Group had a total of 43 projects at various stages of development, primarily located in
Jinan, Qingdao, Harbin and Chongging. The Group has developed and launched three major
product series to the market, namely, “Lushang City Square (% 17 % 35)”, “Lushang Garden
Residence (47t E{£5)” and “Lushang Ecological Villa (%7 #EHIE)” which have been
well received by its customers. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a land bank with a total
site area of approximately 1,193,300 sg.m.

. Other Businesses. The Group also engages in other businesses, primarily including cultural
tourism, education, healthcare, media businesses and financial services and e-commerce
business. Revenues from each business historically recorded a relatively small percentage as
compared to the Group’s total operating income.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of the total operating income from each business segment
of the Group in absolute amount and as a percentage of the Group’s total operating income for the
periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020

Amount % of total Amount % of total Amount % of total

(RMB in (RMB in (RMB in

millions) millions) millions)
Retail business .......... 27,184 71.6 27,414 68.8 18,629 52.0
Pharmaceutical business . .. 858 2.3 1,039 2.6 1,477 4.1
Health and wellness

properties business . . ... 7,963 21.0 9,250 23.2 12,139 33.9

Other businesses . ........ 1,950 5.1 2,129 5.4 3,557 9.9
Total operating income . .. 37,956 100.0 39,833 100.0 35,802 100.0

The Group has maintained a stable growth. For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020,
total operating income from the Group’s business operation was RMB37,956 million, RMB39,833
million and RMB35,802 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the total
assets of the Group were RMB94,104 million, RMB103,386 million and RMB117,357 million,
respectively.

Competitive Strengths
The Group believes that the following strengths are important to its success and future development:
Strong support from the Shandong Provincial Government

The Group is a leading state-owned conglomerate based in Shandong Province. In view of the
Group’s strategic importance and significant social and economic contributions to Shandong
Province, the Shandong Provincial Government has since its inception provided a variety of
important and special initiatives and policies for its development.

The Group is owned by and under the direct supervision and administration of Shandong SASAC. As
at the date of this Offering Circular, Shandong SASAC held approximately 70 per cent. of the equity
interest in the Company. The Group believes that Shandong SASAC will continue to be its single
largest direct or indirect shareholder. With the Group’s state-owned background, the Group derives
strong support (but excluding credit support) from the Shandong Provincial Government and
maintains its position as a leading state-owned conglomerate in Shandong Province. The Group has
extensive relationships with the Shandong Provincial Government and other entities directly or
indirectly controlled by it. Since 2016, the Group has acted as the state-owned capital investment
platform of the Shandong Provincial Government according to the Reply of Shandong Provincial
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission on the Implementation Plan of
Shandong Commercial Group Co., Ltd.’s Transition to State-owned Capital Investment Company
(LuGuo Zi Qi Gai Zi [2016] No. 18) (LLiI5R & B & Z= B i 1L A w4 1 A FR S Rl e B A A A
oy FVE G 5 52 R LTS (B B A [ 2016] 18%F)), and is commissioned by the Shandong Provincial
Government and other local governmental entities and agencies to play an important role in the
strategic planning and operation of many major industrial transformation projects and public projects,
such as the integration of provincial cultural tourism resources and the foundation and operation of
educational institutions in Shandong Province. For example, the Group has entered into commercial
arrangements and/or strategic co-operation agreements with a number of cities in Shandong Province,
such as Tai’an, Jinan, Qingdao and Weihai, for the implementation of 18 projects as at the date of
this Offering Circular under the “Revitalising Rural Areas (4FFf#kHL)” national strategy, covering
more than 50 villages.
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The Group has also received various favourable policies, business opportunities, asset and capital
injections, government subsidies and other grants and tax incentives from the Shandong Provincial
Government and other entities and enterprises controlled by it. For example, Shandong Silver Plaza
Group Investment Co., Ltd. (15 & 864 B # & A BRA H]), the predecessor of one of the Group’s
key subsidiaries, Lushang Group Co., Ltd., was entirely injected into the Company in 2008. In
November 2018, the Group’s subsidiary, Shandong Cultural Tourism Development Co., Ltd. (ILI3R#&
Ab R A g% R E B A BR/AF]), was injected into the Company by the Shandong Provincial
Government with the aim to consolidate and optimise the cultural and tourism resources, such as
cultural heritage, hotels, travel agencies, resorts and art performance business, in Shandong Province,
SO as to cover a wide range spectrum of tourism-related and leisure-related services and destinations,
including primarily of boutique hotels, tourism destination, cultural media, special school, rural
revitalization and cultural tourism investment. In April 2020, Shandong Provincial Government and
Shandong Financial Bureau transferred 61.8 per cent. and 30.8 per cent. equity interests in Beijing
Taishan Hotel Co., Ltd. (dtm#ZEiIfliE) held by Beijing Shandong Hotel (dbatilisk#fE) and
Shandong International Trust Co., Ltd. (L5 & Bl FEBR M4 A FRA ), respectively, to the Group.
For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the Group received government subsidies
amounting to RMB79.1 million, RMB87.3 million and RMB160.6 million, respectively.

Furthermore, a number of favourable national policies and measures on urban development and
industrial transformation have been recently introduced, further brightening the prospects of the
Group’s core businesses. For example, the Shandong Provincial Government and the Party Committee
of Shandong Province jointly published the “Plan on Implementing the Strategy of Revitalising Rural
Areas in Shandong Province (2018-2022) (LI & 4BAT ik BLELEE K #1(2018-20224F))” in 2018,
clarifying the general requirements, basic principles, tasks and targets, and measures and policies of
implementing the “Revitalising Rural Areas (#8ff#z#)” national strategy in Shandong Province. The
Shandong Provincial Government has also launched the “Major Project on Replacing Old Drivers
with New Drivers in Shandong Province (1L 542 [f Jig B 5 85 ) fig g4 # K TH2)” in 2018, aiming to
promote supply-side structural reforms and high quality development, deepen reform and opening-up,
and foster competitive modern industrial clusters. The Shandong Provincial Government has also
launched the “Plan on Development of Medical Care and Eldercare Industry in Shandong Province
(2018-2022) (K& EEMEEEEEMH  (2018-20224F))” in 2018, clarifying the basic
principles, tasks and targets of developing the medical care and eldercare industry and designating
several key fields and geographical areas of implementing the development plan in Shandong
Province. These favourable policies and supports have brought significant business opportunities for
the Group.

The leader of retail business operation in Shandong Province with distinct brand identity

Retail business is the Group’s core business. Over the years, the Group has become the leader of
retail business operation in Shandong Province and a leading retail business operator in Northern
China. It was ranked first in Shandong Province and 20th among all retail business operators in
China in terms of operating income by China General Chamber of Commerce (" 2 i 2£5 & &) and
China National Commercial Information Centre (%24 p52£(5 £ #.0) in 2018, ranked first in
Shandong Province and 20th among all chain store operators in China in terms of sales volume by
China Chain Store & Franchise Association ([ $4 £ 1f; &) in 2019, and ranked 30th among all
enterprises in Shandong Province in terms of brand value by Shandong Corporate Culture Society (1lI
WE 2L E€r) in 2018. It was also successively honoured as “Honest Lushang (J&#E % 7%)”, one
of the “Top 10 National Retailersin Fair Trade (Honest) (4B %8 /A 158 % (il THEA 2£)”, one
of the “Outstanding Enterprises in Shandong Province (L& &% 1>3)", one of the “Top 10
Commercial Brands in Shandong Province (LIS & +{E/# 3£ h#)”, the “Most Influential Home Store
in Shandong Province (1R & i B2 )1 Z R E5)” and one of the “Top 100 Car Dealer Groups in
China (1 Bl B 58 77 5 48 81 e SE 1)

The Group conducts its retail business primarily in Shandong Province under the brand name of

“INZONE (#fJ%)”, which possesses distinct geographical advantages. Shandong Province is one of
the richest and fastest growing provinces in China. It is also a large coastal province between the
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Bohai Economic Rim and the Yangtze River Delta of the PRC. In line with the continuous
urbanisation, Shandong Province gained a solid foundation for its rapid growth of consumer spending
power. According to the Department of Commerce of Shandong Province (1113 & /%5 J#), Shandong
Province's total retail sales of consumer goods was RMB2,924.8 billion in 2020, and its annual urban
consumption expenditure per capita and annual rural consumption expenditure per capita reached
RMB2,367.1 billion and RMB557.6 billion, respectively, in 2020.

The Group operates a variety of retail stores, such as department stores, convenience stores,
homeware stores, electrical appliance stores, shopping centres and 4S sales outlets, as well as owns
specialized entities to provide e-commerce, logistic services, food processing, jewellery, wines and
electrical appliance businesses. Given the continuous economic growth and consumer spending power
of Shandong Province, the Group’s distinct brand and remarkable geographic advantages and retail
outlets network have laid a solid foundation for its future development prospects.

Multi-format retailing to meet diverse customer demands

Through synergistic operation of the Group’s diversified business segments covering retail business,
pharmaceutical business, health and wellness properties business, cultural tourism, education,
healthcare, media business and financial services and e-commerce business, the Group offers a wide
range of products and services through multiple retailing channels which are tailored to meet the
diverse demands of its customers in various industries.

As the leader of retail business operation in Shandong Province and a leading retail business operator
in Northern China, the Group provides different customer goods and services through its
comprehensive store portfolio that covers basic necessities of life. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group operated 177 department stores, 204 convenience stores, eight homeware stores, 61 electrical
appliance stores, five shopping centres and six 4S sales outlets across all 16 municipalities in
Shandong Province, as well as nearby cities in Henan Province, Hebei Province and Beijing.

The Group operates as the primary property developer which engages in the development and sales of
residential properties and commercial properties, which comprises residential projects and integrated
residential communities with comprehensive ancillary facilities including retail shops, as well as
commercial apartments, offices, hotels, shopping malls and shopping zones featuring dedicated retail
areas within Shandong Province, Beijing, Chongqing and Heilongjiang Province. As at 31 December
2020, the Group had a total of 25 projects under development.

For its pharmaceutical business, the Group engages in the research and development, manufacture
and sale and distribution of a broad range of pharmaceutical and healthcare products, including
western and Chinese medicines for neck pain relief and cold treatment, medical supplies, health
supplements, chemical raw materials and skincare products, which are sold through an extensive sales
and distribution network nationwide.

The Group has established several education institutions, including Shandong Institute of Commerce
& Technology (1L H P& 20k 2 5 1T 22 B¢) which is the only national demonstrative vocational colleges
in Shandong Province and one of the ten Class A vocational schools in China, Qingdao Vocational
and Technical College of Hotel Management (¥ /505 & Bk EHMTEEEE) which is the first
specialised hotel management school in China and a Class C vocational school in China, Shandong
Province City Service Technician College (1115 # 3l i IR+ Fii#EBE) which is distinguished in
development of Shandong cuisine. As at 31 December 2020, over 65,000 students were enrolled to
the Group’s education institutions.

The Group has also integrated internal resources in health, pension, health care and other aspects for
the development and promotion of elderly services business. Lushang Freda International Eldercare
Centre (47«4 Hm 2 B PR EE £ 71 0) and Linyi Zhichun Lake (EfUT 1% #5E H) have become one of
the first batch modelling units in Shandong Province.
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The Group believes that its well-diversified business portfolio can satisfy the various needs of its
customers in different industries.

Stable and long term relationships with high-quality brand owners

Over years of operations, the Group has established and maintained stable and long term relationships
with a number of high-quality domestic and international brand owners, in which the Group retails
their branded commodities through its comprehensive store portfolio, including department stores,
convenience stores, homeware stores, electrical appliance stores, shopping centres and 4S sales
outlets across all 16 municipalities in Shandong Province, as well as nearby cities in Henan Province,
Hebei Province and Beijing. The Group provides a broad mix of branded home products and services,
such as “Jomoo (JLH)”, “Qumei (H1EZFKE)”, “Quanyou (&K FKJE)", “Oppei (EJK)”, “Kohler (B
)7, “Arrow (F7HIA)”, “Suofeiya (FIFan)” and “Markor Furnishings (e FK)", in its
homeware stores. In addition, the Group provides customers with a wide range of merchandise with
diverse brand mix, such as GUCCI, Prada, Louis Vuitton, Hermes, Dior, Chanel and Omega, in its
department stores and shopping centres. The Group also operates 4S dealership under the brands of
Audi, FAW-Volkswagen, Shanghai Volkswagen, Shanghai General Motor, Skoda and Guangzhou
Hongda. The Group believes that its ability to secure and maintain stable and long-term business
relationships with high-quality brand owners is one of the key factors driving its success.

Diversified funding sources and prudent asset and debt management strategy

The Group has diversified financing channels to satisfy its capital requirements. To maintain stable
financing sources and low funding costs, the Group has been able to build up close working
relationships with many major banks in the PRC, such as China Construction Bank, Bank of China,
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Bank of Communications, China Everbright Bank, China
Bohai Bank, China Zheshang Bank, China CITIC Bank, China Merchants Bank, Bank of Beijing,
Hengfeng Bank and Qilu Bank. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had obtained credit line of
approximately RMB46.3 hillion, among which approximately RMB17.3 billion remained undrawn.

The Group also raised funds through equity and debt offerings in the onshore capital markets. The
Group has listed its two subsidiaries namely Inzone Group Co., Ltd. (&R /84 H B4 R,
600858.SH) and Lushang Health Industry Development Co., Ltd. (% P fd B 2 3 58 8 B A R 2 7,
600223.SH) on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. In addition, the Group diversifies its source of funding
through the issuance of various debt securities comprising medium-term notes, super-short term and
short-term commercial papers, private placement notes and publicly and private offered corporate
bonds from the PRC capital markets or the overseas capital market. The Group has maintained an
“AA+" corporate rating issued by China Chengxin International Credit Rating Co., Ltd. ("3 f5 B #
5 FsFAA FREAT A 7). The Group believes that its strong financing capabilities will continue to
provide adequate sources of funding for its daily operation, business development and debt
repayment.

Regardless of its sufficient funding sources, the Group has maintained a prudent asset and debt
management strategy, aiming to optimise the asset and debt structure and lower the debt to asset ratio
to a more comfortable and sustainable level. The Group’s debt to asset ratio decreased from 81.92 per
cent. as at 31 December 2018 to 80.82 per cent. as at 31 December 2019 and further decreased to
80.80 per cent. as at 31 December 2020.

Sound corporate governance with experienced management

The Group’s success is largely attributable to sound and effective corporate governance and extensive
experience, strategic visions and leadership of its directors and senior management team. As a leading
state-owned conglomerate, the Group is closely supervised by the Shandong Provincial Government
and Shandong SASAC and has extensive relationships with the Shandong Provincial Government and
other entities directly or indirectly controlled by it. The Group’s directors and senior management
have extensive experience and expertise in business operations, human resources and financial
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management in industries where the Group operates. Further, the directors and senior management of
the Group are highly experienced in collaborating with various levels of government authorities in
strategically significant public projects such as the foundation and operation of educational
institutions in Shandong Province. A number of the Group’s directors and senior managers have
previously served as senior officials within various state-owned enterprises and government
departments, whose understanding of the regulatory framework and government policies contributes
to the development of the Group’s business. Under the sound leadership of the Group’s management
team and leveraging on their experience, the Group has successfully achieved its missions over the
years and distinguished itself from competitors. For more information on the experience and expertise
of the Group’s directors and senior management, see “Directors and Senior Management”.

Business Strategies
The Group intends to focus on the following business strategies:

Develop into a leading conglomerate in Shandong Province as well as a renowned full service
group in China by leveraging synergies among the Group’s different business segments and
promoting innovation

The Group aims to become a leading conglomerate in Shandong Province as well as a renowned full
service group in China. To achieve this, the Group plans to continue to maintain its focus in
Shandong Province with retail business as its core business, and to promote the development of its
commercial complex and healthcare business through leveraging synergies among its different
business segments, including pharmaceutical business, health and wellness properties business and
financial service business and to leverage on the Group’'s advantages in emerging businesses to
promote innovation.

Further implement major national and regional development strategies and optimise the business
models of the Group’s various businesses to support industrial transformation and public services
in Shandong Province

As the state-owned capital investment platform of the Shandong Provincial Government, the Group is
commissioned by the Shandong Provincial Government and other local governmental entities and
agencies to play an important role in the strategic planning and operation of many major industrial
transformation projects and public projects. The Group plans to continue implement major national
and regional development strategies such as “Replacing Old Drivers with New Drivers (7% B Gt i
#)”, “Revitalising Rural Areas (4FF#RBL)” and “Opinions on the Implementation of Promoting the
Development of Eldercare Services ([ i & & I B5 55 JE i) Bl i 22 1) . For example, as the sole
cultural and tourism platform in Shandong Province, the Group will continue to actively participate
in the promotion of the “Revitalising Rural Areas (#F#§#k#)” national strategy in Shandong
Province through the promotion of “Six Establishments in the Rural Areas (7S#E4)"* to achieve a
development model with “six abilities (7HE)”? and “seven changes (‘L %)” and deeply rooted in the
eldercare industry by integrating relevant resources and the full industry chain (% 2£8%) with the
comprehensive health industry (K fid )5 7 2£). The Group also plans to further optimise the business
models of its various businesses, such as pharmaceutical manufacturing, automobile and material
trading business, which the Group has already obtained comparative advantage, and continue to
promote industrial restructuring and mix-ownership reform within the Group, and to capture new
opportunities from, and adapt to new challenges in, the age of Internet.

1 Representing the establishment of (1) Yingzuo Kindergarten (%23 4h#E[E), (2) Freda Health Eldercare (1 %% fi %
%), (3) Smart Retail (&%), (4) Elite Travel (Fifi##), (5) vocational school (MkZEE:4L) and (6) national
agricultural products centre (I %<& 7 it H L) in the rural areas.

Representing the ability to provide hospitality services and to increase the level of income of the people in rural areas.
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Further expand the existing businesses through promoting innovation, enhancing management and
other measures

Rooted on a retail network under its reputable brand “INZONE (#RE)”, the Group develops its
various business lines in parallel under the principal of “place same weight on development and
enhancement, speed and efficiency, scale-up and competitiveness of business’. Specifically, the
Group further expands its existing businesses by promoting innovation and enhancing service quality
and business efficiency through organic growth and capital operation. The Group also intends to
enhance the complement between intensive management and professional operation, take the
advantage of Internet and new technology, integrate online and offline resources and promote
innovative business model and operation. For example, the Group has cooperated with Alibaba Group
(FT# M 4EE) and entered into a memorandum of understanding of “New Commercial Retail
Project (P& 8 Z®EIEH)” to explore new digital transformation model relevant to new retail (Hi%
) and smart industry (¥ /& 3). The Group has also launched a number of projects, such as
INZONE Home Delivery ($2J%%]%), Youth Business Incubator Programme (7 48l M L #HH)
and Shandong International Car Centre Project (IIREIFSHF .0 IHH), through strategic
corporation with third parties such as home delivery companies and cross-border e-commerce
companies, in order to refine, transform and upgrade its retail business. In addition, the Group has
established four operation centres namely Online Retailing Operation Centre (#i 28 # d0y),
Physical Store Operation Centre (‘Ef#H4 H.0)), Logistics Operation Centre (¥)7i#E % F1.03) and
Supply Chain Financial Operation Centre (/& §i 4x il # % #1.1»), which accelerate the transformation
of the Group’s retail business. The Group will continue to focus on realising customer value,
optimising resource sharing, adjusting asset structures, as well as strengthening its management
system with the implementation of standardisation and delicacy management.?

Deepen its footprint in Shandong market and expand the coverage of the Group’s geographical
business landscape to nearby regions

As a leading state-owned conglomerate based in Shandong Province, the Group has benefited from
the excellent location and economic development potential of Shandong Province, which is one of the
richest and fastest growing provinces in China. In line with the continuous urbanisation, Shandong
Province gained a solid foundation for its rapid growth of consumer spending power. The Group
intends to deepen its footprint in Shandong market and further expand the coverage of the Group’s
geographical business landscape to nearby regions.

Continue optimise the structure of its talent pool

The Group believes that people are one of its important assets. The Group’s ability to compete
effectively in its existing businesses and expand into new business areas depends on its ability to
attract, motivate and retain talent. The Group will continue to invest in its employees and maintain a
spirit of partnership with its employees to optimise the structure of its talent pool, so as to support its
business goals and enhance its competitive advantages.

Representing seven major changes in the rural area under the development model in responding to the Revitalising Rural
Areas national strategy.
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Group Structure

The following chart presents a simplified corporate structure of the Group as at 31 December 2020:
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History and Development

The Company’s predecessor, Shandong Commercial Group General Corporation (111 5% 25 7 3 4 [E 44
/v, the “SCGGC”), was established in 1992 with the registered capital of RMB174.35 million. In
2010, the SCGGC was renamed as Shandong Commercial Group Co., Ltd., the current name of the
Company. As at 31 December 2020, the Company had registered capital of RMB1.22 billion.

Year Milestone Events

November 1992 ... .. ... The Commerce Bureau of Shandong Province (LI & pi¥EE) was
restructured into SCGGC with the registered capital of RMB174.35
million.

April 2003 . .......... SCGGC acquired Bohai Group Co., Ltd. (¥ % B A RA ), which is
the predecessor of one of the Group’s key subsidiaries, Inzone Group
Co., Ltd.

June 2006 ............ The registered capital of SCGGC increased by RMB22.11 million and

RMB80 million, respectively.

October 2008 . ........ Shandong Silver Plaza Group Investment Co., Ltd. (1L 85 i 45 [ 4%
EAMR/ATH]), the predecessor of one of the Group’s key subsidiaries,
Lushang Group Co., Ltd., was entirely injected into SCGGC.

December 2008 . ....... 50 per cent. equity interests in Shandong Silver Plaza Co., Ltd. (1l 3R
A PR I 17 45 BR 3 1) was transferred to SCGGC.

February 2010 ......... The name of SCGGC was changed to the Company’s current name,
Shandong Commercial Group Co., Ltd.

December 2012 .. ... ... The Company increased its registered capital to RMB1.22 billion, with
Shandong SASAC as its sole shareholder.

May 2017 ............ Shandong SASAC transferred 30 per cent. equity interests in the
Company to Shandong Provincial Council for Social Security Fund.

May 2018 ............ Shandong Provincial Council for Social Security Fund transferred 20
per cent. equity interests in the Company to Shandong Guohui
Investment Co., Ltd.

June 2019 . ........... Lushang Property Co., Ltd. (& &E¥ERMGARLAA), one of the
Group’s publicly-listed subsidiaries in the PRC, was renamed as
Lushang Health Industry Development Co., Ltd. (% i i b = 25 %5 ' i
A R ).

Relationship with the Shandong Provincial Government

The Company is beneficially controlled and owned by the Shandong Provincial Government with
Shandong SASAC as its registered controlling shareholder. As a leading state-owned conglomerate
based in Shandong Province, the Group has extensive relationships with the Shandong Provincial
Government and other entities directly or indirectly controlled by it. The Group is commissioned by
the Shandong Provincial Government and other local governmental entities and agencies to
participate in many public projects such as the foundation and operation of educational institutions in
Shandong Province. The Group has also received various asset and capital injections, subsidies and
other grants and tax incentives from the Shandong Provincial Government and other entities and
enterprises controlled by it. As the registered controlling shareholder of the Company, Shandong
SASAC also appoints the Company’s board of directors and management team and supervises the
performance of the Group and the Company’s board of directors and management team in such
capacity through various means.
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Notwithstanding the Company’s extensive relationships with the Shandong Provincial Government
and other entities controlled by it, the many social and community functions performed by the Group
and the financial support received by it, the Company is not part of the government. It is
operationally and financially separated from the Shandong Provincial Government. Its functions and
departments are separate from those of the government and do not share any premises with the
Shandong Provincial Government. Even though the board of directors and management team of the
Company are appointed by the Shandong SASAC, they are not government officers and do not have
any employment outside of the Group. The Company has a budget and financial reporting system and
assets and liabilities separate from those of the Shandong Provincial Government. The Shandong
Provincial Government as the ultimate equity holder of the Company and only has limited liability to
the Company in the form of its equity contribution in the Company. Neither the Shandong Provincial
Government nor any other PRC governmental entity has any payment or other obligations under the
Bonds or the Trust Deed and they will not provide a guarantee of any kind for the Bonds. The
Bondholders do not have any recourse against the Shandong Provincial Government or any other PRC
governmental entity in respect of any obligation arising out of or in connection with the Bonds or the
Trust Deed. The Bonds are solely to be repaid by the Company and the obligations of the Company
under the Bonds or the Trust Deed shall solely be fulfilled by the Company as an independent legal
person. This position has been reinforced by the MOF Circular and the Joint Circular. Both Circulars
do not, however, prohibit the PRC government from providing support (in various forms including
capital injection and subsidies, but excluding injecting any kinds of public assets and land reserves as
the Group’s assets) to the Group in its ordinary course of business in compliance with PRC laws and
regulations. The detailed description of the relationships between the Company and Shandong
Provincial Government in this Offering Circular does not imply in any way any explicit or implicit
credit support of the Shandong Provincial Government in respect of the Bonds, the repayment of
which remains the sole responsibility of the Company.

See also the risk factors entitled “A reduction or discontinuance of government support could
materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.”
and “ Shandong Provincial Government may exert significant influence on the Group, and could cause
the Group to make decisions, take actions or invest in or operate in businesses or projects which may
not be in the Group’s best interests or may not maximise the Group’s profits.” in the section entitled
“Risk Factors — Risks relating to the Group’s Business” and the risk factor entitled “Neither the
Shandong Provincial Government nor any other PRC governmental entity is obligated to repay any
amount under the Bonds or the Trust Deed if the Issuer fails to meet its obligations thereunder.” in
the section entitled “Risk Factors — Risks relating to the Bonds”.

Description of the Group’s Business
Overview

The Group is a leading state-owned conglomerate based in Shandong Province, the PRC. Founded in
1992, the Group engages primarily in retail business, pharmaceutical business and health and
wellness properties business, and operates under a strong brand portfolio, consisting primarily of
“INZONE ($R)E)”, “FREDA (#&#i#£)” and “LUSHANG (% 7%)”. The Group also expands its
footprints in cultural tourism, education, healthcare, media business, financial services and
e-commerce, and several other businesses. As a Shandong SASAC-controlled entity, the Group
consisted of 41 subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020, including two publicly-listed subsidiaries in the
PRC, namely Inzone Group Co., Ltd. (8RS KA MR/ 7, 600858.SH) and Lushang Health
Industry Development Co., Ltd. (45 fdtH & 358 e Ik A R 7], 600223.SH). With a proven track
record, the Group has received numerous awards and recognitions, including being ranked 152nd in
“Top 500 Chinese Enterprises in 2017 (2017+E{>3£5005%)" and 65th in “Top 500 Service
Companies in China in 2017 (2017 [ ilx 5 4> 35003 )", respectively, in terms of operating income
by China Association of Enterprises ("' 1> 2 & &) and China Entrepreneur Association ('
EZE).
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The Group has maintained a stable growth. For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020,
total operating income from the Group’s business operation was RMB37,956 million, RMB39,833
million and RMB35,802 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the total
assets of the Group were RMB94,104 million, RMB103,386 million and RMB117,357 million,
respectively.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the total operating income from each business segment
of the Group in absolute amount and as a percentage of the Group’s total operating income for the
periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
Amount % of total Amount % of total Amount % of total
(RMB in (RMB in (RMB in
millions) millions) millions)
Retail business .......... 27,184 71.6 27,414 68.8 18,629 52.0
Pharmaceutical business . .. 858 2.3 1,039 2.6 1,477 4.1
Health and wellness
properties business .. ... 7,963 21.0 9,250 23.2 12,139 33.9
Other businesses . ........ 1,950 5.1 2,129 5.4 3,557 9.9
Total operating income . .. 37,956 100.0 39,833 100.0 35,802 100.0

Retail Business
Overview

Retail business is the Group’s core business. The Group is a leading retail business operator in
Northern China. It ranked first among all retail business operators in Shandong Province in terms of
operating income by China General Chamber of Commerce ("5 % 254 €r) and China National
Commercial Information Centre (H'#: 4[5 i 2515 5 #.L») in 2018 and ranked first among all chain
store operators in Shandong Province in terms of sales volume by China Chain Store & Franchise
Association (B EHAE 1 €) in 2019. As at 31 December 2020, it operated 177 department
stores, 204 convenience stores, eight homeware stores, 61 electrical appliance stores, five shopping
centres and six 4S sales outlets mainly under the brands “INZONE (#})3)” and “Uni-Mart (% —4R
JA)”. These stores are located across all 16 municipalities in Shandong Province, as well as nearby
cities in Henan Province, Hebei Province and Beijing. The total GFA of stores are over 5.4 million
sg.m. as at 31 December 2020.

For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, operating income generated from the Group’s
retail business represented 71.6 per cent., 68.8 per cent. and 52.0 per cent., respectively, of the
Group’s total operating income for the same periods. For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019
and 2020, profit generated from the Group’s retail business represented 70.3 per cent., 65.8 per cent.
and 53.4 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s total profit for the same periods. The following table
sets forth, for the periods indicated, selected financial data relating to the Group’s retail business.

Year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
Operating income (RMB in millions) . ... .. 27,184 27,414 18,629
Cost of sales (RMB in millions) ......... 21,623 21,934 14,118
Gross profit (RMB in millions) .......... 5,561 5,481 4,511
Gross profit margin (per cent.) .......... 20.46 19.99 24.22
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Retail Business Network

As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated 177 department stores, 204 convenience stores, eight
homeware stores, 61 electrical appliance stores, five shopping centres and six 4S sales outlets across
all 16 municipalities in Shandong Province, as well as nearby cities in Henan Province, Hebei

Province and Beijing.

The following table sets forth the geographic distribution of
December 2020:

the Group’s retail outlets as at 31

Shandong
Category Province Hebei Province Henan Province Beijing
(number of stores)

Department stores .. .............. 165 4 8 -
Convenience stores . .. ............ 204 - - -
Homeware stores ................ 8 - - -
Electrical appliance stores .. ........ 61 - - -
Shopping centres . ............... 4 - - -
4Ssalesoutlets . . ........ ... ... .. 6 - - -
Total ....... ... ... .. ... .. ... ... 448 4 8 1

The number of each type of stores in general remained stable. The following table sets forth the

number of the Group’s stores as at the date as indicated below:

As at 31 December

2018 2019 2020
(number of stores)
Department stores .. .................. 168 178 177
Convenience stores . .................. 204 203 204
Homeware stores .................... 10 10 8
Electrical appliance stores ... ........... 37 37 61
Shopping centres . ................... 5 5 5
4Ssalesoutlets . . ........ ... .. 6 6 6
Total . ...... ... ... 430 439 461

The space under operation of each type of stores increased in line with the growth of the number of
stores. The following table sets forth the GFA in each type of stores as at the date as indicated below:

As at 31 December

2018 2019 2020
(in thousands of sgq.m.)
Department stores .. .................. 3,703.4 3,878.9 3,914.2
Convenience stores ... ................ 83.5 83.2 83.2
Homeware stores .................... 926.0 926.0 714.0
Electrical appliance stores ... ........... 66.2 66.2 69.3
Shopping centres . ................... 601.0 601.0 601.0
A4S salesoutlets . .. ... ... L. 27.9 27.9 27.9
Total . ... ... .. ... 5,408.0 5,583.2 5,409.6
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Note:
GFA is calculated based on the property ownership certificate or the |lease agreement, as applicable.
Major Types of Retail Stores

As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated a comprehensive store portfolio with six major types of
stores, including department stores, convenience stores, homeware stores, electrical appliance stores,
shopping centres and 4S sales outlets, primarily under the brands of “INZONE (#R/E)” and
“Uni-Mart (#&—48RHE)".

Department Stores

The Group commenced its department store business in 1996 under the brand name of “INZONE ($R
J)”. INZONE department stores are mostly in the form of department store and supermarket
complexes. Positioned at the middle to upper-end of the retail market, INZONE department stores
provide customers with a wide range of merchandise in different categories with a diverse product,
price and brand mix. As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated 177 INZONE department stores
with a total GFA of 3,914,200 sqg.m., of which, 165 were located in Shandong Province, four in Hebei
Province and eight in Henan Province, respectively.

Convenience Stores

The Group commenced its convenience store business in 2006 under the brand name of “Uni-Mart
(5t —4REE)”. Uni-Mart convenience stores offer a broad range of consumer products, as well as
express and convenient services, such as sales of telephone IP cards, newspapers and magazines,
supply of hot water, ATM machine, inflator pump, microwave heating and fast food services.
Uni-Mart convenience stores occupy spaces ranging from 300 sg.m. to 2,500 sg.m. and provide
customers with fast, efficient, convenient and 24-hour services at easily accessible locations and
residential areas. As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated 204 convenience stores with the total
GFA of 83,200 sg.m., all of which were located in Shandong Province.

Homeware Stores

The Group commenced its homeware stores business in 2003 under the brand name of “INZONE
Green Home ($RJEZZJ%)”. The INZONE homeware stores are positioned at the middle to upper-end
of the homeware retail market and provide a broad mix of home products and services, including
building materials, furniture, home accessories and decorations. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
operated eight INZONE homeware stores with the total GFA of 714,000 sg.m., all of which were
located in Shandong Province, covering cities of Jinan, Dongying, Linyi, Binzhou, Qingdao, Weifang
and Jining.

Electrical Appliance Stores

The Group commenced its electrical appliance stores business in 2009 under the brand name of
“INZONE electrical appliance store (R & ##)”. The INZONE electrical appliance stores provide a
variety of electrical appliance products and services, including kitchen appliance, computing, TV and
entertainment, mobile and communication and home appliance. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
operated 61 INZONE electrical appliance stores with the total GFA of 69,300 sg.m., all of which
were located in Shandong Province, covering cities of Jinan, Dongying, Binzhou, Tai’an, Jining,
Zibo, Laiwu and Heze.

Shopping Centres

The Group commenced its shopping centres business in recent years. These shopping centres are
typically designed as large scale complexes with retail and commercial properties, including retail
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shops, office buildings, apartments, restaurants, hotels, cinemas, parking slots and other facilities. As
at 31 December 2020, the Group operated five shopping centres, namely Weifang INZONE Mall (#
ViR FE %), INZONE Mall Yuhan Store (8% 4% £ K J5), INZONE Harmony Plaza ($ /i Fl& i
%), Beijing Harmony Plaza (¢ 5T 15 5 3%5) and Heze Harmony Plaza (37 {1 5 & 35), with the total
GFA of 601,000 sg.m..

4S Sales Outlets (73 HA4S/k)

The Group operates automobile franchise stores that involve new car sales, sales of automobile parts
and automobile maintenance services. The Group’s 4S sales outlets are positioned at the middle to
high-end of the automobile retail market. As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated six 4S
dealership under the brands of Audi, FAW-Volkswagen, Shanghai Volkswagen, Shanghai General
Motor, Skoda and Chang’an Mazda, with the total GFA of 27,900 sg.m., all of which are located in
Jinan, Shandong Province. The Group manages its 4S sales outlets with the “order-purchase-sale”
business model, through which the Group is able to maintain relatively low inventory level while
generating steady revenue.

The following table sets forth certain operating data of the Group’s principal retail stores as at 31
December 2020:

Year of Nature of the
Retail Stores Operating Area Commencement Premises
(in thousands
of sg.m.)

1. Shandong INZONE Mall (I RERBEERHR) . ... ..... ... 42 1996 Self-owned
2. Jinan INZONE Shopping Plaza (SR EEBEM & 35) . . . . .. 227 1999 L eased
3. Tai'an INZONE Mall (REHMEERM) ... ... ... ... .. 31.9 2001 Self-owned
4. Jinan INZONE Mall (WRIsRIER) . ... ... ... ... .. 13.7 2002 L eased
5. Jinan INZONE Beiyuan Shopping Plaza 28.4 2002 Self-owned

(BB RBYES .
6. Dongying INZONE Shopping Plaza (G & Bl 1% 35) . . . 38.1 2003 Self-owned
7. Zibo INZONE Mall (FESRAEREIR) . ... ... .. ... ... 314 2003 Self-owned
8. Binzhou INZONE Shopping Plaza (7& MR M E85) . . . . 17.3 2003 L eased
9. Jinan INZONE Green Home Store (BRSRIERE) ... .. .. 24.7 2003 Self-owned
10.  Linyi INZONE Mall (BRUTsRIEmH) ... ... .. ... .. 31.3 2005 Self-owned
11, Rizhao INZONE Mall (H SRR . ... ... ... ... 19.0 2006 L eased
12.  Zibo INZONE Mall Zhoucun Shopping Plaza 194 2006 Self-owned

(EHRER AN RS ... .
13, Heze INZONE Mall (sRIERIR) ... .. ... ... ... 32.5 2006 Self-owned
14, Xintai INZONE Mall (BiZReRBEmim) .. ... .. ..... 9.3 2006 L eased
15.  Ta'an INZONE Mall Donghu Store 12,5 2006 Leased

(RERERWAWIE) ...
16.  Changging INZONE Store (fig#EE) .. ... ... ... .. 205 2006 L eased
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17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25,

26.

21.

28.

29.

30.

31

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44,

Year of

Nature of the

Retail Stores Operating Area Commencement Premises
(in thousands
of sq.m.)
Jining INZONE Mall (W% SRIERM) .. ... ... .. .. 18.6 2007 L eased
Xingtai INZONE Mall (FREESRIERIR) . .. .. ... ... ... 19.1 2007 Leased
Jinan Huaxin Shopping Plaza (i # 5 l#IES) .. ... .. 17.4 2007 L eased
Laiwu INZONE Mall (GREESREERIR) . ... ... .. ... 215 2007 Self-owned
Boshan INZONE Store (FIISRIERE) .. .. ... ... ... .. 14.1 2007 Self-owned
Zhangqiu INZONE Store (RESREEIE) ... .. ... ... ... 15.1 2008 L eased
Jining INZONE Shopping Plaza (&R EREM ) . .. .. 23.0 2008 Self-owned
Laiwu INZONE Gangcheng Store (A ZESRJESHIRIE) . . . . . . 15.7 2008 Leased
INZONE Yanshan Store (SEFEIWE) ... ... ... ... .. 9.6 2008 L eased
Tengzhou INZONE Mall (BEMSRMERR) .. ... ... .. .. 20.2 2009 Self-owned
Shijiazhuang Dongfang Shopping Plaza 55.0 2009 Self-owned
(ARIEFTWEIES) ...
Binzhou INZONE Huanghe Store (JENSREE S IE) . .. . . . 23.6 2009 Self-owned
Puyang INZONE Store (MFR8RIEE) ... ... .. ... ... 18.8 2009 L eased
Weifang INZONE Mall (MESFSRIERSE) .. ... ... ... .. 56.6 2010 Self-owned
Luoyang INZONE Mall (FasRAERSE) .. ... .. .. .. .. 19.6 2010 L eased
Hebi INZONE Mall (BSRESRIERIR) ... ........ .. .. 18.0 2010 Self-owned
Yantai INZONE Mall (BEZSERM) ... .. .. ....... 37.8 2010 Self-owned
Jinan Harmony Plaza (BRI FIREES) ... ... ... .. .. 145.0 2011 Self-owned
Anyang INZONE Mall (ZRSRIER) . ... .. ... .. ... 155 2012 Self-owned
Liaocheng INZONE Mall (Miasepint) . ... ... ... .. 235 2012 Self-owned
Linyi Harmony Plaza (BT FIEERES) . ... ... ... ... 82.0 2012 Self-owned
Baoding INZONE Mall (fR7ESRERH) .. ... .. ... .. 35.6 2013 L eased
INZONE Mall Qilishan Store (SRJE B L#LIIE) ... .. .. 13.0 2013 L eased
Zhangjiakou INZONE Mall (iR% I EREERSHE) .. ... .. .. 41.0 2014 Self-owned
Qingdao INZONE Mall (& B#ERM) .. ........ ... 52.2 2016 Self-owned
Beijing Harmony Plaza (L M%) ... .. ... .. .. 140.0 2016 Self-owned
Heze Harmony Plaza (RIS .. ... .. .. ... ... 100.0 2017 L eased
Zibo Gaoging INZONE Store (TR & MRAE) . .. ... .. .. 20.2 2017 L eased
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Year of Nature of the

Retail Stores Operating Area Commencement Premises
(in thousands
of sg.m.)
45.  Linyi INZONE People’s Square Store 23.8 2017 Leased
(BRTSBEARESE) ... oo
46.  Dezhou Qihe INZONE Store (FEJHZFMSRIE) ... .. ... .. 1855 2017 Leased

Business Model

The Group’s retail business generates operating income from commodities direct sales and
consignment sales, commission income from associate sales and rental income from store tenants. As
at 31 December 2020, substantially all of the Group’s operating income were generated from direct
sales and associate sales.

Direct Sales

Direct sales business model involves the purchase of commodities by the Group from the suppliers
and the reselling of the commodities purchased by the Group to its customers in the retail outlets
operated by the Group. Under direct sales business model, the Group manages the procurement,
transportation, inventory and sales of the commodities on its own. The Group owns the title of the
commodities and assumes ownership risks and generates revenue from the difference between the
actual retailing price of the commodities and the corresponding procurement cost. For the year ended
31 December 2020, the Group’s operating income under the direct sales business model was
RMB10,604 million, accounting for approximately 56.9 per cent. of the total operating income from
the Group’s retail business for the same period.

Most of the Group’s retail business in connection with the mass-market consumption commodities
with limited price elasticity, such as gold, platinum, cosmetics, apparel and live and fresh products,
are operated under direct sales business model.

Under direct sales business model, the Group adopts a systematic brand management and commodity
classification system. The Group’s brand management department is responsible for selecting brands,
products and suppliers for the Group’s retail stores, carrying out contract negotiation and entering
into purchase and sales agreements with the suppliers. It evaluates and forecasts the market trend or
demand of the commodities, sets out the range of commodities to be purchased and maintains a brand
database through researching, assessing and reviewing the nature of the suppliers under various
criteria including brand name, product quality, efficiency in delivery and credit background.

The Group’s procurement department or the relevant retail stores are responsible for carrying out
procurement, inspection and acceptance of the commodities upon delivery and settlement with the
suppliers. Merchandise planning is carried out by the Group’s procurement department after taking
into account the Group’s budgeted sales in a specific period, inventory, market trends and anticipated
demand. Inventory check and physical inspection of the commodities purchased by the Group are
carried out on a regular basis. The purchased commodities of the Group are recorded as inventory
after passing the quality control.

In terms of payment, the Group typically decides whether to make down payment for the procurement
of commodities depending on market conditions when entering into the purchase and sale agreement
and pays up the balance of purchase price upon the delivery and acceptance of the commodities from
the suppliers.
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Associate Sales

Associate sales business model involves the entering into sale association agreements between the
Group and certain selected suppliers, providing such suppliers with designated areas and services in
the Group’s retail stores and permitting such suppliers to have their own sales force and/or conduct
their own sales promotions to retail their branded commodities in the Group’s retail stores. Under
associate sales business model, the Group focuses on the layout and sales of the commodities while
the suppliers are responsible for transportation, inventory and determining retail prices. Such
suppliers own the title of the commodities and assume the ownership risks of the commodities. The
Group typically collects a turnover commission from the suppliers under the associate sales business
model, usually at a range of 17 per cent. to 25 per cent. of the total sales proceeds for the
commodities sold at the Group’s retails stores in a certain period. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group’s operating income under associate sales business model was RMB6,795 million,
accounted for approximately 36.5 per cent. of the total operating income of the Group’'s retail
business for the same period.

The associate sales business model enables the Group to offer a broad range of commodities to its
customers without the risks and costs of procurement and inventory management, including the risks
of obsolete commodities. Most of the Group’s retail business in connection with the seasonal
commodities or commodities with fluctuating prices, such as apparel, knitting, shoes, bags and
suitcases, are operated under associate sales business model.

Under associate sales business model, the Group’s marketing department selects the suppliers for the
Group’s retail stores based on a variety of factors, including brand name, market positioning, sales
channel and delivery time and enters into sale association agreements with the selected suppliers. The
Group’s retail stores actively monitor the commodity mix and the sales of the commodities and
communicate with the suppliers providing guidance and recommendations relating to their sales
performance, marketing and promotion strategies, commodity mix, product quality and inventory
management. The Group also cooperates with the suppliers on the quality control of the commodities
and providing after-sale customer services.

The Group typically collects a turnover commission on a monthly basis from the suppliers under the
associate sales business model, usually at a range of 17 per cent. to 25 per cent. of the total sales
proceeds for the commodities sold at the Group’s retails stores in such month.

Consignment Sales

Under consignment sales business model, the Group sells the commodities on behalf of the suppliers.
The Group generates revenue from the difference between the actual retail prices of the consigned
commodities and the prices to be collected by the relevant suppliers as agreed between such suppliers
and the Group. As title to the commodities under consignment sales business model does not pass to
the Group, the Group does not assume the ownership risks of the commodities. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group’s operating income under consignment sales business model was RMB770
million, accounted for approximately 4.1 per cent. of the total operating income of the Group’s retail
business for the same period.

The consignment sales business model is mainly adopted by the Group for retailing low turnover rate
commodities, including drinks and beverages, health products and certain special products (such as
sugar-free foods).

Under consignment sales business model, the Group selects suppliers for the Group’s retail stores
based on the market demand and enters into consignment agreements with the selected suppliers.

Such suppliers provide consignment commodities as specified in the relevant consignment agreement.

The Group generally settles the payment with the suppliers under consignment sales business model
on a monthly basis.
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Store Leasing

Store leasing business model involves the leasing out of certain operating areas in a retail store
whilst operating the rest of the operating areas by the Group at the same time. The Group generates
operating income under store leasing business model by collecting rents from the lessees. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s operating income under store leasing business model was
RMB460 million, accounted for approximately 2.5 per cent. of the total operating income from the
Group’s retail business for the same period.

The Group leases or sub-leases designated areas to the operators of certain businesses that the Group
believes are complementary to and form part of, the shopping experience at its retail stores. Such
businesses vary for each retail store of the Group depending on consumer demands and preferences
and include restaurants, entertainment facilities and so forth.

Under store leasing business model, the Group enters into lease or sub-lease agreements with the
tenants and collects rents from the tenants on a regular basis as agreed in the relevant lease or
sub-lease agreements.

Procurement

The Group prepares its procurement plans and undertakes its purchasing negotiations principally at
the head office with certain flexibility granted to the local retail stores. The Group formulates and
implements a set of brand management and product classification rules and regulations in its
procurement activities. The Group’s head office determines its overall merchandise planning
strategies, develops the brand and commodities composition strategies, establishes and manages
relationships with key suppliers and vendors, maintains a central database of brands and suppliers
and issues guidelines on selecting suppliers for local retail stores. Solicitation of superior brands has
been conducted on a collective basis through the Group’s head office, whereas solicitation of other
brands is conducted by the individual retail stores. By centralising the Group’s negotiations, the
Group is able to have better control over suppliers and their respective terms and conditions on the
supply of commodities.

The Group maintains a close and long-term cooperation relationship with its suppliers and continues
to develop new suppliers to expand its supplier base in order to secure the supply of commodities for
its retail business at preferential price. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had over 20,000
suppliers.

Distribution

The Group’s retail business distribution network is supported by two logistics companies and four of
their specially designed distribution centres, i.e. Shandong Silver Plaza Distribution Centre (L1 5 Ji
fidi% #.0), Qufu Silver Plaza Distribution Centre ([l 5 #R i #.0») and Weifang Distribution
Centre (¥E35Hc#% #.0>) which provide distribution and logistics services for “INZONE” retail chain
network and Uni-Mart Logistic and Distribution Centre (#%— R4 i lic & #.0>) which provides
distribution services for “Uni-Mart” convenience store network. The Group’s distribution centres
enable it to better manage its retail business distribution network and optimise the volume of
products it purchases from its suppliers, thereby streamlining logistics and reducing its operating
costs. The total areas at two logistic companies’ distribution centres are approximately 322,400 sqg.m.
and 14,800 sg.m., respectively, including warehouse, bakery and cooked food processing centre.

The Group has used information technology systems in these distribution centres to maintain efficient
management and operation of its retail business distribution network. The Group’s retail stores can
generate and place their orders electronically through an intranet system, which enables the Group to
achieve high efficiency in terms of logistics.

—92 —



Quality Control

The Group consistently reviews its suppliers to ensure that such suppliers are capable and competent
to provide quality products for the Group’s retail business. The Group periodically verifies whether
the suppliers have obtained all necessary permits and approvals for the production and/or sale of the
commodities in question. In addition, the Group also reviews the suppliers’ quality control reports
from time to time and conducts sampling inspection of the commodities.

Phar maceutical Business
Overview

The Group’s pharmaceutical business is engaged in the research and development, manufacture and
sale and distribution of a broad range of pharmaceutical and healthcare products. The Group’s key
products include western and Chinese medicines for neck pain relief and cold treatment, medical
supplies, health supplements, chemical raw materials and skincare products. Its products are sold
through an extensive sales and distribution network nationwide. The Group is dedicated for years in
research and development. It has a strong track record in developing products, as well as a robust
research and development product pipeline. As at 31 December 2020, the Group obtained 64
approvals from the China Food and Drug Administration (% & 5 2€ f & B 45 BE42 ) for new drug
certificate applications and registered 67 patents for new drugs in the PRC. The Group also conducts
research and development on ingredients for skin care products and is one of the leading hyaluronic
acid manufacturers in the world with an average annual output reaching 420.0 tonnes. The Group
operates its pharmaceutical business principally through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shandong Freda
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (“Freda Pharmaceutical”’) and the subsidiaries, research and
development institutes and laboratories thereunder.

For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, operating income generated from
pharmaceutical business represented approximately 2.3 per cent., 2.6 per cent. and 4.1 per cent.,
respectively, of the Group’'s total operating income for the same periods. For the years ended 31
December 2018, 2019 and 2020, profit generated from the Group’s pharmaceutical business
represented 6.8 per cent., 7.9 per cent. and 10.3 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s total profit for
the same periods. The following table sets forth selected financial data relating to the Group’s
pharmaceutical business for the periods indicated.

Year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
Operating income (RMB in millions) . .. ... 858 1,039 1,477
Cost of sales (RMB in millions) ......... 319 380 606
Gross profit (RMB in millions) .......... 540 659 871
Gross profit margin (per cent.) .......... 62.85 63.44 58.96

Over the years, the Group has enjoyed a leading position across multiple segments of the
pharmaceutical industry in China. Research and development has been one of the high-priority areas
of development of the Group. As at 31 December 2020, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, namely
Shandong Academy of Pharmaceutical Science (1L & 22 FLELEE), one of the top provincial level
research and development institutes in Shandong Province, the Group obtained 64 approvals from the
China Food and Drug Administration (% & il 880 5B A R) for new drug certificate
applications and registered 67 patents for its new drugs in the PRC. Meanwhile, as an
industry-leading manufacturer and distributor of pharmaceutical and healthcare products, the Group
has established an extensive sales and marketing network comprising more than 30 offices located in
all major cities across China.
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Product Portfolio

Many of the Group’s products are marketed under its own brands which have long been widely
recognised in the industry. The Group owns a number of well-known brands including “Mingren (¥
12)", “Weigukang (4 5E)”, “Lihu (J158)”, “Rellet (H{#)”, “Shenan (% 2H)” and “Dr. Alva (¥ fif 1
+)”. Through Freda Pharmaceutical, the Group also has investment in a sino-foreign equity joint
venture, namely Shandong Bausch & Lomb Freda Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (1L 18 -+ 45 i 12 & 4%
£ PR/ A]) (“Shandong Bausch & Lomb”), one of the largest ophthalmic medicine manufacturers in
China, whose principal activities include the manufacture and sale and distribution of pharmaceutical
products for the medical treatment of ophthalmia and osteoarthritis. As such, the Group is licensed
for the sale and distribution of a number of Shandong Bausch & Lomb’s pharmaceutical products,
including injection for the medical treatment of osteoarthritis under the brand of “Sofast (Jifiii4¥)”.
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the operating income generated from the Group’s
pharmaceutical business for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
(in millions of RMB)

Pharmaceutical manufacturing ... ........ 277 355 498

Pharmaceutical distribution ............. 537 684 979

Total operating income ............... 858 1,039 1,477

The Group has developed diverse product portfolio. As at 31 December 2020, the Group offered 100
different types of pharmaceutical and healthcare products, of which 34 were included in the National
Essential Drug List (B %A% H #) and the Shandong Provincial Health Supplement List (1113f
H i gEY) H #%). The following table sets forth the details of the Group’s major products as at 31
December 2020:

Product Category Major Products

Biopharmaceutical ....... Eye drops for the medical treatment of ophthalmia, injection for the
medical treatment of osteoarthritis
Modernised Chinese
medicines ............ Tablet, capsule, granules, cream, plaster for the medical treatment of
Eye drops for the medical treatment of ophthalmia, injection for the
medical treatment of osteoarthritis

Chemical medicines ... ... Tablet and capsule for the medical treatment of orthopaedics,
diabetes, cerebral thrombosis, skin diseases
Health supplements . . ... .. Vitamin, herbal supplement
Medical supplies and
medical devices ........ Surgical abortion machine, catheter, surgical mask, drainage
equipment
Food additives .......... Natamycin, Nisin, Pullulan
Fertilizer synergist ....... t-Polyglutamic Acid (Agricultural)
Cosmetic and skin care
ingredients . .......... Pullulan, -Polyglutamic Acid, Hyaluronic Acid
Skincare . .............. A series of skincare products under the brand of Rellet (Ef%#),

Shenan (% 2f) and Dr. Alva (B #TI# 1)
Procurement of Raw Materials

The Group procures a wide variety of raw materials for its pharmaceutical and healthcare products.
The principal raw materials used for the Group’s pharmaceutical and healthcare products include
Sanchi (=), Incised Notopterygium Rhizome and Root (J2i%), Szechwan Lovage Rhizome (JII %),
Weeping Forsythia Capsule (##H), White Peony Root ([17), Platycodon Root (#5##), Liquorice
Root (H %), Chinese Thorowax Root (%¢#) and other Chinese herbs. In addition to these principal
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raw materials, the Group also procures other miscellaneous raw materials for its pharmaceutical
business, including supplemental materials and packaging materials.

Raw materials for the Group’s pharmaceutical business are generally procured directly by its
manufacturing subsidiaries from third party suppliers through inquiry. The Group generally enters
into one-off spot contracts with its raw materials suppliers due to the nature of the Group’s business
operations. In accordance with the supply agreement, the purchase consideration is usually paid upon
delivery, inspection and acceptance of the raw materials. The Group has established stable relations
with its major suppliers, which allow the Group to obtain a steady supply of raw materials.

The Group has made great efforts to control the quality of its raw materials. The Group has
established and maintained a stringent supplier evaluation system to ensure that the raw materials
comply with applicable regulatory requirements and satisfy internal quality standards and
technological requirements for pharmaceutical manufacturing operations. The Group requires its
suppliers to provide evidence that they have obtained and maintained all the necessary certifications,
permits and licenses. The Group carefully selects suppliers by assessing the quality of their products
as well as their quality control systems and, before the production of pharmaceutical and healthcare
products, the Group would conduct reassessment to further ensure the quality of the raw materials.

Sales and Distribution

The Group sells substantially all of its pharmaceutical and healthcare products within China through
(i) direct sales by the Group’s manufacturing subsidiaries to distributors, retailers and end-customers;
and (ii) inter-segment sales to the Group’s pharmaceutical distribution segment, such as the in-house
sales and marketing team of Freda Pharmaceutical and its indirect subsidiary, namely Hainan Ruilante
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (/%G FF2E3 4 R/AF]), which in turn distribute the Group’s
pharmaceutical and healthcare products to sub-distributors, retailers and end-customers. The Group
generally requires its customers to settle their payments through cash before delivery. The Group may
grant its long-term customers up to one-month credit period depending on their purchase amount.

Research and Development

The Group considers its strong research strength, product development capabilities and technology
innovation to be one of its key strengths. In recent years, the Group has, through cooperation with
Shandong University (1LI# K#), Ocean University of China (*'B 7 K£) and other academies,
set up the Shandong Significant New Drug Development Centre (1113 % B KB 241 % H.0>), which
has been officially recognised as one of the National Comprehensive New Drug Research and
Development Technology Platforms (I % %5 & 14 % €0t 55 B 45 £ 9l K°F-52) in China. The Group also
actively took part in the establishment of the National (Shandong) Innovative Pharmaceutical
Development Base (I8 %% 1L % 818 224 ik 2 b)) and National Glycoengineering Research Centre ([
F B TAREE T 5% 7 0>). The Group has received a number of awards and recognitions for its proven
research and development capabilities. It was recognized as “Jinan Polysaccharide Drug Research and
Development Innovation Team (¥ F i 2 M SHZEY W EE AIRTEIEX)”  and  “Shandong Provincial
Management Enterprise Drug Research and Development Innovation Team (LI & & & 4> 3 254 0f 4%
AT E FX)” in 2015.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated one provincial level research and development institute
and three provincial level laboratories. As at the same date, the Group had undertaken 169 research
projects, 156 of which had been completed. As at the same date, the Group obtained 64 approvals
from the China Food and Drug Administration (12 %< £ 8% 7 B B & 3 48 7)) for new drug certificate
applications and registered 67 patents for its new drugs in the PRC. For the years ended 31 December
2018, 2019 and 2020, the Group’s research and development expenses for its pharmaceutical business
were RMB155 million, RMB189 million and RMB172 million, respectively, representing
approximately 18.1 per cent., 18.2 per cent. and 11.6 per cent. of the Group’s operating income from
its pharmaceutical business for the same periods.
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Quality Control

The Group is committed to providing quality pharmaceutical products to its customers and it has
promulgated and implemented a highly stringent quality control system to ensure the quality and
safety of the products. In the Group’s pharmaceutical products procurement and distribution
operations, the Group are committed to the quality of its operations and only purchases products from
certified suppliers who comply with all relevant PRC laws and regulations, inspects the products
purchased from the suppliers upon arrival before acknowledging receipt and re-examines the products
internally prior to the manufacturing operations. In the Group’s pharmaceutical manufacturing
process, the Group specifies its employee's responsibilities, ensures the quality of its medical
products and operates its business in accordance with the GMP and the GSP requirements. As at the
date of this Offering Circular, the Group had obtained and maintained the necessary GMP
certifications for all of its production lines for pharmaceutical products and the Group’s business
operations are in compliance with relevant regulations and standards in all material aspects.

Health and Wellness Properties Business
Overview

The Group engages in health and wellness properties business primarily through its subsidiary,
Shandong Lushang Property Co., Ltd. (LR & & & EARAH]), which has been accredited with
the Property Development Enterprise Qualification Certificate (Class 2). The Group’s health and
wellness properties business primarily involves the development and sale of:

. Residential properties, comprising residential projects and integrated residential communities
with comprehensive ancillary facilities including retail shops; and

. Commercial properties, comprising commercial apartments, offices, hotels, shopping malls and
shopping zones featuring dedicated retail areas.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 43 projects at various stages of development
(including completed projects; projects under development and projects held for future development).
For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, operating income generated from the Group’s
health and wellness properties business represented 21.0 per cent., 23.2 per cent. and 33.9 per cent.,
respectively, of the Group’s total operating income for the same periods. For the years ended 31
December 2018, 2019 and 2020, profit generated from the Group’s health and wellness properties
business represented 15.8 per cent., 18.1 per cent. and 22.5 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s
total profit for the same periods. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, selected
financial data relating to the Group’s health and wellness properties business:

Year ended 31 December
2018 2019 2020

Residential  Commercial Management Residential  Commercial Management Residential  Commercial Management

Operating income

(RMB in millions) . 5,041 2,458 464 7,749 1,010 491 10,089 1,433 617
Cost of sales (RMB in

millions) . ..... 4,336 2,008 371 6,696 664 382 8,747 1,102 391
Gross profit (RMB in

millions) . ... .. 705 450 93 705 450 93 1,342 331 225
Gross profit margin

(percent) ..... 13.99 18.31 20.04 13.59 34.25 18.94 13.30 23.10 36.47
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Project Development

Based on the nature of the property, the Group develops and manages its property projects by itself
or through cooperation with national leading property developers such as China Resources (#i),
China Jinmao (% %) and Vanke (#7#}).

Land Acquisition

In accordance with the Regulations on the Grant of State-owned Land Use Rights by Invitation of
Tender, Auction or Listing-for-sale ((FAREFE 4 1FEE A b i FHERLE )), promulgated on 9
May 2002 and in effect since 1 July 2002, all land planned for commercial development (such as
retail, tourism, entertainment and commercial property) must be transferred in one of the following
ways:. public tenders, auctions or listings-for-sale on the land exchanges. The use rights of the
Group’s current land bank are mainly acquired by public tenders.

Development and Construction

A property developer is only permitted to commence construction of a property development upon
obtaining the land use rights certificate, the construction land planning permit, the construction works
planning permit and the construction works commencement permit (which will only be issued after
the land use rights certificate, the construction land planning permit and the construction works
planning permit are obtained). As at 31 December 2020, the Group had obtained land use rights
certificates for all of its health and wellness properties projects that have been completed, are under
development and are held for future development. In addition, for all of its health and wellness
properties projects currently under development, the Group had obtained all relevant certificates and
permits prior to the commencement of construction as required under the PRC laws and regulations.

Financing

The Group finances its projects primarily through bank loans and its internal cash flow, including
proceeds from the pre-sale and sale of properties.

Pre-sale

In line with market practice, the Group typically conducts pre-sales of its properties prior to the
completion of their construction. Under the Administrative Measures on the Pre-sale of Urban
Commodity Housing (3T 6 i 75 T & & #EHEL)) (the “Pre-sale Measures’) and the PRC Urban
Property Administration Law (<38 A B AN B 46k i 7 3 78 7 BV ) ), the Group must comply with
certain conditions to obtain the pre-sale permit (75 H&EFFAI#) for a particular property,
including but not limited to: (a) the land premium must have been fully paid and the relevant land
use rights certificates must have been obtained; (b) the construction land planning permit,
construction works planning permit and the construction works commencement permit must have
been obtained; (c) the capital injected into the development of a property for pre-sale must not be
less than 25 per cent. of the total amount invested in the project and the progress; (d) the expected
completion date and the delivery date of the construction work must have been confirmed; and (e)
pre-sale permits must have been obtained from the county-level or above construction bureau or
property administration authority. Local governments may impose additional conditions for the
pre-sale of properties, such as requirements regarding the progress of construction of the property,
which may vary in different cities. Pursuant to the Pre-sale Measures, before the completion of a
pre-sold property, proceeds from pre-sales must be used only for the construction of the relevant
pre-sold property.

Timing of Development

Significant time is required for the successful completion of health and wellness properties and it
may take months or possibly years before pre-sales in certain properties. While the pre-sale of
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properties generates positive cash flow in the period in which it is made, the Group must place a
portion of such proceeds in restricted bank accounts and may only use such cash for specified
purposes, and no sales revenue is recognized in respect of such property until the relevant property is
delivered to the purchaser.

Project Description

As at 31 December 2020, total investment of the Group’s health and wellness properties projects that
have been completed and are under development amounted to RMB151,755 million. The estimated
total investment of the Group’s health and wellness properties projects that are held for future
development amounts to RMB16,600 million in the next five years.

The Group has a diversified health and wellness properties portfolio, which includes “Lushang City
Square (@I EY5)”, “Lushang Garden Residence (4#i{t[&{E<)” and “Lushang Ecological
Villa (% mi/ERERIEE)". The following table sets forth the Group’s investment in its health and
wellness properties projects as at 31 December 2020:

Total investment

(in millions of

RMB)

Completed and under construction

Lushang City Square (B RIIRITRES) ... .. . 21,620

Lushang Garden Residence (BB {EEMAET) ... .. ... . 118,968

Lushang Ecological Villa ((BAERERIZE) .. ... ... . . 11,167

Total .. 151,755
Held for future development

Zibo Economic Development Zone Project (I1HABIIRIAH) .............. 2,700

Heze Dayudian Project (GRIEEFTHUETEAE) .. ... .. 3,500

Jinan Shenwu Project (EREMEIEH) ... ... . .. 4,800

Qingdao Lushang Digital Entertainment Harbour (75 & & i #5746 ik) . ... .. 5,600

Total .. 16,600

Lushang City Square (% i 3k 7 & 35)

Lushang City Square is Group’s property series to develop modern urban complexes that mainly
consist of “INZONE” flagship stores, commercial zones, office buildings, hotels and commercial and
residential apartments. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had completed five Lushang City Squares
that are for sale or leasing, including Jinan Lushang Plaza (i & 4 7% & ), Tai’an Silver City Square
(F& TR E R T 35), Jinan Inzone Crystal Plaza (7% 55 #8 /3 & #12 4%), Jinan Lushang Glory City (7%
FE B EIR) and Dongying Inzone City Square (7 #RJZINTHEY) and three Lushang City
Squares that were under development, including Qingdao Lushang City Centre Yan'er Island (7 & %
0B S), Linyi Lushang City Centre (Hfi Ut £ 7% H#.0») and Tai’an Lushang City Centre (% %4
P H L.

Lushang Garden Residence (% i {& & )

Lushang Garden Residence is the Group’s property series to develop residential apartments with
comprehensive ancillary facilities and landscapes. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had completed
eight Lushang Garden Residence projects that were sold or for sale, including Qingdao Jimo Dynamic
Generation (7 & Rl 2 8/t 1), Qingdao Lushang Blue Shore International (75 5% /& i B %),
Qingdao Xifu Town Project (7 51 #1), Linyi Lushang Phoenix Town ([ )74 & B IR), Jining
Lushang South Lake Mansion (7% & i FIlth A ), Jinan Lushang Ivy Garden (¥Fd 8 /& & (L
@), Weifang Lushang Capital (#35% /5 /i) and Heze Lushang Phoenix Town (7 %% i JBUEUK),
and 20 Lushang Garden Residence projects that were under development, including without limitation
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Harbin Lushang Songjiang New City ("4 /& % i #a 7L #1 4), Heze Lushang Phoenix Town (7] 5 4 ¥
JBEIK), Lushang Blue Shore New City (% p¥«%: & #i#k) and Qingdao Xifu Town Project (7 &8 1@
HUHH).

Lushang Ecological Villa (% 75 2E f& Al 5F)

Lushang Ecological Villa is the Group’s property series to develop high-end residence with modern
ecological concept. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had completed five Lushang Ecological
Villas that were sold or for sale, including Qingdao Jimo Chinese Character Eco Villa (5 & Bl & —11I
—&F), Beijing Shunyi Blue Shoreline Villa (JbalHZEEE = &), Chongging Yunshan Original
Scenery (B 22111 J548), Jinan Lushang Dragon Bay Imperial Villa (¥ 5 4 % %2 5E ) and Chongging
Yunshan Elegant Scenery (FEEFZE LML), and two Lushang Ecological Villas that were under
development, including Lushang International Community (% 5 F5 41 [%) and Linyi Spring Lake (ki
TN ).

The particulars of the Group’s completed properties as at 31 December 2020 are set forth below:

Project Name L ocation Nature of Property Planned GFA

(in thousands of

sq.m.)
Lushang City Square (£ 7% % )% %)
Jinan Lushang Plaza (W &R EY) ... .. Jinan Commercial; 100.0
Office

Tai’an Silver City Square Tai’an Residential; 120.0
(BB .. Commercial

Jinan Inzone Crystal Plaza Jinan Commercial; 150.0
(PSP SRR GRS ..o Office

Jinan Lushang Glory City Jinan Commercial; 414.0
(R GBI ... Office

Dongying Silver City Square Dongying  Commercial 192.0
CROESRIEIR I ES) ..o

Sub-total .......... . .. 976.0

Lushang Garden Residence (% i 1& &l £ )

Qingdao Jimo Dynamic Generation Qingdao Residential 180.9
(FEMESERMAAR) o

Qingdao Lushang Blue Shore International Qingdao Residential 350.0
(FSEMEREE) ... o

Qingdao Xifu Town Project (5 &1 f@#4) .... Qingdao Residential 501.2

Linyi Lushang Phoenix Town Linyi Residential; 600.0
(BRUTEMBERI) ... .. . Commercial

Jining Lushang South Lake Mansion Jining Residential; 431.9
(BHEMWEmAE) ... Commercial

Jinan Lushang Ivy Garden Jinan Residential 1030.7
(HREmEERLER) ... ... ...,

Weifang Lushang Capital (ML &M &) ... Weifang Residential 102.0

Heze Lushang Phoenix Town Heze Residential; 853.0
GREEEMmBERIR) ... .. . Commercial

Sub-total ......... ... 4,049.7
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Project Name L ocation Nature of Property Planned GFA
(in thousands of
sg.m.)
L ushang Ecological Villa (% & 4: & jil )
Qingdao Jimo Chinese Character Eco Villa Qingdao Villa 99.0
(FEEE—IL—8)
Beijing Shunyi Blue Shoreline Villa Beijing Villa 187.6
(AERIERBEERRER) ...
Chongqging Yunshan Original Scenery Chongqging Villa 72.6
(EEZRIEE) .o
Jinan Lushang Dragon Bay Imperial Villa Jinan Villa 161.8
(T EmBLREm) . ... ...
Chongging Yunshan Elegant Scenery Chongqging Residential 34.2
(EEZIHESE) ... .
Sub-total ......... ... . . L 555.2

The particulars of the Group’s properties under development as at 31 December 2020 are set forth

below:
Time of Expected Time of
Project Name L ocation Nature of Property Commencement Completion Planned GFA
(in thousands of
sq.m.)
Lushang City Square
(BRI R )
Qingdao Lushang City Centre Qingdao Residential; December 2019 July 2025 656.9
Yan'er Island Commercial
(FRBHTORLE) ... ..
Linyi Lushang City Centre Linyi Commercial; June 2013 June 2022 693.2
(iR e v N Office;
Apartment
Tai'an Lushang City Centre Tai'an Residential; December 2015  March 2022 434.3
(BEEWRL) ... ... ... Commercial
Sub-total . ............. 1,784.4
Lushang Garden Residence
(R E R )
Harbin Lushang Songjiang New Harbin Residential; May 2011 December 2023 2,960.0
City (WHEEMMILH) . . Commercial
Lushang Blue Shore New City Qingdao Residential; July 2014 June 2022 632.2
(BRI ... ... Commercial
Linyi Joy City (Il Bii%) Linyi Residential November 2015  December 2022 689.9
Jining Canal Mansion Jining Residential November 2015  December 2022 730.3
(ESEMAM) ...
Wushan Lushang Blue Shoreline  Jinan Residential May 2013 December 2023 1,181.5
Villa(FILEHERFER) .. ..
Qingdao Lushang Central Mansion ~ Qingdao Residential July 2018 December 2023 440.0
(FEREHPRAE) ... ..
Yantai Lushang Central Mansion  Yantai Residential October 2018 December 2023 472.1
(EZEWAE) ... ...
Zibo Lushang Centre Zibo Residential; October 2018 December 2023 402.4
(EEERERD). . . Commercial
Qingdao Lushang Blue Shore Qingdao Residential; September 2017  December 2023 317.3
Mansion (F &8 8 FAH) . . Commercial
Heze Lushang Blue Shore Heze Residential; January 2019 December 2025 607.0
Mansion (T & F B AfR) . . Commercial
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Time of

Expected Time of

Project Name L ocation Nature of Property Commencement Completion Planned GFA
(in thousands of
sq.m.)
Lushang Jinmao Mansion Jinan Residential; July 2019 December 2023 666.9
(BRERAE). .. ... ... .. Commercial;
Villa
Qingdao Blue Bay Sports Centre  Qingdao Residential; August 2019 December 2024 650.0
(FEEEEE L) ... .. .. Commercial;
Villa
Qingdao Lushang Health City Qingdao Residential October 2019 August 2023 114.4
(FEREHEER) ... ... ..
Qingdao Lushang Blue Technology Qingdao Residential; May 2022 December 2025 219.0
port (/B E M ORHLE) ... Talents
Apartment
Linyi Yuefu (ERUTiRy) ... ... Linyi Residential September 2017  December 2023 166.6
Linyi Lushang Vanke New Linyi Residential; July 2019 December 2023 353.2
Metropolis Commercial
(R &map e ... ..
Yantai Impression of Sea View Yantal Residential 2020 2025 614.9
(EEBENS) ... ... ...
Linyi Lushang Vanke City Linyi Residential; October 2020 June 2024 331.6
(BT esmaER .. ... Commercial
Jinan Xinghan City (% £##) . Jinan Residential; May 2017 May 2024 365.0
Commercial
Jinan Park Palace.Jinyue Mansion  Jinan Residential November 2018  November 2023 100.0
(WA BT SRBA). ....
Sub-total .. ... ... 12,022.1
Lushang Ecological Villa
€L LR IEY)
Lushang International Community ~ Tai’an Villa June 2014 June 2021 272.0
(BmBIFEALR) ..
Linyi Spring Lake (B Ur51%&#). . Linyi Residential May 2014 December 2024 394.3
Sub-total .. ......... ... 666.3
Land Bank

The Group possesses a large volume of land bank with premium locations. As at 31 December 2020,
the Group had a land bank with a total site area of approximately 1,193,300 sg.m., out of which
431,700 sg.m. had been in Qingdao, 228,000 sg.m. had been in Jinan and 115,300 sq.m. had been in
Harbin. The following table sets forth a summary of the Group’s land bank as at 31 December 2020:

Project Name Nature of Property Site Area Planned GFA
(in thousands of
sg.m.)
Lushang Vanke City Plot C Residential; 101.5 304.9
(CEP R CHI) . Commercial
Lushang Vanke City Plot A4 Residential; 10.6 36.0
(B ERIAAERY o Commercial
Harbin (\GRIVE) ..................... Residential; 115.3 564.8
Commercial
Lushang Jiahui New City (%% & #¥) .. Residential 104.3 250.2
Yantai Santan Unit 1 Plot B Residential; 165.3 619.9
(REZ RSB HIR) ... Commercial

- 101 -



Project Name Nature of Property Site Area Planned GFA
(in thousands of
sg.m.)

Qingdao Lushang Central Mansion (Plot A) Residential; 12.0 20.5
(FEEMPRAHEAIE)) ... ... Commercial

Qingdao Lushang Central Mansion (Plot B) Residential; 37.3 55.0
(FEEMPRAHBHM) ... ... ... .. Commercial

Qingdao Lushang Blue Shore New City Commercial 12.8 101.0
(FEBMEERIW) ... . . ...

Qingdao Yan'er Island (Plot 1c) Commercial 74.5 242.8
(B HMERSQcHE) ... .. ... ..

Qingdao West Coast Olympic Sports Centre  Residential; 78.2 204.2
Project (& & Vil F B A HLIHE) ... .. Commercial

Qingdao Blue Valley Health City Plot B Residential; 47.6 98.8
(B EESEEMNBHIR) .. .. ... ... .. .. Commercial

Qingdao Blue Valley Health Qilu Hospital Hospital 81.0 74.0
(FHESERERER) ... ... ..

Qingdao Blue Valley Health Technology Port Residential; 88.3 220.8
(BEESEERE) ... ... .. Commercial

Linyi Lushang Zhichun Lake Residential; 30.3 18.4
(BRUTERERAED) ... Commercial

Linyi Lushang City Centre (EiJT#& @) . Commercial 6.2 61.0

Jinan Shenwu A-1 (R MERA-1) .. ...... Commercial 33.6 100.7

Jinan Shenwu B-9 (W MEB-9) ........ Residential 46.8 84.3

Jinan Hancang Lake (JrGEE) .. ... ... Residential; 126.6 365.3

Commercial
Jinan Hancang Lake (JFGEE ) .. ... ... Commercial 21.0 63.6
Total ... .. ... 1,193.3 3,486.2

Other Businesses
Overview

In addition to the primary business lines of retail, pharmaceutical and property operations, the Group
also carries out other operating activities to supplement its primary operating activities through its
subsidiaries, including without limitation, cultural tourism, education, healthcare, media operations
and financial services and e-commerce. For the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020,
operating income generated from the Group’s other activities was RMB1,950 million, RMB2,129
million and RMB3,557 million, respectively, representing 5.1 per cent., 5.4 per cent. and 9.9 per
cent., respectively, of the Group’s total operating income for the same periods. For the years ended
31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, profit generated from the Group’s other businesses was RMB566
million, RMB676 million and RMB1,169 million, respectively, representing 7.2 per cent., 7.9 per
cent. and 13.8 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s total profit for the same periods.

Cultural Tourism Business

The Group engages in cultural tourism business through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shandong
Cultural Tourism Development Co., Ltd. (LL5# SCAb e %% i 5 B A FR 22 7)), which was injected
into the Group in November 2018 by the Shandong Provincial Government with the aim to
consolidate and optimise the cultural and tourism resources, such as cultural heritage, hotels, travel
agencies, resorts and art performance business, in Shandong Province. The Group’s cultural tourism
business primarily involves operation of hotels, scenic areas and travel agencies and cultural tourism
investment. In 2019, Shandong Cultural Tourism Development Co., Ltd. was shortlisted as one of the
“Leading Enterprises from the Top 10 Industrial Agglomerations in Shandong Province (Ll 3R & 1 5
" EEAETREE A 2)” by the Shandong Provincial Development and Reform Commission (1L # & %%
JEFI Pk ¥ 2z H €r). The Group was honoured as one of the “Top 20 Tourism Groups in China (4 B ik
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i 4E [H 205 )” by China Tourism Academy ([ ik % f 5% 5¢) and China Tourism Association ([ jik
&) in 2019.

Hotels

As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated four luxury hotels including Sofitel Jinan Silver Plaza
(7% 75 % I FR 4R 8 K fUJK), Taishan Hotel Beijing (AL 5tZ=1L46U), Pullman Linyi Lushang (T8 4
$HTT 2 KV )E) and Heze Ramada Hotel (7rf i3 H i 3 55 237 )5 ). As at 31 December 2020, the Group
operated more than 300 budget hotels under various brands, such as “Royal Plaza Hotels & Resorts
(BR A BHEE JE)”, “Inzone Garland Hotel (#RHEfENLIF)E)”, “Lushang Spring Lake Resort (% A%
WAL R )5)”, “ Jiayi Hotel (fEEERSSUEIE)”, “Went On Hotel (3C% HOTEL)”, “DUOBAAN (4%
HHJ5), “Junlan Hotel (5 W )E)”, Jiayi Hotel (FEECEE) and “Grace Inn (5 )5)”, covering more
than 16 municipalities in Shandong Province. Types of hotel which the Group operates include
boutique hotels, luxury hotels, upscale hotel, mid-tier hotel and budget hotel. The Group ranked 20th
in “Top 60 Hotel Groups in China (4 [ f )5 % [#60%)” by China Tourist Hotel Association ([ ik
UL 21 €) in 2019 in terms of business scale.

Scenic Areas and Travel Agencies

As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated four scenic areas, including one 5A-level scenic area,
namely Inzone Tianmeng Scenic Area on Yimeng Mountain (¥75%1114RE K55 [®), and three
4A-level scenic areas, namely Xintai Lotus Mountain (GBi#&#£ /£ 111), Jinan Lingyan Temple (757 % %
<F) and Zhoucun Ancient City (J&+ 1 k).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated one 5A-level international travel service company,
providing travel services under the brand of “Inzone Travel (§REjik#4%)”, with more than 100 outlets
across the country.

Cultural Tourism Investment

The Group actively participates in the promotion of the “Revitalising Rural Areas (%} #5t)”
national strategy in Shandong Province and has entered into commercial arrangements and/or
strategic co-operation agreements with a number of cities in Shandong Province, such as Tai’an,
Jinan, Qingdao and Weihai, for the implementation of 18 projects as at the date of this Offering
Circular under the “Revitalising Rural Areas (#F#4k# )" national strategy, covering more than 50
villages. The Group also set up a parent fund and several sub-funds to fund projects under the
“Revitalising Rural Areas (##1#kH#)” national strategy which focus on developing cultural tourism
and modern agriculture of rural areas in Shandong Province.

Education Business

The Group has established several education institutions, including Shandong Institute of Commerce
& Technology (L5 p% 20k 2E 5 1T 22 B¢) which is the only national demonstrative vocational colleges
in Shandong Province and one of the ten Class A vocational schools in China, Qingdao Vocational
and Technical College of Hotel Management (¥ 50958 MBkEHMTEE) which is the first
specialised hotel management school in China and a Class C vocational school in China, Shandong
Province City Service Technician College (Ll # 3kii iR#s 4% Fifi £ f¢) which is distinguished in
development of Shandong cuisine, Qilu Medical University (7545 #£E2[5z), Shandong Yingzuo —
Yingcai Kindergarten (L5 &R A 954 4) 52 &), Shandong Lushang Huashi Education Technology Co.,
Ltd. (IS PIHEFEHFRHEARAF) and Shandong Lushang College (14 M EEL). As at 31
December 2020, over 65,000 students were enrolled to the Group’s education institutions.
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Healthcare

The Group engages in healthcare business through its subsidiary, Lushang Freda Health Investment
Co., Ltd., which was established in 2015 by the Group with the aim to integrate internal resources in
health, pension, health care and other aspects for the development and promotion of elderly services
business. The Group has set up several healthcare and eldercare centres, among which Lushang Freda
International Eldercare Centre (45 73«48 3 £ 5 B ER#E #0>) and Linyi Zhichun Lake ([T A% i H
H) have become one of the first batch modelling units in Shandong Province. In 2019, Lushang
Freda Health Investment Co., Ltd. was shortlisted as one of the “Reserved Leading Enterprises from
the Top 10 Industrial Agglomerations in Shandong Province (Ll 5%« 5" & 3 4 B A Jai {5l 5 48 7 >
#)" by the Shandong Provincial Development and Reform Commission (Ll % & %% & fl it ¥ % B ).

Media Business

The Group operates omnimedia network with product pipelines of newspapers, journals and websites.
Shandong Business Daily (€I E#)), the Group’s main business platform in media, was founded
in 1993 and has become a nationwide newspaper since March 2001. It has an average daily audience
population of over one million, covering approximately one billion of the population in Shandong
Province. The Group also acquired 70 per cent. equity of Jinan Xinsanyou Advertising Co., Ltd. (¥
B = K E 4544 FRZA F]), Jinan Urban Elite Culture Communication Co., Ltd. (75 # ik i SCAb B 4%
A MR/ 7)) and Qingdao Urban Elite Culture Communication Co., Ltd. (5 & #F ik i SCAL B 4% A BR A
), respectively and jointly established Shangyou Culture Communication (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (%
AL G (L) A PR A in 2010. In addition, the Group gradually expands its media operations
through business cooperation in Elite (<f& ), Urban Elite (< ¥4 )), Shandong News Network
(LU HRI49)) and other media channels.

Financial services and E-commerce

The Group has a quality finance portfolio encompassing a variety of industries including third party
payment service, financial leasing, insurance brokerage, micro-credit and asset management. The
Group believes this could help enhance its asset liquidity, optimise resource sharing and contributes
to operational efficiency.

Environment Matters

The Group is subject to environmental laws and regulations governing air pollution, noise emissions,
hazardous substances, water and waste discharge and other environmental matters issued by the
governmental authorities in the PRC. The Group believes that it is in compliance in all material
respects with applicable environmental laws and regulations. As at the date of this Offering Circular,
the Group is not aware of any material environmental proceedings or investigations to which it is or
might become a party.

Insurance

The Group maintains insurance policies, which the Group believes to be consistent with the relevant
laws and industry and business practice in the PRC. The Group also purchases pension insurance,
unemployment insurance and medical insurance for its employees according to the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. The Group maintains insurance coverage in the types which it believes are
commensurate with its risk of loss and industry practice. Consistent with what the Group believes to
be customary practice in the PRC, it does not carry any business interruption insurance, product
liability insurance, key-man insurance or insurance covering potential environmental damage claims.
Such insurance is not mandatory under the laws and regulations of the PRC and such insurance is
either unavailable in the PRC or requires substantial cost. In addition, under the terms of the Group’s
agreements with suppliers and vendors, they will bear all product liability in respect of any products
supplied to the Group or sold in the Group’s store.
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Employees

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had approximately 38,790 full-time employees, 6,912 of
which hold bachelor’s degree or above. The following table shows the number of employees by ages
as at 31 December 2020:

As at 31 December 2020

Number of

employees Per cent. of total
Below 30 . ... . .. 24,056 62.0
30-50 . .. 13,238 34.1
Over 50 ... 1,496 3.9
Total ... 38,790 100.0

In accordance with the applicable regulations of local governments in regions where the Group has
business operations, the Group makes contributions to the pension contribution plan, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and personal injury insurance. The amount
of contributions is based on the specified percentages of employees’ aggregate salaries as required by
relevant PRC authorities. The Group also makes contributions to an employee housing fund according
to applicable PRC regulations. In addition to statutory contributions, the Group provides annual
bonuses to employees. The Group enters into an employment contract with each of its employees in
accordance with applicable PRC laws. Such contracts include provisions on wages, vacation,
employee benefits, training programmes, health and safety, confidentiality obligations and grounds
for termination.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Company operates under the “INZONE (#2 /)", “LUSHANG (4-74)” and other trademarks in the
PRC. The Company has registered the relevant logos and devices in the PRC as trademarks. The
Company is the registrant of the domain names of www.lushang.com.cn and www.sdzyczs.com. The
Company has also obtained certain patents and copyrights. As at 31 December 2020, the Company
had not encountered any material third-party intellectual property infringement claims.

Competition

The retail industry in China is highly competitive. The Group faces competition from national and
international operators of department stores, shopping centres, convenience stores, specialty retailers,
discount stores and other retail sites and forms of retail business in the areas in which the Group
currently operates and markets into which the Group intends to enter. The Group’s key competitors
include foreign and other local department stores and shopping centres that offer a similar range of
merchandise at similar price range or have similar targeted customers as the Group does. Competition
is typically based on location, shopping environment and amenities, marketing and promotional
activities, customer services and pricing.

The PRC pharmaceutical industry is currently fragmented with numerous market participants, highly
competitive and subject to rapid and significant change. The Group competes primarily based on its
product pipeline, biotechnology platform, ability to commercialize products, brand recognition and
disease awareness of the public. The Group faces potential competition from many different sources
working to develop therapies targeting the same indications against which the Group develops its
drug candidates. These include major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies and academic institutions, government agencies and research institutions.
Any drug candidates that the Group successfully develops and commercialises will compete both with
existing drugs and with any new drugs that may become available in the future. Meanwhile, as the
China pharmaceutical market continues to grow and as the Group gradually expands its distribution
reach in the PRC, the Group may face increasing competition from national, regional and local
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pharmaceutical retail and distribution competitors in target customer bases, business models and
product portfolios.

The property market in the PRC is highly competitive. Competition is primarily based on factors such
as location, facilities and supporting infrastructure, services and pricing. The Group’s existing and
potential competitors include major domestic developers and, to a lesser extent, foreign developers.
Many of the Group’s competitors have greater financial resources, marketing capabilities and brand
recognition than it does. In addition, some other local companies have extensive local knowledge and
business relationships in the relevant local markets, while international companies are gaining
increasing market shares in the PRC. Intensified competition between property developers may result
in increased costs in order to acquire land, over-supply of properties and a slowdown in the approval
process for new property developments by the relevant government authorities.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Group, together with its subsidiaries, may be involved in legal proceedings or
other disputes in the ordinary course of its business. As at the date of this Offering Circular, the
Group is not aware of any material legal proceedings, claims, disputes, penalties or liabilities
currently pending or threatened against the Group that may have a material adverse impact on its
business, financial condition or results of operations.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Directors

The board of directors of the Company consists of seven directors, including one chairman and six
directors. The board of directors determines major matters of the Company, and is primarily
responsible for, among others, convening shareholders’ meetings; reporting to the shareholders and
implementing shareholders’ resolutions; determining operation and investment plans, annual
investment plans and investment proposals; formulating annual budget plans, profit sharing plans and
deficit covering plans, plans for increase or decrease of registered capital and issuance of medium
and long-term bonds; drafting plan on merges, spinoffs, changes of corporate forms, winding up and
dissolution of the Company; determining internal management structure of the Company and the
establishment and dissolution of subsidiaries; appointing, removing and determining the remuneration
of senior management; making proposals on the amendment of the Company’s articles of association;
determining the management system of risk assessment, financial control and internal audit; acting on
behalf of the Company as a shareholder of its investees; and other responsibilities granted by the
Company’s shareholders. Each of the directors is appointed for a term of three years, which is
renewable upon re-election and re-appointment.

The following table sets forth the Company’s directors as of the date of this Offering Circular:

Name Age Position/Title

Mr. GAO Honglei (F#td) ........... 57 Chairman of the board of directors
Mr. LIU Shouliang (BI5F5E) .......... 50 Director

Mr. LI Lin (Z=6K) ..o 56 Director

Mr. LIU Dehua (2If&32) ... .......... 56 Director

Mr. WANG Yuanliang (F&R) ........ 53 Director

Mr. LI Yuming (ZEB) ... .. ... .. 57 External director

Ms. LI Xue (ZF=E) ................. 58 External director

Mr. GAO Honglei (#®#tH&), aged 57, has been the chairman of the board of directors of the
Company since July 2018. Mr. Gao previously served as an officer in the Labour Bureau of Xintai
County (#Hi##4 A2 J5) and the Vocational Education Office of Xintai County (#r#=5RHk%H), an
officer in the Enterprises Political Department of Xintai Municipal Party Committee (G %% i Zs 4 2
16#), the director of the Local Tax Bureau of Xintai Municipality (#7Zsi#i 5 Bi%)5), a deputy
director of the Tai’an Municipal Party Committee Propaganda Department (%% 11 ZE #), the
head of the Tai’an Municipal Civilization Office (F% L), and a deputy director and
subsequently the director of the Shandong Coalfield Geology Bureau (1113 # 4 H #h /& /&), Mr. Gao
obtained a master’s degree from the Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of China ("R £).

Mr. L1U Shouliang (#1573%), aged 50, has been a director of the Company since February 2017. Mr.
Liu previously served as a research assistant in the General Office of the Shandong Provincial Party
Committee (LI & ZHFAHELE A F) and successively a deputy county secretary and the secretary of
the Ju County Party Committee (&#2%#2%%), concurrently, a deputy magistrate, the representative
magistrate and the magistrate of Ju County (& %%). Mr. Liu obtained a doctorate degree from China
University of Petroleum (H B 7 i Kk £2).

Mr. LI Lin (ZE#HK), aged 56, has been a director of the Company since February 2017. Mr. Li
previously served as the director of Shandong Commercial Group General Corporation Kindergarten
(LR A H L B AN A 4 #E ), the general manager of Huashen Trading Company (FEE 5 /A ),
a director of Shandong Yinzuo-Yingcai Kindergarten (LLIEREESA4HER), a director and
concurrently a deputy general manager of Shandong Nichirei Foods Co., Ltd. (IL# H & & & A RA
7)), the director of Shandong Commercial Group General Corporation Party and Mass Work
Department (115 7 76 3£ 4E 8] 44\ 7] % T/EH), the head of the General Office of the Company’s
Discipline Inspection Commission (4Z#f/A %), a deputy secretary of the Company’s Discipline
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Inspection Commission, and a deputy director and successively the director of the Company’s Human
Resources Centre (A JJ &R H.0). Mr. Li obtained a master’'s degree from the Party School of
the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (# J&34%).

Mr. L1U Dehua (#1#%3), aged 56, has been a director of the Company since August 2020. Mr. Liu
previously served as an external director and the chief financial officer of Shandong Energy Group
Co., Ltd. (tLi e VR 4E H A FR /A A]), the chairman of the board of directors of Shandong Energy Group
Finance Co., Ltd (111 3R fg U5 4E B B 554 FR 22 /) and an external director and the chief financial officer
of Shandong Iron & Steel Group Co., Ltd (Ll E AL/ F]). Mr. Liu obtained a college’s
degree from Southwest Industrial Management School (VP75 1. 364 £ £%).

Mr. WANG Yuanliang (E#% K), aged 53, has been a director and the chief financial officer of the
Company since August 2019. Mr. Wang previously served as a staff of the Finance Bureau of
Zaozhuang City (GEAET BFELR), a senior staff of the State-owned Assets Administration Bureau of
Zaozhuang City (EHETTEA & &% # %), a director of the State-owned Assets Administration Office
of Zaozhuang City (FEHET7EIA & B HAEA =), a senior director of the Property Management
Division (FEREHFL) of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
Zaozhuang City (GEALTTE|I&ZE) (“Zaozhuang SASAC”), a senior director of the Statistical
Evaluation and Performance Appraisal Division (4t#l#F1E B 3¥45% % Fl) of Zaozhuang SASAC, a
researcher, director and deputy head of the Finance Supervision Office (Ff7#5E: & i) of Zaozhuang
SASAC, and the chief financial officer and an external director of Shandong Lu Grain Group Co.,
Ltd. (1l s & R4 E A R A]). Mr. Wang is a senior accountant and a tax accountant who obtained a
bachelor’s degree from Shandong University of Finance and Economics (LI # 4% 7% &4 [5).

Mr. LI Yuming (ZEEM), aged 57, has been an external director of the Company since March 2017.
He previously served as a manager, a director and a deputy chief accountant of Shandong
Tianhengxin Accounting Firm (L5 K18 15 & 5Tl 55 r), a deputy general manager and the chief
financial officer of Shandong Sanlong Intelligence Technology Co., Ltd. (1LI# = FE% fEHilT A BR A
7)) and the chairman of the board of directors of Shandong Shunshui Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. (LI3R7EKME BRI ABRAR). Mr. Li is a senior accountant who obtained a master’s degree
from Shandong University of Finance and Economics (1Ll 5 48 7% £ [z,

Ms. L1 Xue (ZEZ), aged 58, has been an external director of the Company since December 2019.
She previously served as a teaching staff of Zibo Radio Factory (if§{# 443 FE k), a staff and senior
staff of the Commission for Restructuring the Economic System of Zibo City (I {8 7 48 77 8 il pig 5 %%
B €r), a deputy director of the Zibo City Finance Office (iffi1# 7 4l T/E## /%) and a director and
the general manager of the Qilu Stock Depository Centre (75 & # 5E % 3¢ % #.0>). Ms. Li obtained a
bachelor’s degree from Shandong Province Institute of Finance and Commerce Management (1113 &
KEPAE B HEL BE) (currently known as Shandong Academy of Governance (1L #ATEUEE Bi)).

Senior Management

The Group’s senior management is appointed by and reporting to the board of directors. The
following table sets forth the Company’s senior management as of the date of this Offering Circular:

Name Age Position/Title
Mr. GUO Xuncheng (8% .. ....... 57 General manager

Mr. ZHAO Xiliang (#7558) .......... 58 Deputy general manager

Mr. ZHANG Jianjun (BREEH) ... .. .. .. 57 Deputy general manager

Mr. ZHANG Zhigiang (BR&E) .. ... ... 56 Deputy general manager

Mr. WANG Yuanliang (F&R) ........ 53 Chief financial officer

Mr. GUO Xuncheng (¥B#ll%), aged 57, has been the general manager of the Company since June
2020. Mr. Guo previously served as a deputy director of the General Division of the Shandong
Planning Commission (IR # 51 #% B &% 4 &), the director of the National Economic General
Division (B R#& #4545 )%), the Regional Economic Division (Hbl@#87% &) and the Policy and
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Regulation Division (K5 M) of the Shandong Development and Reform Commission (111 # & %
M Z%), the secretary of the Party Committee of Shandong Academy of Macroeconomic Research (1115
B REBPEWF 7 BE), the head and the secretary of the Party Group of Shandong Provincial Bureau of
Statistics (11 & #i51 /), and a deputy director of the Office of Shandong Comprehensive Reform
Leading Group (L& 21 Gk ek #4838 /N BF/A %), Mr. Guo obtained a master’s degree from
Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences ([ f2 2R} 2[5z,

Mr. ZHAO Xiliang (#P535¢%), aged 58, has been a deputy general manager of the Company since
February 2017. Mr. Zhao previously served as the head of the General Office of Shandong
Commercial Group General Corporation (IR # LM /AHE) and the general manager of
Shandong World Trade Centre (L3R % & 5 #.>). Mr. Zhao is a senior economist who obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree from Shandong Police College (LI %% £ B [z),
formerly known as Shandong Academy of Finance and Management Cadre (LI 5 48 77 45 FH i 35 £2 7).

Mr. ZHANG Jianjun (3 & #), aged 57, has been a deputy general manager of the Company since
February 2017. Mr. Zhang previously served as a deputy chief of the Finance and Accounting
Division (M%&), the director of the Finance Department (#1#53#F) of Shandong Commercial
Group General Corporation (115 # i 34 B 42 .3 7]), the general manager, the chief accountant and
the chairman of the board of directors of Shandong Silver Plaza Co., Ltd. (1115 J8 i 3 B 40 A R
7)), and the deputy chief accountant of the Company. Mr. Zhang is a senior accountant who obtained
a master’s degree from the Party School of the Shandong Provincial Committee of the Communist
Party of China (11 #& % #4%).

Mr. ZHANG Zhigiang (iR &), aged 56, has been a deputy general manager of the Company since
February 2017. Mr. Zhang previously served as the chief accountant of Shandong Commercial Real
Estate Development Company (1115 # 7 3£ /5 Hb E B %% /2 |]), the chief financial officer of Shandong
Silver Plaza Jiuxin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (1L EREAAE 7 M A RAR]), the
director of the Funding Department (&4:#F) and a deputy director of the General Finance
Department (M 4#5) of Shandong World Trade Centre (L% & 5 .l>), the director of the
Fund Management Department (&4 ##F), a deputy director of the Finance Management Centre
(I #EHH L), the director of the Finance Management Department (H7#5% ##6) and a deputy
chief accountant of the Company and the general manager of the Shandong Commercial Group
Finance Co., Ltd. (L3 & 34 B %A RS Al). Mr. Zhang is a senior accountant who obtained a
master’s degree from Shandong University (Ll 5%k £%).

Mr. WANG Yuanliang (E# R), aged 53, has been the chief financial officer of the Company since
August 2019. See “ — Directors” .

Corporate Governance

The Company has established corporate governance structure, consisting of six departments at the
headquarter level (namely the General Manager's Office, the Strategic Management Centre, the
Investment Management Centre, the Finance Management Centre, the Human Resources Management
Centre, and the Risk Management and Internal Control Centre). The primary duties of these six
departments are set forth as follows:

. General Manager’'s Office is primarily responsible for daily operations and administrative
matters, coordinating between different departments of the Group and liaising with its
subsidiaries, managing the Group’s comprehensive matters, and is in charge of public relations
matters.

. Strategic Management Centre is primarily responsible for establishing, supervising and
implementing the Group’s strategies and annual operation plans, establishing and improving the
Group’s assessment system, and reviewing, researching and analysing the internal and external
environment relating to the Group’s operation and management.
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Investment Management Centre is primarily responsible for managing the Group’s investment
portfolio, establishing the Group’s investment management system, evaluating the proposed
investment projects, preparing and improving the Group’s investment and capital operation
plans, and supervising, monitoring and evaluating implementation of investment projects.

Finance Management Centre is primarily responsible for establishing and improving the Group’s
finance management system and state-owned assets management system, drafting the Group’s
annual finance plans and goals, annual budget plans, and evaluating, monitoring, adjusting and
improving the finance operations of the Group.

Human Resources Management Centre is primarily responsible for establishing and promoting
the Group’s performance assessment and remuneration system, establishing the Group’s human
resources policies, drafting, promoting, monitoring and optimising the human resources plans,
internal training plans and the Party and mass working plans, and implementing and developing
the culture of the Group.

Risk Management and Internal Control Centre is primarily responsible for establishing and
implementing, through the Group’s internal and external audit and legal resources, the Group’s
risk management and legal compliance system, drafting the Group’s auditing and legal working
plans, and ensuring the implementation, monitor, adjustment and optimisation of the relevant
matters.
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PRC REGULATIONS

This section is a high-level overview of the PRC legal system and a summary of the principal PRC
laws and regulations relevant to the issue of the Bonds by the Issuer. As this is a summary, it does
not contain a detailed analysis of the PRC laws and regulations.

Main Regulatory Authorities and Contents of Supervision

The Ministry of Commerce of the People’s Republic of China (the “MOFCOM™) and competent local
departments of MOFCOM at various levels are responsible for advancing the structural adjustment of
the circulation industry, guiding the reform of circulation enterprises, the development of commercial
service industry and community commerce, proposing policy recommendations to promote the
development of small and medium-sized commercial enterprises, and promoting the development of
modern circulation modes such as circulation standardization and chain operations, commercial
franchising, logistics distribution, e-commerce.

China’s building and construction industry implements a regulatory system with the combination of
comprehensive supervision and professional supervision. Government supervision over the building
and construction industry mainly includes three aspects: the management on the competency and
qualification of market players, the whole process management on the construction projects, and the
management on the economic and technical standards of construction projects. The main regulatory
authorities include:

. Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC (the “MOHURD”) (formerly
Ministry of Construction of the PRC, the “MOC”) and the competent local departments of
MOHURD at various levels are responsible for the comprehensive supervision over the
construction industry as well as the real estate development qualifications. Such management
mainly includes: management on the competency and qualification of market players, approval
and verification of the qualifications of various construction enterprises for access to market,
examination and approval of occupational qualifications of individuals in the construction
industry, supervision over and management on construction projects, and establishment of
industrial standards.

. Ministry of Transport of the PRC (the “MOT”) and the competent local departments of MOT a
various levels are responsible for the construction projects of ports and highways nationwide.

. NDRC and the local development and reform commissions at various levels are responsible for
the in-vestment planning, examination and approval of city infrastructure construction projects.

. Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC (former State Environmental Protection
Administration, the “SEPA”) and the competent local departments of environmental protection
at various levels are responsible for the environmental protection management of construction
projects.

Major Laws and Regulations
Regulation on Fiscal Debts of Local Governments

In accordance with Guidance on Further Strengthening Adjustment of Credit Structure to Promote
Fast and Smooth Development of National Economy ("B AR 4RTT ~ FEIRITEE B EME B G
P — 200 T R A A ) R A ] R A AT AR R B R O 5 4 /) issued jointly by the PBOC and
CBRC in March 2009, local governments are encouraged to establish financing platforms to issue
financing instruments such as enterprise bonds and medium-term notes. In order to strengthen the
management of financing platforms and effectively prevent fiscal financial risks, Circular 19 and
Circular 2881 were separately promulgated in June 2010 and November 2010, respectively. In
accordance with Circular 19, all levels of local governments shall clear up the debts of their
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respective financing platform. In accordance with Circular 2881, indebtedness of local governments
will impact financing platform’s issuance of enterprise bonds.

On 21 September 2014, Circular 43 was promulgated by the State Council. Circular 43 aims at
regulating financing system of local government and the three channels are presented. In accordance
with Circular 43, financing platforms shall no longer serve the fiscal financing functions nor incur
new government debts. Public interest projects may be funded by the government through issuing
government bonds, since the Budget Law of the PRC (the “Budget Law”), which took effect on 29
December 2018, empowers local governments to issue government bonds, and public interest projects
with income generated, such as city infrastructure construction, may be operated independently by
social investors or jointly by the government and social investors through the establishment of special
purpose companies. Social investors or such special purpose companies shall invest in accordance
with market-oriented principles and may be funded by, among other market-oriented approaches,
bank loans, enterprise bonds, project revenue bonds and asset-backed securitisation. Social investors
or the special purpose companies shall bear the obligation to pay off such debts and the government
shall not be liable for any of the social investors' or special purpose companies debts. Circular 43
also sets forth the general principles of dealing with existing debts of financing platforms. Based on
the auditing results of such debts run by the local governments, the existing debts that should be
repaid by the local governments shall be identified, reported to State Council for approval, and then
included in the budget plan of local governments.

On 11 May 2015, Opinion on the Proper Solution of the Follow-up Financing Issues for Projects
under Construction of Financing Platform of Local Governments issued jointly by the Ministry of
Finance of the PRC, the PBOC and the CBRC (FABUHB ~ N EERAT ~ 4R & B i 2 35 fif P 7 BURT Al
G- & N FAE @ TE [ A% A& % ) (“Circular 40”) was promulgated by the General Office of
the State Council of the PRC. In accordance with Circular 40, local governments at all levels and
banking financial institutions shall properly deal with follow-up financing issues for projects under
construction of financing platform companies. Projects under construction refer to projects that have
started construction upon the completion of examination, approval or filing procedures in accordance
with relevant regulations manuscript by competent investment authorities before the date when the
Circular 43 was promulgated.

The key tasks of local governments and banking financial institutions are as followings:

. Support stock financing needs for projects under construction. Local governments at all levels
and banking financial institutions shall ensure the orderly development of projects under
construction. For the loans to the projects under construction of financing platform companies,
if the loan contracts with legal effect have been signed before 31 December 2014 and the loans
have been granted but the contracts have not yet expired, banking financial institutions shall,
under the premise of fully controlling risks and implementing credit conditions, continue to
grant loans as agreed in the contracts, and shall not blindly call in loans in advance, delay or
suspend the granting of loans.

. Regulate increment financing for projects under construction. Local governments at all levels
shall pay close attention to the increment financing needs which are expected to be given fiscal
support for the projects under construction of the financing platform companies, and shall,
under the premise of compliance with laws and regulations and standard administration, make
overall arrangements for various kinds of capitals such as fiscal capital and social capital and
ensure the continuation and completion of projects under construction. For the projects under
construction of financing platform companies for which the loan amount in the contracts that
have been signed fails to meet the construction needs, if it is suitable for them to adopt
government and social capital cooperation mode, they shall prioritise such mode to make up the
needs. And if they are in compliance with the relevant state provisions without any other
funding sources for construction, but temporarily the government and social capital cooperation
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mode is not suitable, the increment financing needs shall be incorporated into government
budget management and solved through issuing government bonds by local governments as
required by laws and relevant regulations.

. Administer in an effective and proper manner follow-up financing for projects under
construction. Banking financial institutions shall carefully check the destinations of the loans,
and focus on supporting the projects under construction of financing platform companies in
respects such as farmland water conservancy facilities, affordable housing projects and urban
railway systems.

. Improve supporting measures. Under the premise of ensuring fiscal expenditure needs, in the
regions where there are corresponding amount of government bonds issuance and where the
treasury balances exceed the treasury payment for one and a half months, the local financial
departments are allowed to, within the limit of the amount of government bonds issuance, make
more efforts to effectively use the stock of fiscal funds in the previous years and use the surplus
amount of the treasury for capital flow before government bond issuance, so as to address the
time difference between the financing for pro-jects under construction and government bonds
issuance.

Regulation on the Issuance of Foreign Bonds

Pursuant to the NDRC Circular, which was promulgated by the NDRC and became effective on 14
September 2015, where domestic enterprises, overseas enterprises controlled by them or their
overseas branches issue foreign debts, which are debt instruments of no less than one year of tenor
that are denominated in domestic currency or foreign currency with the capital repaid and interest
paid as agreed, including bonds issued overseas and long and medium-term inter-national commercial
loans, the enterprises shall apply to the NDRC for dealing with the formalities of record-filing and
registration before issuance. The NDRC shall decide to accept it or not within five working days
upon the receipt of the application and provide the Record-filing and Registration Certification of
Issuance of Foreign Debts by Enterprises within seven working days after acceptance. The enterprises
shall submit the issuance information to the NDRC within 10 working days after the end of issuance
each time.

Pursuant to the Notice of the General Office of the NDRC on the Requirements for Local
State-owned Enterprises to Apply for Record and Registration of Foreign Debt Issuance ([ 5 % & L
2 A R IR S b Ty B A SE AT AR R A 2 8 RCA B B SR A ), which was promulgated by
the NDRC and became effective on 6 June 2019, all companies (including local state-owned
enterprise) applying for Record and Registration of Foreign Debt Issuance shall submit a commitment
letter stating the authenticity of application materials signed by the main decision makers of the
company to the NDRC, the NDRC will record irregularities of the companies that makes false
commitment in the National Credit Information Platform.

Bidding and Tendering Management

Bidding and tendering of various construction projects have been provided in the Bidding and
Tendering Law of the People’s Republic of China (9 ¥ A R ALFNE# AR F 5 15) promulgated by
SCNPC on 27 December 2017 which became effective on 28 December 2017, Regulation on the
Implementation of the Bidding and Tendering Law of the People’s Republic of China (4 #E A R LA
I8 FA AL AL B it /e 1) promulgated by State Council on 2 March 2019 which became effective on
the same date, Measures for the Construction Bidding and Tendering of Construction Projects (L&
A IH H i TR AZHEE) jointly promulgated by NDRC, MOC, MOR, MOT, Ministry of
Information Industry of the People's Republic of China, Minis-try of Water Resources of the People’s
Republic of China, and Civil Aviation Administration of China on 8 March 2003 which became
effective on 1 May 2003 and as amended on 11 March 2013, which amendment became effective on 1
May 2013, Administrative Measures for the Bidding and Tendering of Design of Construction
Projects (% T st FH A SR ML) issued by MOHURD on 24 January 2017 and became
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effective on 1 May 2017, Rules for Projects Subject to Bidding (#7H481E /) TF2IE H B 2€) issued by
NDRC on 27 March 2018 and became effective on 1 June 2018, Administrative Measures for the
Bidding and Tendering of Housing Construction and Municipal Infrastructure Work (5 & £ #0117 B
FLBER b TRt T AR A4S B J#7%) issued by MOHURD on 28 September 2018 and became
effective on the same date, and Administrative Measures for the Bidding and Tendering of Highway
Engineering Construction (/A T & &6 H RS HLHFE) promulgated by MOT on 8
December 2015 which became effective on 1 February 2016.

In accordance with the Bidding and Tendering Law of the People’s Republic of China, certain types
of projects shall go through bidding processes during phases, including project survey, design,
construction, supervision and procurement of the essential equipment and materials relating to the
project construction. Such projects include the projects related to social public interests and public
security, including large infrastructure and utilities; projects invested by using state-owned fund or
financed by the government in whole or in part; and projects using loans or aid funds of international
organisations or foreign government.

The process of bidding and tendering consists of five stages including bid invitation, tendering, bid
opening, bid evaluation and bid award. The principle of openness, fairness and equal competition
shall be followed in the bidding and tendering for construction project contracting, and the contractor
shall be chosen after evaluation. After the contractor is determined, the tenderee shall issue the
notification to the successful bidder. The notification is legally binding on both the tenderee and the
bid winner.

In accordance with the Bidding and Tendering Law of the People’s Republic of China and Measures
for the Construction Bidding and Tendering of Construction Projects, if any project that shall undergo
bidding as required by law fails to go through the bidding process, or the items subject to bidding are
broken up into pieces or the bidding requirement is otherwise evaded, the relevant administrative
supervision department shall order rectification within a specified period, and may impose a fine of
0.5 per cent. up to 1 per cent. of the contract amount of the project. For projects using the
state-owned funds in whole or in part, the project approval authority may suspend the implementation
of the project or suspend the fund appropriation, and impose punishment on the person direct in
charge of the entity or other person directly liable. Further, in accordance with the provisions of the
Interpretations of the Supreme People’s Court on Issues of Law Application during the Trial of
Construction Contracts for Building Projects (1) (Fm A B % B B it 28 FE i s TR i T & [A) 24 4 21
A RE R RE (—)) issued by the Supreme People’s Court on 29 December 2020 and became
effective on 1 January 2021, if any project that is required to undergo a bidding process fails to go
through the bidding process or the bid award is invalid, the construction contract for building
projects shall become invalid.

Quality Management

Laws and regulations on project quality mainly include Construction Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Regulation on Quality Management of Construction Projects (& TF2/E &= % FE5{9]) issued
by the State Council on 23 April 2019 and became effective on the same date, Administrative
Measures for Quality Management of Construction Project Survey (#:s% LFEH)EE & & H L)
amended by MOHURD on 1 April 2021 and became effective on the same date, Measures for the
Administration of Quality Warranty Funds of Construction Projects (#s% T8 & (R 75 & & H L)
issued jointly by MOHURD and MOF on 20 June 2017 and became effective on 1 July 2017,
Administrative Measures for Completion Acceptance Record of Building Construction and Municipal
Infrastructure Projects (5 /2 £ 5% A1 Ty B 5 i kit TR 92 T B Wi 22 % B %) issued by MOHURD
on 19 October 2009 and became effective on the same date, Measures for Quality Warranty of
Building Construction Projects (/5 /& 5 T2 5 & (R & H#1%) issued by MOC on 30 June 2000 and
became effective on the same date, Administrative Rules for Construction of Port Works (it I T2 %
R MR E) promulgated by MOT on 28 November 2019 which became effective on the same date
and Measures for Completion (Delivery) Acceptance of Highway Works (2 % TR (38) T B Ui %)
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promulgated by MOT on 15 March 2004 and became effective on 1 October 2004, and its Implement
which is promulgated on 1 May 2010.

According to the Regulation on Quality Management of Construction Projects, all the building,
surveying, designing, construction and supervision units shall be responsible for the quality of the
construction projects. The competent administrative department of construction at or above county
level is the competent authority for quality supervision and management of construction projects.

Environmental Protection Management

Major laws and regulations on environmental protection during the project construction pro-cess
include the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China (H#& A A5 R 55 )
#1%) amended by SCNPC on 24 April 2014 which became effective on 1 January 2015, Law on
Environmental Impact Assessment of the People’s Republic of China (H 2 A 3t Al 5 57 45 5 2 5EAE
%) promulgated by SCNPC on 29 December 2018 which became effective on the same date,
Administrative Regulations on Environmental Protection of Construction Projects (7% JE H Bz 55 {i i#
EHLE ) issued by State Council on 16 July 2017 and became effective on 1 October 2017, and
Interim Measures for Environmental Protection Acceptance of Construction Projects upon Completion
(CERRIE H % TIR ISR i 5 8 17 #F1%) promulgated by SEPA on 20 November 2017 which became
effective on the same date.

In accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Regulations on Environmental Protection of
Construction Projects and Administrative Measures for Environmental Protection Acceptance of
Construction Projects upon Completion, the PRC Government implements the system of
environmental impact assessment on construction projects. After the completion of a construction
project, the competent administrative department of environmental protection will undergo
environmental protection acceptance process and assess whether the construction project has met the
requirements for environmental protection.

Environmental Protection

The Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ("% A K 3L 50 B 55 (R 58 15),
promulgated on 26 December 1989 by the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress,
which became effective on 26 December 1989, as amended on 24 April 2014 which became effective
on 1 January 2015, establishes the legal framework for environmental protection in the PRC. The
environmental protection department of the State Council supervises environmental protection work
in the PRC, and establishes national standards for the discharge of pollutants. Each of the local
environmental protection bureaus is responsible for the environmental protection work within their
respective jurisdictions.

Air Pollution

The Air Pollution Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China ("3 A E 3B K 575 4L b iR
%), promulgated on 26 October 2018 by the Standing Committee of the National People’'s Congress,
which became effective on the same date, establishes the legal framework for air pollution prevention
in the PRC. The ecology and environment department of the State Council or local provincial
governments formulates national air quality standards. Each of the local ecology and environment
bureaus may impose penalties for violation, including suspending operations, within each of their
respective jurisdictions.

Water Pollution
The Water Pollution Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China (3 A B 3L A1 B 7K 75 YL B i6
%), promulgated on 11 May 1984 by the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress,

which became effective on 1 November 1984, and amended on 27 June 2017 which became effective
on 1 January 2018, establishes the legal framework for water pollution prevention in the PRC. The
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environmental protection department of the State Council formulates national waste discharge
standards. Each of the local provincial governments is authorised to regulate water pollution within
each of their respective jurisdictions by formulating more specific local standards, and each of the
local environmental protection bureaus may impose penalties for violation, including suspending
operations, within each of their respective jurisdictions.

Noise Pollution

The Noise Pollution Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China (FF#E A R 30 3R 5% e % 5
YeBiiifik), promulgated by the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress on 29
December 2018, which became effective on the same date, establishes the framework for noise
pollution prevention in the PRC. Under the Noise Pollution Prevention Law, any person undertaking a
construction, decoration or expansion project which might cause environmental noise pollution, shall
prepare and submit an environmental impact report to the environmental protection authority for
approval. Facilities for prevention and control of environmental noise pollution shall be designed and
approved by the environmental protection authority prior to the commencement of the project, and be
built and put into use simultaneously with the project works. Facilities for prevention and control of
environmental noise pollution may not be dismantled or suspended without the approval of the
environmental protection authority.

Construction Projects

The Environmental Impact Appraisal Law of the People’s Republic of China (773 A R 0[5 B2 355 5%
ZEEFEE), promulgated by the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress on 29
December 2018, which became effective on the same date, the Administration Rules on
Environmental Protection of Construction Pro-jects (% H B 55 (8 7#4 #%6), promulgated by
the State Council on 16 July 2017, which became effective on 1 October 2017, and the Interim
Measures for Environmental Protection Acceptance of Construction Projects upon Completion (%
TEH % TERB R GERUCE 17 3F%) promulgated by SEPA on 20 November 2017 which became
effective on the same date, require enterprises planning construction projects to engage qualified
professionals to provide assessment reports on the environmental impact of such projects. The
assessment report shall be filed with and approved by the relevant environmental protection bureau,
prior to the commencement of any construction work. The construction project shall not commence
operation, unless inspected and approved by the relevant environmental protection bureau.

Labour
Employment Contracts

The Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (% A KRB 25 &) & [ %),
promulgated by the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress on 29 June 2007, which
became effective on 1 January 2008 and was amended on 28 December 2012 and became effective on
1 July 2013, governs the relationship between employers and employees and provides for specific
provisions in relation to the terms and conditions of an employee contract. The Labour Contract Law
stipulates that employee contracts shall be in writing and signed. It imposes more stringent
requirements on employers in relation to entering into fixed-term employment contracts, hiring of
temporary employees and dismissal of employees. Pursuant to the Labour Contract Law, employment
contracts lawfully concluded prior to the implementation of the Labour Contract Law and continuing
as at the date of its implementation shall continue to be performed. Where an employment
relationship was established prior to the implementation of the Labour Contract Law, but no written
employment contract was concluded, a contract shall be concluded within one month after its
implementation.
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Employee Funds

Under applicable PRC laws, regulations and rules, including the Social Insurance Law of the People’'s
Republic of China (9 # A RILME 4L & fFi%), promulgated by the Standing Committee of the
National People’s Congress on 29 December 2018, which became effective on the same date, the
Interim Regulations on the Collection and Payment of Social Insurance Premiums (ft & £ B 22 fiF 450
17 #l), promulgated by the State Council on 22 January 1999, which became effective on 22
January 1999 and amended on 24 March 2019, and Administrative Regulations on the Housing
Provident Fund ({5 AFE4: & ¥ %51), promulgated by the State Council on 3 April 1999, which
became effective on 3 April 1999 and as amended on 24 March 2019, employers are required to
contribute, on behalf of their employees, to a number of social security funds, including funds for
basic pension insurance, unemployment insurance, basic medical insurance, occupational injury
insurance, maternity leave insurance, and to housing provident funds. These payments are made to
local administrative authorities and any employer who fails to contribute may be fined and ordered to
pay the out-standing amount within a stipulated time period.

Regulations Regarding Overseas | nvestment, Financing and Acquisition Activities
NDRC Supervision

According to the Administrative Measures for Overseas Investment by Enterprises ({23578 % &%
PR H#7) promulgated by the NDRC on 26 December 2017, which became effective on the 1 March
2018, the procedure of approval and filing shall be respectively applied to different overseas
investment projects. Specifically, if the project is related to sensitive countries, regions or industries,
regardless of the investment amount, the projects shall be subject to the approval of NDRC.

Specifically, non-sensitive overseas investment projects carried out by enterprises under central
management, or those carried out by local enterprises in which the amount of Chinese investment
reaches or exceeds U.S.$300 million shall be subject to the filing with NDRC. Those carried out by
local enterprises in which the amount of Chinese investment is below U.S.$300 million shall be
subject to the filing with competent development and reform authorities of the provincial
government.

Investments in Hong Kong, Macao Special Administrative Region or Taiwan made by investors
directly or through enterprises under their control, and overseas investments made by investors
through the enterprises that are in Hong Kong, Macao Special Administrative Region or Taiwan and
under their control shall be governed by the Administrative Measures for Overseas Investment by
Enterprises.

According to the NDRC Circular, which was issued by the NDRC on 14 September 2015 and came
into effect on the same day, if a PRC enterprise or an offshore enterprise controlled by a PRC
enterprise wishes to issue bonds outside of the PRC with a maturity of more than one year, such
enterprise must in advance of issuing such bonds, file certain prescribed documents with the NDRC
and procure a registration certificate from the NDRC in respect of such issue.

The NDRC Circular relates to the matters as listed below:

. remove the quota review and approval system for the issuance of foreign debts by enterprises,
reform and innovate the ways that foreign debts are managed, and implement the administration
of record-filing and the registration system. Realise the supervision and administration of the
size of foreign debts borrowed on a macro level with the record-filing, registration, and
information reporting of the issuance of foreign debts by enterprises;

. before the issuance of foreign debts, enterprises shall first apply to the NDRC for the handling

of the record-filing and registration procedures and shall report the information on the issuance
to NDRC within 10 working days of completion of each issuance;
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. record-filing and registration materials to be submitted by an enterprise for the issuance of
foreign debts shall include: application report for the issuance of foreign debts and issuance
plan, including the currency, size, interest rate, and maturity of foreign debts, the purpose of the
funds raised, back flow of funds, etc. The applicant shall be responsible for the authenticity,
legality, and completeness of the application materials and information;

. the NDRC shall decide whether to accept the application for record-filing and registration
within 5 working days of receiving it and shall issue a Certificate for Record-filing and
Registration of the Issuance of Foreign Debts by Enterprises within seven working days of
accepting the application and within the limit of the total size of foreign debts;

. the issuer of foreign debts shall handle the procedures related to the outflow and inflow of
foreign debt funds with the Certificate for Record-filing and Registration according to the
regulations. When the limit of the total size of foreign debts is exceeded, the NDRC shall make
a public announcement and no longer accept applications for record-filing and registration; and

. if there is a major difference between the actual situation of the foreign debts issued by the
enterprises and the situation indicated in the record-filing and registration, an explanation shall
be given when reporting relevant information. The NDRC shall enter the poor credit record of
an enterprise which maliciously and falsely reports the size of its foreign debts for record-filing
and registration into the national credit information platform.

MOFCOM Supervision

MOFCOM issued the new version of the Overseas Investment Administration Rules (3% 7% & % i i
%) on 6 September 2014, effective from 6 October 2014 (the “New Overseas Investment Rules’).
Under the New Overseas Investment Rules, a domestic enterprise intending to carry out any overseas
investment shall report to the competent department of commerce for verification or filing and the
competent department of commerce shall, with regard to an enterprise so verified or filed, issue
thereto an Enterprise Overseas Investment Certificate (1> 355 /M% & 75 3). If two or more enterprises
make joint investment to establish an overseas enter-prise, the larger (or largest) shareholder shall be
responsible for the verification or filing procedure after obtaining written consent of other investing
parties.

An enterprise that intends to invest in a sensitive country or region or a sensitive industry shall apply
for the verification by MOFCOM. “Sensitive countries and regions” refer to those countries without a
diplomatic relationship with the PRC, or subject to the UNSC sanctions or otherwise under the list of
verified countries and regions published by MOFCOM from time to time. “Sensitive industries” refer
to those industries involving the products and technologies which are restricted from being exported,
or affecting the interests of more than one country (or region). In accordance with the New Overseas
Investment Rules, a central enterprise shall apply to MOFCOM for verification and MOFCOM shall,
within 20 working days after accepting such application, decide whether or not the verification is
granted. For a local enterprise, it shall apply through the provincial department of commerce to
MOFCOM for such verification. The provincial department of commerce shall give a preliminary
opinion within 15 working days after accepting such local enterprise’s application, and submit all
application documents to MOFCOM. MOFCOM shall decide whether or not to grant the verification
within 15 working days of receipt of such preliminary opinion from the provincial department of
commerce. Upon verification, the Enterprise Overseas Investment Certificate shall be issued to the
investing enterprise by MOFCOM.

All overseas investments other than those subject to MOFCOM verification as described above are
subject to a filing procedure. The investing enterprise shall complete the filing form through the
Overseas Investment Management System, an online system maintained by MOFCOM, print out a
copy of such filing form for stamping with the company chop, and then submit such stamped filing
form together with a copy of its business licence for filing at MOFCOM (for a central enterprise (-
Je4i>2£)) or the provincial department of commerce (for a local enterprise) respectively.
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MOFCOM or the provincial department of commerce shall accept the filing and issue the Enterprise
Overseas Investment Certificate within three working days upon receipt of such filing form.

The investing enterprise must carry out the investment within two years of the date of the relevant
Enterprise Overseas Investment Certificate, otherwise such certificate will automatically become
invalid and a new filing or verification application has to be made by the investing enterprise. In
addition, if any item specified in such certificate is changed, the investing enter-prise shall make the
change of registration at MOFCOM or the provincial department of commerce (as the case may be).

If an overseas invested company carries out a re-investment activity offshore, the investing enterprise
shall report such re-investment activity to MOFCOM or the provincial department of commerce (as
the case may be) after the legal process of the investment is completed offshore. The investing
enterprise shall complete and print out a copy of the Overseas Chinese-invested Enterprise
Re-investment Report Form (4 4h & 1 36 1 4% & i % %) from the Overseas Investment Management
System and stamp and submit such form to MOFCOM or the provincial department of commerce.

Foreign Exchange Administration

According to Circular of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on Further Simplifying and
Improving the Foreign Exchange Control Policy on Direct Investment (5 5% 71 [ 45 21 =) B i i — 5 i
b ke it T B 4% A0 RE 7 FLIBUR (9 48 ), corporations, enterprises or other economic organisations
(domestic investors) that have been permitted to make outbound direct investment shall go through
the procedures of registration to competent banks in places where they are registered and the Foreign
Exchange Bureau (YMEFSHEHHE) and its branches implement indirect supervision over foreign
exchange registration of direct investment via the banks. According to Circular of the State
Administration of Foreign Exchange on Issuing the Regulations on Foreign Exchange Administration
of the Overseas Direct Investment of Domestic Institutions (B i %5 1 5% A B RS 355 A0 B 3 & A E A
PRRLZE YA ), the scope of foreign exchange funds for overseas direct investment of domestic
institutions includes their own foreign ex-change funds, domestic loans in foreign currencies in
compliance with relevant provisions, foreign exchange purchased with Renminbi, material objects,
intangible assets and other foreign exchange funds approved by the Foreign Exchange Bureaus for
overseas direct investment. The profits gained from overseas direct investment of domestic
institutions may be deposited in overseas banks and used for overseas direct investment.

According to the Administrative Measures for Foreign Debt Registration (JM& 5704 FEHFE) and its
operating guidelines, effective as at 13 May 2013, issuers of foreign debts are required to register
with the SAFE. Issuers other than banks and financial departments of the government shall go
through registration or record-filing procedures with the local branch of the SAFE within 15 business
days of entering into a foreign debt agreement. If the receipt and payment of funds related to the
foreign debt of such issuer is not handled through a domestic bank, the issuer shall, in the event of
any change in the amount of money withdrawn, principal and interest payable or outstanding debt, go
through relevant record-filing procedures with the local branch of the SAFE.

In accordance with the Provisions on the Foreign Exchange Administration of Cross-Border
Guarantees (535 RAMNE BEMIE) (“Cross-Border Guarantees Provisions’) promulgated by
SAFE on 12 May 2014 which came into effect on 1 June 2014, the Guarantor shall complete
cross-border guarantee registration within 15 working days after execution of the relevant Deed of
Guarantee. Pursuant to article 31 of the Cross-Border Guarantees Provisions, a failure to com-ply
with registration requirements may result in a warning and fine as set forth under article 48 of the
Foreign Exchange Administrative Regulations (7% # % 1) promulgated by the State Council in
2008.

Pursuant to article 40 of the Foreign Debt Administration Provisional Rules (#M&% B 47 H#E2:)

promulgated by MOF, the NDRC and SAFE, a failure by a domestic entity to register a foreign debt
or a foreign debt guarantee will render the respective contract not legally binding and unenforceable.
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State-owned Assets Supervision

The Interim Measures for Administration of Overseas State-owned Property Rights of Central
Enterprises (HF &4 355 A8 A B A4S BT 1T HEIE) and the Interim Measures for the Supervision and
Administration of Overseas State-owned Assets of Central Enterprises (" Y>35 /MBI A & e BB
PP AT HL) also apply to overseas investment projects. Where overseas enterprises wholly owned or
controlled by central enterprises or their subsidiaries at all levels conduct economic activities such as
transferring or acquiring properties, making non-monetary contribution, changing the state-owned
shareholding in non-listed companies, consolidation, division, dissolution or liquidation, they shall
appoint a professional agency with the corresponding qualifications, professional experiences and
good reputation to evaluate or assess the subject matters, and the evaluation items or valuation results

shall be submitted to SASAC for record-filing or approval (as the case may be).

Pursuant to the Interim Measures for Administration of Overseas State-owned Property Right of
Central Enterprises, the central enterprise shall, in a unified way, apply for property right registration
with the SASAC, where any of the following events take place in connection with a central enterprise
or its subsidiaries at all levels:

. where an overseas enterprise is established by way of investment, division or consolidation, or
the property right of an overseas enterprise is obtained for the first time by way of acquisition
or equity investment;

. where any change occurs to an overseas enterprise’s basic information including its name,
registration place, registered capital and the main business scope, or the overseas enterprise’s
property right information changes due to any changes in the capital contributors, amount of
capital contributions and proportions of capital contributions;

. where an overseas enterprise no longer keeps state-owned property right due to dissolution,
bankruptcy, or property right transfer and capital reduction; or

. other circumstances in which property right registration needs to be made.
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TAXATION

The following summary of certain tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the
Bonds is based upon applicable laws, regulations, rulings and decisions in effect as at the date of
this Offering Circular, all of which are subject to change (possibly with retroactive effect). This
discussion does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may
be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Bonds and does not purport to deal with
consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which may be subject to special rules.
Neither these statements nor any other statements in this Offering Circular are to be regarded as
advice on the tax position of any Bondholder or any persons acquiring, selling or otherwise dealing
in the Bonds or on any tax implications arising from the acquisition, sale or other dealings in respect
of the Bonds. Persons considering the purchase of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors
concerning the possible tax con-sequences of buying, holding or selling any Bonds under the laws of
their country of citizenship, residence or domicile.

PRC

The following summary accurately describes the principal PRC tax consequences of ownership of the
Bonds by beneficial owners who, or which, are not residents of China for PRC tax purposes. These
beneficial owners are referred to as non-PRC Bondholders in this “ Taxation—PRC” section. In
considering whether to invest in the Bonds, investors should consult their individual tax advisors
with regard to the application of PRC tax laws to their particular situations as well as any tax
consequences arising under the laws of any other tax jurisdiction. Reference is made to PRC taxes
from the taxable year beginning on or after 1 January 2008.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the IIT Law and the implementation regulations in relation to both the EIT
Law and the IIT Law, PRC income tax at a rate of 10 per cent. or 20 per cent. is normally applicable
to PRC-source income derived by non-resident enterprises or individuals, respectively, subject to
adjustment by applicable treaty. As the Guarantor is a PRC resident enterprise for tax purposes,
interest paid by the Guarantor to non-resident Bondholders may be regarded as PRC-sourced, and
therefore be subject to PRC income tax at a rate of 10 per cent. for non-resident enterprise
Bondholders and at a rate of 20 per cent. for non-resident individual Bondholders (or a lower treaty
rate, if any).

Such income tax shall be withheld by the Guarantor that is acting as the obligatory withholder and
such PRC enterprise shall withhold the tax amount from each payment or payment due. To the extent
that the PRC has entered into arrangements relating to the avoidance of double taxation with any
jurisdiction, such as Hong Kong, that allow a lower rate of withholding tax, such lower rate may
apply to qualified non-PRC resident enterprise Bondholders. Under the EIT Law and its
implementation rules, any gains realised on the transfer of the Bonds by holders who are deemed
under the EIT Law as non-resident enterprises may be subject to PRC enterprise in-come tax if such
gains are regarded as income derived from sources within the PRC. Under the EIT Law, a
“non-resident enterprise” means an enterprise established under the laws of a jurisdiction other than
the PRC and whose actual administrative organisation is not in the PRC, which has established
offices or premises in the PRC, or which has not established any offices or premises in the PRC but
has obtained income derived from sources within the PRC. There remains uncertainty as to whether
the gains realised on the transfer of the Bonds by enterprise holders would be treated as incomes
derived from sources within the PRC and be subject to PRC enterprise income tax. In addition, under
the II'T Law, any individual who has no domicile and does not live within the territory of the PRC or
who has no domicile but has lived within the territory of China for less than 183 days cumulatively
within one tax year shall pay individual income tax for any income obtained within the PRC. There is
uncertainty as to whether gains realised on the transfer of the Bonds by individual holders who are
not PRC citizens or residents will be subject to PRC individual income tax. If such gains are subject
to PRC income tax, the 10 per cent. enterprise income tax rate and 20 per cent. individual income tax
rate will apply respectively unless there is an applicable tax treaty or arrangement that reduces or
exempts such income tax. The taxable income will be the balance of the total income obtained from

- 121 -



the transfer of the Bonds minus all costs and expenses that are permitted under PRC tax laws to be
deducted from the income. According to the Arrangement, Bondholders who are Hong Kong
residents, including both enterprise holders and individual holders, will be exempted from PRC
income tax on capital gains derived from a sale or exchange of the Bonds if such capital gains are
not connected with an office or establishment that the Bondholders have in the PRC and all the other
relevant conditions are satisfied.

It is worth mentioning that should the Issuer, as an overseas entity held by the Guarantor, be
determined as an overseas registered PRC resident enterprise for tax purposes by PRC competent tax
authorities in accordance with PRC laws by virtue of its actual administrative organisation conducted
in the PRC, the Issuer would be obligated to withhold PRC income tax on payments of interest and
certain other amounts on the Bonds to the Bondholders at a rate of 10 per cent. for non-resident
enterprise Bondholders and at a rate of 20 per cent. for non-resident individual Bondholders (or a
lower treaty rate, if any). Under the EIT Law and its implementation regulations, “actual
administrative organisation” shall mean organisation implementing substantive and comprehensive
management and control over the production and business operations, personnel, financial accounts
and property etc. of an enterprise.

On 23 March 2016, the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation issued Circular
36, which introduced a new VAT from 1 May 2016. Under Circular 36, VAT is applicable where the
entities or individuals provide services within the PRC. The operating income generated from the
provision of taxable sale of services by entities and individuals, such as financial services, shall be
subject to PRC VAT if the seller or buyer of the services is within PRC. In the event that foreign
entities or individuals do not have a business establishment in the PRC, the purchaser of services
shall act as the withholding agent. According to the Explanatory Notes to Sale of Services, Intangible
Assets and Real Property attached to Circular 36, financial services refer to the business activities of
financial and insurance operation, including loan processing services, financial services of direct
charges, insurance services and the transfer of financial instruments, and the VAT rate is 6 per cent.
Accordingly, the interest and other interest like earnings received by a non-PRC resident Bondholder
from the Guarantor will be subject to PRC VAT at the rate of 6 per cent. The Guarantor will be
obligated to withhold VAT of 6 per cent. and certain surcharges on VAT for payments of interest and
certain other amounts on the Bonds paid by the Guarantor to Bondholders that are non-resident
enterprises or individuals. And as the withholding agent, the Guarantor shall calculate the
withholding tax according to the following formula: withholding tax = price paid by the purchaser +
(1 + tax rate) x tax rate. Pursuant to Interim Regulation of the PRC on City Maintenance and
Construction Tax (1 #e A B30 30 3k 7 4ff 5 e 5 BLET 1746 6 (2011187%])), Interim Provisions on the
Collection of Educational Surcharges (HBUxZ(E ZMHINAEITHLE (2011457])), Notice of the
Ministry of Finance on the Relevant Matters regarding Unifying the Policies on Local Education
Surcharges (H4 B B iR %% — M J7 205 B I BCR A B PR Y9 78 A1), and based on consultation with the
Shandong local taxation bureau, a city maintenance and construction tax (7 per cent.), an educational
surcharge (3 per cent.) and a local educational surcharge (2 per cent.) will be applicable when entities
and individuals are obliged to pay VAT (for an aggregate of 12 per cent. on any VAT payable).
However, there is uncertainty as to whether gains derived from a sale or exchange of Bonds
consummated outside of the PRC between non-PRC resident Bondholders will be subject to PRC
VAT. VAT is unlikely to be applicable to any transfer of Bonds between entities or individuals located
outside of the PRC and therefore unlikely to be applicable to gains realised upon such transfers of
Bonds, but there is uncertainty as to the applicability of VAT if either the seller or buyer of Bonds is
located inside the PRC. Circular 36 together with other laws and regulations pertaining to VAT are
relatively new, the interpretation and enforcement of such laws and regulations involve uncertainties.

However, despite the withholding of the PRC tax by the Guarantor, the Guarantor has agreed to pay

additional amounts to Bondholders so that Bondholders would receive the full amount of the
scheduled payment, as further set out in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — Taxation”.
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No PRC stamp duty will be imposed on non-PRC Bondholders either upon issuance of the Bonds or
upon a subsequent transfer of Bonds to the extent that the register of Bondholders is maintained
outside the PRC and the issuance and the sale of the Bonds is made outside of the PRC.

British Virgin Islands
The Issuer is exempt from all provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance of the British Virgin Islands.

Payments of principal, premium or interest in respect of the Bonds to persons who are not resident in
the British Virgin Islands are not subject to British Virgin Islands tax or withholding tax. Capital
gains realised with respect to the Bonds by persons who are not persons resident in the British Virgin
Islands are also exempt from all provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance of the British Virgin
Islands. No estate, inheritance, succession or gift tax, rate, duty, levy or other charge is payable by
persons who are not resident in the British Virgin Islands with respect to the Bonds.

All instruments relating to transactions in respect of the Bonds are exempt from payment of stamp
duty in the British Virgin Islands. This assumes that the Issuer do not hold an interest in real estate in
the British Virgin Islands.

Hong Kong
Withholding Tax

No withholding tax is payable in Hong Kong in respect of payments of principal or interest on the
Bonds or in respect of any capital gains arising from the sale of the Bonds.

Profits Tax

Hong Kong profits tax is chargeable on every person carrying on a trade, profession or business in
Hong Kong in respect of profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from such trade, profession or
business (excluding profits arising from the sale of capital assets).

Interest on the Bonds may be deemed to be profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from a
trade, profession or business carried on in Hong Kong in the following circumstances:

(i) interest on the Bonds is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a corporation
carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong;

(if) interest on the Bonds is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a per-son,
other than a corporation, carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong and is in
respect of the funds of that trade, profession or business;

(i) interest on the Bonds is received by or accrues to a financial institution (as defined in the
Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112) of Hong Kong (the “IRQO")) and arises through or from
the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong; or

(iv) interest on the Bonds is received by or accrues to a corporation, other than a financial
institution, and arises through or from the carrying on in Hong Kong by the corporation of its
intra-group financing business (within the meaning of section 16(3) of the IRO).

Sums received by or accrued to a financial institution by way of gains or profits arising through or
from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong from the sale, disposal
and redemption of Bonds will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax. Sums received by or accrued to a
corporation, other than a financial institution, by way of gains or profits arising through or from the
carrying on in Hong Kong by the corporation of its intra-group financing business (within the
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meaning of section 16(3) of the IRO) from the sale, disposal or other redemption of Bonds will be
subject to Hong Kong profits tax.

Sums derived from the sale, disposal or redemption of Bonds will be subject to Hong Kong profits
tax where received by or accrued to a person, other than a financial institution, who carries on a
trade, profession or business in Hong Kong and the sum has a Hong Kong source unless otherwise
exempted. The source of such sums will generally be determined by having regard to the manner in
which the Bonds are acquired and disposed of.

In certain circumstances, Hong Kong profits tax exemptions (such as concessionary tax rates) may be
available. Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors to ascertain the applicability of any
exemptions to their individual position.

Stamp Duty

No Hong Kong stamp duty will be chargeable upon the issue or transfer of a Bond (for so long as the
register of Bondholders is maintained outside Hong Kong).

FATCA

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as
FATCA, a “foreign financial institution” may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes
(“foreign passthru payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related
requirements. The Issuer may be a foreign financial institution for these purposes. A number of
jurisdictions have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the
United States to implement FATCA (“1 GAS"), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their
jurisdictions. Under the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign financial institution in an
IGA jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA from payments
that it makes. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments
such as the Bonds, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an
IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Bonds, are uncertain and may be subject to
change. Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to
payments on instruments such as the Bonds, such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January
2019 and Bonds issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final
regulations defining “foreign passthru payments” are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally
would be “grand-fathered” for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such
date. However, if additional bonds (as described under “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — Further
Issues’) that are not distinguishable from previously issued Bonds are issued after the expiration of
the grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may
treat all Bonds, including the Bonds offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering period, as
subject to withholding under FATCA. Bondholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding
how these rules may apply to their investment in the Bonds.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

The Issuer and the Guarantor have entered into a subscription agreement with the Managers dated
8 June 2021 (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which and subject to certain conditions
contained therein, the Issuer has agreed to sell to the Managers, the Guarantor has agreed to
guarantee and the Managers have agreed to, severally but not jointly, subscribe and pay for, or to
procure subscribers to subscribe and pay for, the aggregate principal amount of the Additional Bonds
indicated in the following table:

Principal amount
of the Additional

Bonds to be
subscribed
(U.S$)

Zhongtai International Securities Limited . ........... ... ... . ... . ... ... 25,300,000
Shenwan Hongyuan Securities (H.K.) Limited ......... ... ... ... ....... 100,000,000
Guosen Securities (HK) Brokerage Company Limited ..................... 14,700,000
SDG Securities (HK) Limited . ....... ... . . .. . . . -
Total . 140,000,000

The Subscription Agreement provides that the Issuer and the Guarantor will jointly and severally
indemnify the Managers and their affiliates against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and
sale of the Additional Bonds. The Subscription Agreement provides that the obligations of the
Managers are subject to certain conditions precedent and entitles the Managers to terminate it in
certain circumstances prior to payment being made to the Issuer.

The Managers and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various
activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial
advisory, investment management, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities
(“Banking Services or Transactions’). The Managers and their respective affiliates may have, from
time to time, performed, and may in the future perform, various Banking Services or Transactions
with the Issuer and the Guarantor for which they have received, or will receive, fees and expenses.

In connection with the offering of the Additional Bonds, the Managers and/or their respective
affiliates may place orders, receive allocations and purchase Bonds for their own account (without a
view to distributing such Bonds). Such entities may hold or sell such Bonds or purchase further
Bonds for their own account in the secondary market or deal in any other securities of the Issuer, and
therefore, they may offer or sell the Bonds or other securities otherwise than in connection with the
offering. Accordingly, references herein to the Additional Bonds being offered should be read as
including any offering of the Bonds to the Managers and/or their respective affiliates for their own
account. Such entities are not expected to disclose such transactions or the extent of any such
investment, otherwise than in accordance with any legal or regulatory obligation to do so.
Furthermore, it is possible that only a limited number of investors may subscribe for a significant
proportion of the Additional Bonds. If this is the case, liquidity of trading in the Additional Bonds
may be constrained (see “Risk Factor — Risks relating to the Bonds — An active trading market for the
Bonds may not develop”). The Issuer, the Guarantor and the Managers are under no obligation to
disclose the extent of the distribution of the Additional Bonds amongst individual investors.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Managers and their respective affiliates
make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related
derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for
the accounts of their customers, and may at any time hold long and short positions in such securities
and instruments. Such investment and securities activities may involve securities and instruments of
the Issuer and/or the Guarantor, including the Bonds and could adversely affect the trading prices of
the Bonds. The Managers and their affiliates may make investment recommendations and/or publish
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or express independent research views (positive or negative) in respect of the Bonds or other
financial instruments of the Issuer or the Guarantor, and may recommend to their clients that they
acquire long and/or short positions in the Additional Bonds or other financial instruments.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF THE ADDITIONAL BONDS, THE STABILISING
MANAGER OR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE STABILISING MANAGER
MAY, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAWS AND DIRECTIVES,
OVER-ALLOT THE ADDITIONAL BONDS OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONSWITH A VIEW TO
SUPPORTING THE PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH
MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL, BUT IN SO DOING, THE STABILISING MANAGER OR
ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE STABILISING MANAGER SHALL ACT AS
PRINCIPAL AND NOT AS AGENT OF THE ISSUER. HOWEVER, THERE IS NO
ASSURANCE THAT THE STABILISING MANAGER OR ANY PERSON ACTING ON
BEHALF OF THE STABILISING MANAGER WILL UNDERTAKE STABILISATION ACTION.
ANY LOSS OR PROFIT SUSTAINED AS A CONSEQUENCE OF ANY SUCH
OVERALLOTMENT OR STABILISATION SHALL BE FOR THE ACCOUNT OF THE
MANAGERS.

General

The distribution of this Offering Circular or any offering material and the offering, sale or delivery of
the Additional Bonds is restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Therefore, persons who may come
into possession of this Offering Circular or any offering material are advised to consult with their
own legal advisers as to what restrictions may be applicable to them and to observe such restrictions.
This Offering Circular may not be used for the purpose of an offer or invitation in any circumstances
in which such offer or invitation is not authorised.

No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Issuer or the Managers that would
permit a public offering, or any other offering under circumstances not permitted by applicable law,
of the Additional Bonds, or possession or distribution of this Offering Circular, any amendment or
supplement thereto issued in connection with the proposed resale of the Additional Bonds or any
other offering or publicity material relating to the Additional Bonds, in any country or jurisdiction
where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, the Additional Bonds may not be offered or
sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Offering Circular nor any other offering material or
advertisements in connection with the Additional Bonds and the Guarantee may be distributed or
published, by the lIssuer or the Managers, in or from any country or jurisdiction, except in
circumstances which will result in compliance with all applicable rules and regulations of any such
country or juris-diction and will not impose any obligations on the Issuer or the Managers. If a
jurisdiction re-quires that an offering of Additional Bonds be made by a licensed broker or dealer and
any Manager or any affiliate of the Managers is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, such
offering shall be deemed to be made by such Manager or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such
jurisdiction.

United States

The Additional Bonds and the Guarantee have not been and will not be registered under the
Securities Act and, subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States.
The Additional Bonds and the Guarantee are being offered and sold outside of the United States in
reliance on Regulation S.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of the Additional Bonds and the
Guarantee, an offer or sale of Additional Bonds or Guarantee within the United States by any dealer
(whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the
Securities Act.
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United Kingdom
Each of the Managers has represented, warranted and agreed that:

(@) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to
be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA™)) received
by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Additional Bonds in circumstances in which
Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantor; and

(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the Additional Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the
United Kingdom.

British Virgin Islands

Each of the Managers has represented, warranted and agreed that no invitation has been made or will
be made, directly or indirectly, to any person in the British Virgin Islands or to the public in the
British Virgin Islands to purchase the Additional Bonds and the Additional Bonds are not being
offered or sold and may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the British Virgin Islands,
except as otherwise permitted by the British Virgin Islands laws.

This Offering Circular does not constitute, and there will not be, an offering of the Additional Bonds
to any person in the British Virgin Islands.

Hong Kong
Each of the Managers has represented, warranted and agreed that:

(@) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document,
any Additional Bonds other than (a) to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) and any rules made under the SFO; or
(b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a “prospectus’ as defined
in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong
Kong (the “C(WUMP)O”) or which do not constitute an offer to the public